# GENE EXPRESSION KINETICS AND PROTEIN DISTRIBUTION OF NUCLEOTIDE EXCISION REPAIR FACTORS IN THE INNER EAR AS A FUNCTION OF *cis*-DIAMMINEDICHLOROPLATINUM-II DNA DAMAGE

by

O'neil W. Guthrie

B.S. in Speech and Hearing Science, State University of New York College at Geneseo, 1998

M.S. in Audiology, State University of New York College at Fredonia , 1999

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Health and Rehabilitation Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2006

### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

## HEALTH AND REHABILITATION SCIENCES

This dissertation was presented

by

O'neil W. Guthrie

It was defended on

August 25, 2006

and approved by

Carey Balaban, Ph.D., Professor, Dept. of Otolaryngology

Catherine Palmer, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Dept. of Communication Science and Disorders

John Durrant, Ph.D., Professor, Dept. of Communication Science and Disorders

Sheila Pratt, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Dept. of Communication Science and Disorders

Dissertation Director:

Carey Balaban, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Otolaryngology

Copyright © by O'neil W. Guthrie 2006

# GENE EXPRESSION KINETICS AND PROTEIN DISTRIBUTION OF NUCLEOTIDE EXCISION REPAIR FACTORS IN THE INNER EAR AS A FUNCTION OF *cis*-DIAMMINEDICHLOROPLATINUM-II DNA DAMAGE

O'neil W. Guthrie, Ph.D.

University of Pittsburgh, 2006

The kinetics of the rate-limiting genes of the molecular DNA repair pathways of nucleotide excision repair (NER) were quantified from the inner ear as a function of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum-II (cisplatin) treatment. The distribution of the post-translational products of these genes was evaluated among neurons and sensory hair cells of the inner ear following cisplatin treatment. These NER factors (genes & post-translational products) are only potentiated by DNA damage and are particularly sensitive to cisplatin induced DNA damage. A 2 x 3 x 2 factorial design, consisting of two treatment conditions (saline and cisplatin treated Fischer344 rats), three survival times and two molecular analysis methods (polymerase chain reaction and immunohistochemistry) was employed in this dissertation. The results revealed at least five important findings. First, it revealed for the first time that complex DNA repair molecular pathways such as NER exist in the inner ear. Second, it revealed for the first time that molecules used by advanced tumor cells to detect and repair damaged DNA from cisplatin genotoxicity also generalize to the inner ear and are stimulated by even small sub-toxic doses of Third, it revealed for the first time that NER proteins reside in the cytoplasm of cisplatin. neurons under normal conditions and translocate to the nucleus under conditions of genomic stress. Fourth, it revealed for the first time that the basal coil of the mammalian cochlea differs

from the apical coil in the magnitude and latency in which NER molecules translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus under conditions of genomic stress. **Fifth**, the current work provides the bases for a new line of hearing research focused on molecular mechanisms of inner ear DNA repair.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. CHAPTER I	9
A. HUMAN STUDIES ON CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY	
B. ANIMAL STUDIES ON CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY	15
C. CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY AN INTEGRATIVE VIEW	
1. Chemical Biology of Cisplatin	
2. Intracellular Cisplatin is Labile	
3. Cisplatin Preferentially Binds to Sulfur Bearing Biomolecules Initially	
4. Cisplatin Bound to Sulfur is Redox-active	
5. Summary and Implications for Ototoxic Mechanisms	
6. Cisplatin Alters Ionic homeostasis in the Cochlea	
7. Ionic Mechanisms Can Induce DNA Damage	
8. Cisplatin Mediates ROS Production in the Ear	
9. Cisplatin Induces DNA Damage	47
10. Molecular Pathology of Cisplatin Induced DNA Damage	
11. Repair of Cisplatin Induced DNA Damage	56
D. RELEVANCE OF NER TO CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY	60
1. Specific Aims	
III. CHAPTER II	69
A. SUBJECTS	69
B. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	70
C. PROTOCOL FOR AIM 1	74
1. Data Analysis for Aim 1	76
D. PROTOCOL AND DATA ANALYSIS FOR AIMS 2 AND 3	77
IV. CHAPTER III	79
A. RESULTS FOR AIM 1	81
B. RESULTS FOR AIM 2	87
C. RESULTS FROM AIM 3	88
V. CHAPTER IV	
APPENDIX	100
BIBLIOGRAPHY	103

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Summary of Human Studies on Cisplatin Ototoxicity.	. 11
Table 2. Summary of Animal Studies on Cisplatin Ototoxicity.	. 16
Table 3: Cisplatin Treatment Regimen	. 74
Table 4: Gene-specific primers for PCR of xpc, xpa and 18S rRNA genes	. 76
Table 5: mean ABR difference between groups	. 80
Table 6: mean OAE difference between groups	. 80
Table 7: Results of Six two-way ANOVAs for XPC.	. 89
Table 8: Results of Six two-way ANOVAs for XPA.	. 91

#### LIST OF FIGURES

- platinum bound to sulfur (PtS) creates a redox-active complex that enhances electron (e) transfer between a nucleophile ( $\delta$ ) and an electrophile (Ag<sup>2+</sup>). This redox-activity reduces  $Ag^{2+}$  to  $Ag^{\circ}$  which chelates PtS and is revealed as black silver spheres under the electron or light microscope. B. Photomicrograph of kidney tissue from a Sprague-Dawley rat treated with 13 mg/kg, i.p. of cisplatin. Black silver spheres are present at an intermediate depth within the renal cortex of the kidney. Note the prominent black silver spheres deposited in the nuclei of the proximal tubule cells and lack of deposits within the renal corpuscle. This pattern of deposition was restricted to the middle third of the cortex. The nuclear localization is consistent with the known formation of cisplatin-DNA adducts. The localization of binding to proximal tubule cells in the middle third of the cortex suggest a selective affinity of these cells for cisplatin, which is consistent with the selective damage to proximal tubule cells after cisplatin treatment. C. The same region of the kidney developed Figure 5: An integrative view of the molecular mechanisms that underlie cisplatin ototoxicity. Before entering the cell cisplatin may interact directly with the plasma membrane and ion channels (see text for details). Such, interactions disrupts ionic homeostasis. Cisplatin easily crosses the plasma membrane both by passive diffusion and active transport (see text for details). Once inside the cell cisplatin targets a wide variety of biomolecules and intracellular organelles (see text for details). Mitochondria is a consistent intracellular target. Cisplatin disrupts the mitochondria membrane potential, initiates the mitochondria apoptosis pathways and reduce the level of ATP available for ion pumps. ATP-dependent ion pumps such as Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase and Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase are specifically disrupted. Depletion of ATP for the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase results in excessive influx of calcium (Ca) which intreases intracellular levels to dangerous micromolar levels. High levels of Ca initiates various negative signaling cascades that lead to DNA damage (see text for details). Depletion of ATP for the Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase results in excessive influx of sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>) and chloride (Cl<sup>-</sup>) and efflux of potassium ( $K^+$ ) (see text for details). Excess Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> promotes DNA damage in the form of strand breaks. Intracellular cisplatin is redox-active and easily promotes ROS (see text for details). ROS targets and damage DNA. Cisplatin also targets DNA directly (see text for details). Abbreviations; Pt, cisplatin; AIF, apoptosis inducing factor; endoG, endonuclease G; APAF-1, apoptosis activating factor; DFF, DNA Figure 6: Cisplatin may alter ionic homeostasis by interacting with the plasma membrane. A. Enzymes and ion channels regulate passage across the lipid bilayer of substrates (s) and ions
  - (i) respectively. B. Cisplatin binds to phospholipids via charge-charge interactions and may facilitate the binding of other cisplatin molecules. The accumulation of cisplatin molecules on the lipid bilayer results in altered fluidity, permeability (efflux/influx of small molecules)

- Figure 9: Complex interaction of cisplatin with the cell membrane and routes of influx and efflux. 1. membrane protein with disulfide bridge attracts cisplatin. 2. cisplatin bound to phospholipids. 3. cisplatin may enter the cell via passive diffusion. 4. cisplatin may enter the cell via passive diffusion through channel proteins. 5. cisplatin may enter the cell by transferin & transferring receptor or facilitated diffusion by carrier proteins (energy independent transport). 6. cisplatin may enter the cell via energy dependent transport by carrier proteins. 7. cerulopasmin bound cisplatin, copper transporter 1 (CTR1) & cell surface reductase (CSR) facilitates the transport of cisplatin into the cell. 8. multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1) or glutathione S-conjugated export pump (member ABC superfamily) facilitates the efflux of cisplatin. 9. multidrug resistance protein 2 (MRP2) aka canalicular multispecific organic anion transporter (cMOAT) facilitates the efflux of cisplatin. 10. *trans*-Golgi export system facilitates the efflux of cisplatin. 46

Figure 11: Molecular hijacking and repair shielding. High mobility group (HMG) protein(s) exhibit higher binding affinity for cisplatin DNA adduct (X) than the promoter binding sites which disrupts transcription. Additionally, the binding of HMG protein to cisplatin DNA adduct may shield the adduct from DNA repair factors. 54

Figure 12: Molecular pathway of global-genomic nucleotide excision repair. See text for details.
59
Figure 13: Cumulative XPC gene expression level for saline and cisplatin treated groups. Each bar represents mean ± S.E.
83
Figure 14: XPC gene expression level for saline and cisplatin treated groups. Each bar

Figure 17: Intracellular distribution of the XPC protein in cochlear neurons (spiral ganglion cells). A: Immunoreactivity is absent when anti-XPC antibody is omited (negative control) during immunohistochemistry (Bar = 50  $\mu$ m). B: High magnification (100x oil immersion objective) of a selected region of A (Bar = 10  $\mu$ m). C, Schematic description of cellular

appearance with negative immunoreactivity. D: XPC is present in spiral ganglion neurons under normal conditions (control). E: High magnification of a selected region of D reveals XPC- immunoreactivity in the cytoplasm of normal spiral ganglion neurons. F: Schematic description of cellular appearance with cytoplasmic immunoreactivity. G: XPC is present in spiral ganglion neurons after cisplatin treatment (experimental condition). H: High magnification of a selected region of G reveals prominent XPC-immunoreactivity in the nucleus of spiral ganglion cells. I: Schematic description of cellular appearance with nuclear immunoreactivity.

Figure 18: Representative distribution of XPC and XPA proteins among cells of the organ of Corti after cisplatin treatment cycles (days 5 and 19) and four days after the last treatment cycle (day 22). Both proteins were expressed among supporting cells and hair cells. Outer hair cells (OHC, see arrows) showed prominent immunoreactivity. A: Schematic representation of the organ of Corti showing hair cells. B: Immunoreactivity is absent when anti-XPC or anti-XPA antibody is omited (negative control) during immunohistochemistry. C-E: XPC is present among OHCs at all turns of the cochlea. F-H: XPA is present among OHCs at all turns of the cochlea. Bars = 10 μm.

#### PREFACE

Research on cisplatin ototoxicity has revealed that various inner ear epithelia are largely resistant to cisplatin chemotherapy. For instance, the vestibular epithelia are mostly unaffected and the nonsensory epithelia of the cochlea survive cisplatin treatment. Tumor biology has revealed that complex DNA repair mechanisms contribute to cell survival after cisplatin treatment. Nucleotide excision repair (NER) is the major defense strategy by which cisplatinresistant tumor cells identify and repair cisplatin induced DNA damage. This suggests, that the inner ear also may use NER as a defense strategy. Gene expression kinetics of the rate-limiting genes of global genomic NER were studied as a function of chronic cisplatin chemotherapy to test this possibility. The specific genes studied were xeroderma pigmentosum (XP) c and a. These genes are only up-regulated in the presence of DNA damage and cisplatin DNA damage is a particularly potent stimulus for their up-regulation. The results revealed statistically significant up-regulation in gene expression for both xpc and xpa after cisplatin treatment. This work is significant to hearing research for at least three reasons. First, it reveals for the first time that complex DNA repair molecular pathways such as NER respond to DNA injury in the ear. The NER reaction pathway was originally considered to be a means by which organisms removed damaged DNA induced by sun-light (UV radiation). The ear is embedded in the temporal bone shielded from sun-light but the results suggest that the ear has conserved the NER molecular pathway. Second, it reveals for the first time that molecules used by advanced tumor cells to detect and repair damaged DNA are normally functional in the ear. Tumor cells that are hard to kill use *xpc* and *xpa* to repair damaged DNA and survive cisplatin antineoplatic therapy. Small (sub-toxic) doses of cisplatin were enough to significantly up-regulate xpc and xpa in the ear. This suggests, that both genes are highly sensitive to the level of DNA damage in the inner ear.

**Third,** it provides the bases of a new line of hearing research focused on molecular mechanisms of inner ear DNA repair.

DNA repair may not be equally distributed among cells of the inner ear. For instance, although vestibular abnormalities are rare, high frequency hearing loss is characteristic of cisplatin chemotherapy. Experiments have revealed that the neurosensory epithelium of the cochlea is highly susceptible to cisplatin toxicity. Recent research has revealed the presence of cisplatin DNA adducts among the various cell types in the cochlea. The nonsensory epithelia survive cisplatin toxicity while the neurosensory epithelia suffer the most damage. DNA repair biology indicates that terminally differentiated cells (e.g., neurons) are less proficient at NER than non-terminally differentiated cells. The cells of the nonsensory cochlear epithelia are able to engage in spontaneous mitosis as well as damage induced mitosis, therefore they are nonterminally differentiated. Hair cells and neurons of the cochlear neurosensory epithelium are unable to undergo mitosis or change there phenotype and are considered terminally differentiated. Therefore, cochlear hair cells and neurons may be deficient in NER and thus susceptible to cisplatin DNA damage. Protein expression of XPC and XPA were assessed in the cochlea after cisplatin treatment to test this possibility. The results revealed that cochlear hair cells and neurons expressed both XPC and XPA. This work is significant for at least three reasons. First, it may serve as the bases for a paradigm-shift in DNA repair pathobiology. The notion that terminally differentiated cells, such as neurons are deficient in NER is based on a number of excellent *in vitro* experiments. The present *in vivo* work in the mammalian inner ear revealed that XPC and XPA are expressed competently among cochlear hair cells and neurons under normal conditions and when antagonized by cisplatin treatment. This motivates a new line of research aimed at further understanding the significance of NER among cochlear hair cells

and neurons. **Second,** it revealed that although neurons competently express NER proteins, these proteins reside in the cytoplasm under normal conditions and translocate to the nucleus under conditions of genomic stress. This is the first demonstration of cytoplasmic to nuclear translocation of the rate-limiting factors of NER. This translocation phenomenon is characteristic of neurons and not hair cell. **Third**, NER may not fully account for all cell-type vulnerabilities (e.g., basal vs. apical hair cells) to cisplatin ototoxicity. As reviewed in detail in Chapter I, the chemical biology of cisplatin is complex and cell damage may occur from a variety of biomolecular interactions. It is unlikely that one specific molecular pathway (e.g, DNA repair) completely accounts for cisplatin ototoxicity. Molecular mechanisms such as free radical promotion and altered ionic homeostasis also are involved.

The end result of cisplatin ototoxicity is cell death, however, not all cochlear cells show the same degree of susceptibility to cisplatin. For instance the apical outer hair cells (OHCs) and neurons are more resistant than basal OHCs and neurons. Indeed, histopathological studies of human temporal bones and animal specimens reveal a base-to-apex pattern of OHC and neural loss, where the basal OHCs and neurons suffer the greatest damage. Recent research has shown that the basal OHCs are less proficient at glutathione expression compared to the apical OHCs. This is important because glutathione determines cellular availability of sylfhydryls (sulfur) which are needed for DNA repair. Indeed, cancer research has shown that depleted glutathione results in reduced NER capacity. Therefore, NER might be deficient among basal OHCs and neurons compared to apical OHCs and neurons. The expression of the rate-limiting proteins of NER (XPC & XPA) was evaluated in the cochlea to test this possibility. The results revealed two important findings. **First**, the results showed that OHCs at the base and apical turns of the cochlea were competent in XPC and XPA expression. This result is relevant because it suggests that the difference in succeptability between basal and apical OHCs to cisplatin toxicity may not be due to differences in DNA repair molecular pathways. **Second**, the results showed that spiral ganglion neurons at the basal and apical coils of the cochlea exhibited a difference in XPC and XPA protein expression following cisplatin intoxication. There was a magnitude and latency difference between the basal and apical spiral ganglion cells where basal cells responded later and with less magnitude than apical cells. This difference in latency and magnitude may account for the difference in susceptibility between neurons at the base compared to those at the apex.

## I. INTRODUCTION

Cisplatin is an effective anticancer xenobiotic. It is one of the three most widely used chemotherapeutic agents in the world and commands annual U. S. sales of \$500 million (Gordon & Hollander, 1993; Weiss & Christian, 1993). It has become a primary agent in the treatment of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, testicular cancer, small cell lung cancer, ovarian cancer and a variety of childhood neoplasms (Giaccone, 2000). Antineoplastic activity increases with increasing cisplatin dosage. Unfortunately, nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity are dose limiting side effects. Nephrotoxicity can be controlled through hydration therapy but ototoxicity remains a challenge. Cisplatin chemotherapy leads to permanent bilateral high frequency sensorineural hearing loss and tinnitus. The reader is referred to the Appendix for a definition of potentially unfamiliar terms used throughout this text.

The audiometric frequencies that are most affected are ≥ 1 kHz and speech recognition is impaired (Forastiere, Takasugi, Baker, Wolf & Kudla-Hatch, 1987; van der Hulst, Dreschler & Urbanus, 1988). The degree of sensorineural hearing loss that results from cisplatin chemotherapy ranges from 40-90 dB HL (Myers, Blakley, Schwan, Rintelmann & Mathog, 1991; Kopelman, Budnick, Sessions, Kramer &Wong, 1988). The slope of the hearing loss increases by 45 dB per octave with increasing dosage (Brock et al., 1990). The reported clinical incidence of cisplatin induced hearing loss varies due to confounding variables such as, influence of other medications, age, general health of patients, prior noise exposure, pre-existing hearing

1

loss, cumulative dose (Pollera et al, 1988; Schweitzer, 1993a) and the methods used to determine ototoxicity (e.g., conventional audiometry, high frequency audiometry, otoacoustic emission, auditory brainstem response and acoustic reflex threshold). Therefore, the incidence estimates range from 20 to 90% for adults and 40 to 100% for children (Gratton, 1990; McHaney, Thibadoux, Hayes & Green, 1983; Schell et al, 1989; Weatherly, Owens, Catlin & Mahoney, 1991; Park, 1996).

The onset of hearing loss may occur as soon as 48 hours post-treatment or may be delayed (e.g., 4 days post treatment) and clinical recovery shows no consistent pattern (Aguilar-Markulis, Beckley, Priore and Mettlin, 1981; Pollera, et al, 1988). The vestibular system appears to be resistant to permanent damage from cisplatin treatment. There is significant variability in audiologic results among cisplatin treated patients. Generalizing results beyond the sample of patients selected for a particular study remains a challenge. The development of a sensorineural hearing loss that progresses from high to low frequencies with increasing dosage is consistent and well documented among cisplatin treated patients (Forastiere, Takasugi, Baker, Wolf & Kudla-Hatch, 1987; Van der Hulst, Dreschler & Urbanus, 1988). In order to develop future otoprotective strategies to ameliorate cisplatin induced hearing loss, an understanding of the underlying molecular otopathology is required. The hearing research literature has supported two dominant hypotheses regarding the underlying molecular otopathology of cisplatin. One hypothesis suggests that otopathology is due to cisplatin's reactivity with ion channels that alters ionic homeostasis. The other hypothesis suggests that otopathology is due to cisplatin's reactivity with biomolecules that facilitates the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Both hypotheses have empirical support from basic research, however therapeutic approaches

2

based on these hypotheses have not been successful. This suggests that other reactions are involved and a greater understanding of cisplatin's reactivity is needed.

The reactive site on cisplatin is the transition metal ion, platinum(II). The general coordination chemistry of platinum(II) carries over to the compound cisplatin. For instance, platinum(II) is a Lewis acid class B (soft) metal, which means that it will bind preferentially to sulfur and nitrogen. The cisplatin molecule also binds preferentially to sulfur and nitrogen. This can be demonstrated in tissue after systemic cisplatin treatment and the use of sulfur to titrate cisplatin away from its intracellular binding sites (Guthrie & Balaban, 2004). The sulfur binds with cisplatin to produce a complex that may act as a catalyst and promote electron transfer between nucleophilic and electrophylic molecules. The titration of cisplatin away from its intracellular binding sites reveals that intracellular cisplatin may be low-affinity bound and active. Low-affinity bound transition metals will generate free radicals via the metal mediated Haber-Weiss reaction (Zdolsek, Roberg & Brunk, 1993). Cisplatin treatment is known to generate free radicals *in vivo* (Davis, Nick & Agarwal, 2001). The ability of cisplatin to generate free radicals *in vivo* contributes to its ototoxic effects. The direct binding of cisplatin to biomolecules also may contribute to otoxicity.

The Lewis acid classification (class B) of platinum predicts that it will bind directly to sulfur and nitrogen rich biomolecules. The platinum(II) ion exhibits a kinetic preference for sulfur over nitrogen while the cisplatin molecule exhibits a thermodynamic preference for nitrogen over sulfur. Biochemical research has shown that cisplatin's binding to sulfur bearing biomolecules is unstable and cisplatin bound to sulfur bearing biomolecules do not prevent stable binding to nitrogen rich DNA bases. DNA binding underlie cisplatin cytotoxicity and antineoplasm (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999). In addition to altering ionic homeostasis and

generating ROS, cisplatin induced ototoxicity may results from DNA binding in the cochlea. Recent reseach has revealed significant levels of cisplatin bound to DNA among various cell types in the cochlea after systemic treatment (van Ruijven, de Groot, Hendriksen & Smoorenburg, 2005). This suggests that cisplatin's metabolism from its introduction to the blood stream to its interactions in the cytoplasm prepares it for binding to DNA.

Research on cisplatin metabolism in the blood is limited. The cisplatin molecule is inert but after metabolism in the blood it becomes reactive. Cisplatin may bind to most, if not all plasma proteins through sulfur bonds or nitrogen-termini on amino acids as predicted from its Lewis acid classification (Ivanov et al., 1998). The antineoplastic and cytotoxic activity of cisplatin is independent of whether it is bound or unbound to plasma proteins (Pizzo, Swaim, Roche & Gonias, 1998). Plasma protein binding may determine the rate of tissue distribution and toxicity. Cisplatin easily crosses the blood-labyrinthine barrier but the molecular details of transport are unknown (Gately & Howell, 1993). Further research is needed to better understand the significance of cisplatin's metabolism in the blood and inner ear fluids. Such information may help to explain the heterogeneous distribution of cisplatin DNA adducts in cochlear tissues.

The interaction of cisplatin with the plasma membrane is poorly defined and the mechanisms by which cisplatin enters and leaves the cell are controversial. The level of uptake and the rate of uptake are the net result of a series of binding and releasing from transferring molecules. Cisplatin has its highest affinity for sulfur and nitrogen atoms but it will weakly coordinate with oxygen, phosphates and other anions. Therefore most biomolecules can be targeted. Cisplatin may interact with proteins, peptides, oligosaccharides and cholesterol via electrostatic, covalent and coordination binding. Most of these interactions are temporary and may influence membrane permeability, fluidity, enzymology and channel functioning (Wang,

Lu, Li, 1996). These effects may be amplified and propagated throughout the cell. Cisplatin binds preferentially to sulfur bearing plasma membrane proteins and the levels of such proteins tend to decrease. Binding to any plasma membrane protein could lead to conformational changes and loss of function. The net result is a change in the normal biology of the cell and perfusion of cisplatin across the plasma membrane. Ultimately, cisplatin effectively crosses the plasma membrane and becomes speciated in the cytoplasm which further prepares it for DNA binding.

The majority of research related to the speciation of cisplatin in the cytoplasm has focused on unbound-unspeciated cisplatin (Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). Only about 10% of cisplatin may exist in this form, because once cisplatin enters the blood stream, about 90% is quickly bound to plasma proteins. Protein-bound cisplatin remains cytotoxic and may determine tissue distribution. Very little is known about the fate of these platinum products. Of interest is how specific protein bound cisplatin molecules cross the plasma membrane and become speciated. The fate of these speciated products may provide new information on antineoplasm and side effects of cisplatin treatment. Unbound-unspeciated cisplatin is transformed in the cytoplasm to aqueous platinum species (Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). These aqueous platinum species are potent electrophiles that exbibit high affinity for sulfur and nitrogen rich biomolecules throughout the cytoplasm. There are multiple sites within the cell that are targeted by cisplatin, therefore the interactions with biomolecules are complicated. The most consistent intracellular target for cisplatin is the nitrogen rich DNA bases.

The ultimate target for cisplatin is DNA. Speciation of cisplatin in the cytoplasm prepares it for covalent binding to the N7 of purine DNA bases (Reedijk, 1999). The N7 is a highly nucleophilic site that is known to attract a number of genotoxic xenobiotics. Less attention has

5

been focused on cisplatin's binding to phosphate groups within the DNA. Even though such interactions would be weak, they may contribute to DNA conformational changes. Cisplatin is able to access the major groove of the DNA and bend the helix towards the major groove which increase the minor groove of the DNA molecules (Jamieson and Lippard, 1999). The guanine residues are targeted particularly by cisplatin because of their nucleophilic nature. The structural and chemical alterations of DNA induced by cisplatin are heterogeneous.

Cisplatin DNA adducts induce a variety of structural and chemical alterations to DNA that lead to various consequences. The three most profound consequences are the inhibition of replication, inhibition of transcription and induction of apoptosis. Inhibition of replication may facilitate the death of dividing cells but may not explain the death of non-dividing cells, such as hair cells and neurons. Transcription inhibition (by stalling of RNA polymerase and/or molecular hijacking) is sufficient to initiate cell death among dividing and non-dividing cells. Molecular hijacking also may facilitate the shielding of cisplatin DNA adducts from DNA repair factors which increases the tenure of platinum on the DNA helix leading to cell death. The major cell death process induced by cisplatin is apoptosis.

Human temporal bone studies reveal that cisplatin treatment induces variable damage to the cochlea. A characteristic finding is that basal outer hair cells (OHCs) and neurons are more severely damaged than apical OHCs and neurons. This pattern of damage is consistent with the high frequency sensorineural hearing loss revealed by patients after cisplatin treatment (Strauss et al., 1983). Cisplatin also induces OHC damage in experimental animals. The vestibular epithelium is less vulnerable than the cochlear epithelia and histomorphological studies may reveal normal vestibular epithelia (Schweitzer et al., 1986). There is great variability in the degree and incidence of cell damage, but OHC damage at the base is very consistent. These morphological findings in animal models support the observations of human temporal bone studies (Hinojosa, Riggs, Strauss & Metz, 1995).

Different cell types exhibit varying degrees of vulnerability to cisplatin. For instance, terminally differentiated cells (e.g., hair cells and neurons) are more vulnerable than nonterminally differented cells (e.g., cells of stria vascularis). Additionaly, hair cells at the base of the cochlea are more vulnerable than those at the apex. A possible bassis for these cell-type vulnerabilities is DNA repair capacity. In tumor biology it is known that cells that are vulnerable to cisplatin are deficient in DNA repair while cells that are invulnerable are proficient. The same DNA repair molecules that initiate the repair of cisplatin DNA adducts in tumor cells may be expressed in the inner ear. Cell-type vulnerability in the cochlea may be due to differences in the expression of these DNA repair molecules. In order to assess this possibility a chronic, as opposed to the usual acute cisplatin dosing regimen would be needed. Chronic treatment allows for data collection at multiple time points during treatment before cochlear degeneration. The lack of degeneration of cochlear cells allows for the study of gene and protein expression as a function of cisplatin treatment. In this dissertation, a chronic cisplatin treatment regimen was used, where animals were treated with two cycles of cisplatin. Each cycle consist of four days of treatment (1 mg/kg, i.p., twice daily) separated by 10 days of rest. Standard methods such as real-time reverse-transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction was used to study gene expression and immunohistochemistry was used to reveal protein distribution among cochlear cell types.

The sections below are divided into chapters. Chapter I provides an integrative view of cisplatin ototoxicity by arguing that the two dominant hypotheses regarding cisplatin ototoxicity are consistent with the molecular toxicology of cisplatin. This chapter further reveals that

7

cisplatin directly and indirectly induce DNA damage. It is well known in tumor biology that cisplatin treatment results in DNA damage that leads to cell death. This DNA damage induced cell death is mediated by the tumor's ability to express DNA repair molecules. Therefore, chapter I concludes with three specific aims to assess gene and protein expression of DNA repair molecules that are only activated in the presence of damaged DNA. Chapter II describes the methods used to assess gene and protein expression of DNA repair molecules in the cochlea after cisplatin treatment. These methods are standard techniques to assess gene and protein expression in the cochlea. Chapter III presents the results of gene and protein expression after cisplatin treatment. Chapter IV provides a discussion of the results. The results suggest that cisplatin potentiates the molecular DNA repair pathways of nucleotide excision repair in the cochlea. A glossary is provided at the end as an appendix.

#### **II. CHAPTER I**

Cisplatin is one of the most ototoxic compounds in routine clinical use today (Arslan, Orzan, & Santarelli, 1999; Kalinec, Webster, Lim & Kalinec, 2003). Both human and animal studies have characterized the ototoxic effect of cisplatin chemotherapy (Kohn et al., 1988; Strauss et al., 1983). Human studies typically involve human volunteers and/or human post-mortem temporal bones. Animal studies are predominantly clustered into two types, those that focus on morphological alterations and those that focus on functional alterations as a consequence of cisplatin treatment. The sections below provide a review of both human and animal studies on cisplatin ototoxicity.

#### A. HUMAN STUDIES ON CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY

Table I summarizes human studies related to csiplatin ototoxicity. Studies on cisplatin ototoxicity were conducted on patients with advanced malignancies who are fighting for their lives and hearing assessments are often not a priority. Nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity are the two dose limiting variables to cisplatin chemotherapy, however severe ototoxicity may occur with minimal nephrotoxicity (Pollera et al., 1988). The degree of hearing loss varies widely among cisplatin treated patients (Naggy et al., 1999). The antineoplastic effect of cisplatin is dose dependent but as the treatment dose increases the degree of hearing loss also increases. There is no clear association between the degree of hearing loss and the route of administration (Pollera et al, 1988). The first phase I clinical trials of cisplatin revealed that it induces severe permanent bilateral sensorineural hearing loss (Krakoff & Lippmann, 1974). Hearing loss is predominantly in the high frequencies and may progress to low frequencies with increasing dosage. Speech discrimination is impaired particularly in background noise. Additionally, the relationship between dose and tinnitus is poorly understood. The incidence of tinnitus may range from 2-36% (Schweitzer, 1993b). Cisplatin treatment does not lead to significant functional and morphological vestibular alterations and clinical reports of vestibular dysfunction are rare (Black, Gianna-Poulin & Pesznecker, 2001; Myers, Blakley & Schwan, 1993; Nakayama, Riggs & Matz, 1996; Sergi, Ferraresi, Troiani, Paludetti & Fetoni, 2003; Schweitzer, Rarey, Dolan, Abrams & Sheridan, 1986). Human temporal bone studies reveal that cisplatin treatment induces variable damage to cochlear structures (Cheng et al., 2001; Strauss et al., 1983; Tange, 1987).

# Table 1. Summary of Human Studies on Cisplatin Ototoxicity.

Reference	Malignancy	Treatment	Findings/Comments
Talley et al. (1974)		≥ 15 mg/m2	HEHL & tinnitus
	life expectancy	of cisolatin	first phase I clinical
	6 weeks	for 5 days	trial in the U.S.
Wiltshaw et al. (1974)	ovarian tumors	cisplatin	NHS & tinnitus
			first phase I clinical
			trial in the U.K.
Krakoff et al. (1974)	various tumor types	cisplatin (>4.0 mg/kg)	bilateral HFHL that
			increase with dosage
Ellerby et al. $(1074)$		cisplatin combined with	
			nhase I clinical trial
	Cancers		using combination therapy
			0
	advanced		
Wallace et al. (1974)	cancer	cisplatin & adriamycin	HFHL & tinnitus
			phase I clinical trial
			using combination therapy
Haves et al. (1977)	various cancers	cisplatin (3-5 ma/ka)	HFHL with 90% incidence
		sisplatif (o o flightg)	older patients (54-70) had
			greater loss than younger
			patients (19-39)
Aguilar-Markulis et al. (1981)	genitourinary cancer	cisplatin (1 mg/kg, i.v.)	HFHL increased with
			treatment

Table 1 (continued)

Strauss et al. (1983)	various cancer	cisplatin (130 mg/m2)	sbHFHL with pSDS deg of basal OHC, IHC & SG
Fausti et al. (1984)	genitourinary tumors & head & neck cancer	cisplatin	HFHL developed before LFHL
Forastiere et al. (1987)	squamous cell carcinoma of the head & neck	cisplatin (200 mg/m2)	HFHL
Tang (1987)	ovarian carcinoma	cisplatin (300 mg/m2) bleomycin	HFHL deg of basal OHC disordered cochlear vasculature
van der Hulst et al. (1988)	various cancers	cisplatin (20 mg/m2 or 50 mg/m2) carboplatin (350 mg/m2)	HFHL
Kopelman et al. (1988)	various cancers	cisplatin (150 to 225 mg/m2)	progressive HFHL with 100% incidence, SIN deficit & tinnitus
Pollera et al. (1988)	ovarian cancer	cisplatin (200 mg/m2)	HFHL 48 hrs post treatment with an incidence of 75% and minimal nephrotoxicity
Schell et al. (1989)	various tumors	cisplatin	HFHL, normal renal function
Myers et al. (1991)	various cancers	cisplatin (100 mg/m2)	HFHL
Waters et al. (1991)	ovarian cancer	cisplatin (100 or 50 mg/m2)	progressive HFHL & tinnitus

#### Table 1 (continued)

Hinojosa et al. (1995)	Various cancer	cisplatin (100-250 mg/m2)	OHC btadg
Park (1996)	various tumors	cisplatin (<150 or >650 mg/m2)	HFHL
Hoistad et al. (1998)	various tumors	cisplatin	loss of SG, IHC, OHC & atrophy of Stv
Yardley et al. (1998)	various cancers	cisplatin or carboplatin	abnTEOAE & ePTA after cisplatin treatment
Burris et al. (1998)	tumors of the head, neck trunk, tongue, oral pharynx and esophagus	cisplatin/epinephrine- injectable gel (0.56-380 mg)	NHS
Fausti et al. (1999)	various cancers	cisplatin	94% detection rate of HFHL
Nagy et al. (1999)	esophagus, lung or head & neck cancer	cisplatin (20 mg/m2/4 day, i.v.) radiation therapy	HL
Lauretis et al. (1999)	various cancers	cisplatin (70 mg/m2) or carboplatin (250 mg/m2)	abnHFABR only after cisplatin treatment
Cevette et al. (2000)	various cancers	cisplatin (75 mg/m2)	fDPOAE with NHS & HFHL with pDPOAE
Cheng et al. (2001)		cisplatin	HFHL, damaged; STv, IHC, OHC, SG at the cochlear base
Stavroulaki et al. (2001)	various cancers	cisplatin (50 mg/m2)	HFHL & aDPOAE
Strumberg et al. (2002)	testicular cancers	cisplatin	70% HFHL & 27% nTEOAE 47% aTEOAE

HFHL	High Frequency Hearing Loss	abnTEOAE	Abnormal Transient Evoked Otoacoustic Emissions
NHS	Normal Hearing Sensitivity	ePTA	Elevated Pure Tone Average
LFHL	Low Frequency Hearing Loss	HL	Hearing Loss
SIN	Noise	abnHFABR	Abnormal High Frequency Auditory Brainstem Response
fDPAOE	Fluctuating Distortion Product Otoacoustic Emissions Absent Distortion Product Otoacoustic	pDPAOE	Present Distortion Product Otoacoustic Emissions
aDPOAE	Emissions Absent Transient Evoked Otoacoustic	nTEOAE	Normal Transient Evoked Otoacoustic Emissions
aTEOAE	Emissions Poor Speech Discrimination	sbHFHL	Severe Bilateral High Frequency Hearing Loss
pSDS	Score	deg	Degeneration
OHC	Outer hair cell Spiral	IHC	Inner Hear Cell
SG	Ganglion Base To Apex Damage	Stv	Stria Vascularis
btadg	Gradient		

Table 1 (continued)

#### **B. ANIMAL STUDIES ON CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY**

Table 2 provides a summary of animal studies related to cisplatin ototoxicity. Cisplatin exerts its ototoxic effects mainly on the cochlea. Anatomical preparations reveal that the basal OHCs are the most vulnerable structures in the cochlea while the OHC at the apex are among the least vulnerable. The vestibular epithelium is less vulnerable than the cochlear epithelia and histomorthological studies may reveal normal vestibular structures (Schweitzer et al., 1986). There is great variability in the degree and incidence of cell damage, but OHC loss at the base is very consistent (Cardinaal, de Groot, Huizing, Veldman & Smoorenburg, 2000b; Sergi, Ferraresi, Troiani, Paludetti & Fetoni, 2003). Physiological studies demonstrate that cisplatin inhibits all mechanical and electrophysiological cochlear responses in a dose dependent manner (O'Leary, Klis, de Groot, Hamers & Smoorenburg, 2001). Treatment typically results in high frequency hearing loss. Vestibular function is less affected than cochlear function (Sergi, Ferraresi, Troiani, Paludetti & Fetoni, 2003). Cisplatin cochlear alterations may induce hyperactivity in the cochlear nucleus which may contribute to tinnitus (Rachel, Kaltenbach & Janisse, 2002). Apoptosis is the end result of cisplatin ototoxicity, however, necrosis also may occur with high dosages (Devarajan et al., 2002).

# Table 2. Summary of Animal Studies on Cisplatin Ototoxicity.

References	Animal	Treatment	Findings/Comments
Estrem et al. (1981)	guinea pig (180-360 g)	cisplatin bleomycin	deg of OHC
Nakai et al. (1982b)	guinea pig (400-500 g)	cisplatin (2 mg/kg, i.m.)	mOHC
Kohn et al. (1988)	guinea pig (250-350 g)	cisplatin (4 mg/kg/ 5 days	deg of: MC & IC
		s.c.)	damaged: ER & OHC
Saito et al. (1994)	guinea pig (300-400 g)	cisplatin (15 mg/kg	cisplatin was detected
		or 21 mg/kg, i.m.)	in the kidney but not
			the inner ear using
			X-ray microanalysis &
			ion microscopy
Laurell et al. (1995)	Long-Evans's rat (150-275 g)	cisplatin (8 mg/kg, i.p.)	reduced K concentration
			in the cochlea
Saite et al. (1996)	guinea nig	cisplatin	cisplatin had no offect on
Salo et al. (1990)	guinea pig	01	isolated OHC but
		cisplatin metabolites	cisplatin
			metabolites induced
			significant damage
Stengs et al. (1997)	guinea pig (250-350 g)	cisplatin (1.5 mg/kg/ 8 days, i.p.)	reduced: CM, SP & CAP
Ford et al. (1997)	Wistar rats (250-350 g)	cisplatin (6 µL of 0.54	72 hrs post treatment
		mg/ml, r.w. or 16 mg/kg	result in mOHC & mIHC.
		i.p.)	5 fold up-regulation of
			adenosine receptors after

Table 2 (continued)

#### 24 hrs post treatment.

Stengs et al. (1998a)	guinea pig (250-350 g)	cisplatin (0.7-2.0 mg/kg/ 8 days, i.p.)	reduced: CM, SP & CAP
Janning et al. (1998)	chinchillas (450-700 g)	cisplatin (25 μl of 0.25 mg/ 1.0 ml saline, r.w.)	damaged HC
Meech et al. (1998)	Wistar rats (250-400 g)	cisplatin (16 mg/kg)	strial edema
Sie et al. (1999)	gerbils	cisplatin (1 mg/kg/ 4 days, i.p.)	reduced DPOAE
Tampakopoulou et al. (1999)	gerbils	cisplatin (5 mg/kg)	increased ABR & DPOAE thresholds
Cardinaal et al. (2000a)	guinea pig (250-350 g)	cisplatin (0.7-1.5 mg/kg/ 8 days, i.p.)	atrophy of stria vacuolation of RM
Cardinaal et al. (2000b)	guinea pig (250-350 g)	cisplatin (1.5 mg/kg/ 8 dats, i.p.)	damaged OC
Tsukasaki et al. (2000)	chinchillas (500-700 g)	cisplatin (5µl (1 mg/ml) in saline), r.w.	reduced: EP & CM
Ekborn et al. (2000)	guinea pig	cisplatin (8 mg/kg, i.v.)	ABR threshold shift
Alam et al. (2000)	gerbils	cisplatin (4 mg/kg/5 days, i.p.)	deDPOAE & EP poTUNEL in OC
O'Leary et al. (2001)	guinea pig	cisplatin (3, 30 or 300 μg/ml in saline)	reduced: CAP, CM & EP

Table 2 (continued)

Klis et al. (2002)	guinea pig	cisplatin (1.5 or 2.0 mg/ kg, i.p.)	reduced CAP
Rachel et al. (2002)	hamster	cisplatin (15, 11.25 &	increases spontaneous
	(45-55 days old)	7.5 mg/kg/5 days, i.p.)	activity in DCN
Hatzopoulos et al. (2002)	Sprague Dawley rat (210 ± 30	cisplatin (16 mg/kg, i.p.)	elevated ABR & TEOAE
	g)		thresholds
Sluyter et al. (2003)	guinea pig (250-350 g)	cisplatin (1.5 mg/kg/	shrinkage of Stv that
		5-18 days, i.p.)	did not correlate with
			redunction of EP
Sergi et al. (2003)	guinea pig (250-300 g)	cisplatin (2.5 mg/kg/ 6 days,	impaired VVOR & slight
		i.p.)	loss of HC of crista
			ampullaris & macula. Massive OHC loss & CAP
			threshold shift
Wang et al. (2003)	guinea pig (250-300 g)	cisplatin (2 mg/kg/5 days, r.w.)	damaged OC
Ekborn et al. (2003)	guinea pig	cisplatin (4.24 mg/kg, i.v.)	MHC = moderate ABR
		or cisplatin MHC	threshold shift
		(4 or 8 mg/kg, i.v.)	cisplatin = no ABR
			threshold shift
OHC	Outer Hair Cell	ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
mOHC	Missing Outer Hair Cell	К	Potassium
deg	degeneration	CM	Cochlear Microphonic
MC	Marginal Cell	SP	Summating Potential
IC		CAP	Compound Action Potential
r.w.	round window	S.C.	subcutaneous

Table 2 (continued)

i.p.	intraperitoneal	mIHC	Missing Inner Hair Cell
ABR	Auditory Brainstem Response	EP	Endolymphatic Potential
RM	Reissner's Membrane	OC	Organ of Corti
DPOAE	Distortion Product Otoacoustic Emissions	MHC	Mono-Hydrated Complex
DCN	Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus		
deDPOAE	Decreased Distortion Product Otoacoustic Emissions Positive Terminal Deoxynucleotidyl Transferase dUTP-biotin Nick End		
poTUNEL	Labeling		
Stv	Stria Vascularis		
VVOR	Vertical Vestibular Ocular Reflex		
HC	Hair Cell		

#### C. CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY AN INTEGRATIVE VIEW

This section provides an integrated overview of the two dominant mechanisms that are believed to underlie cisplatin ototoxicity by revealing that each compliments the other. A review of the pharmacokinetics of cisplatin reveals that after systemic treatment the cisplatin molecule exhibits high binding affinity for sulfur, is labile and redox-active within the cell. The high affinity for sulfur suggests that the cisplatin molecule will interact with many biomolecules containing cysteine and methionine residues. Cisplatin's first biomolecular interactions at the level of the cell, occur on the plasma membrane. Ionic homeostasis can be disrupted by binding of cisplatin to ion channels in the plasma membrane. Altering ionic homeostasis is one of the two dominant mechanisms of cisplatin ototoxicity. The lability and redox-activity of cisplatin ototoxicity. Alterations to ionic homeostasis and ROS production each result in DNA damage and cisplatin also may directly damage DNA. From the initial systemic treatment, cisplatin's interactions in the blood stream to its associations with plasma membrane and cytoplasmic proteins prepare it for binding to DNA.

#### 1. Chemical Biology of Cisplatin

Cisplatin (cis-Diamminedichloroplatinum-II) was first synthesized in 1845 and known for decades as Peyrone's chloride. Since the discovery of its biological activity in the 1960's, it has become one of the most important inorganic compounds in human medicine today. The biological activity of cisplatin was first demonstrated during experiments to evaluate the effects of electricity on the growth of prokaryotic cells (Rosenberg, van Camp & Krigas, 1965). The investigators transferred alternating current through Escherichia coli positioned between two platinum electrodes in a solution of ammonium chloride. The results showed that cell division was altered even without applying alternating current. The researchers fortuitously discovered that the combination of the platinum electrodes with ammonium chloride inhibited cell division but not cell growth and induced filamentous growths up to 300 times the length of a normal cell. This new discovery propelled investigations into the antitumor capacity of various platinum coordination complexes (Rosenberg, van Camp, Trosko and Mansour, 1969). Cisplatin was shown to be the most successful anticancer platinum complex in pre-clinical experiments by inhibiting sarcoma 180, leukemia L1210, Dunning ascetic leukemia, Walker 256 carcinosarcoma and methylbenzanthracene-induced mammary carcinoma (Kociba, Sleight & Rosenberg, 1970; Rosenberg, van Camp, Trosko& Mansour, 1969; Welch, 1971).

The core of the cisplatin molecule and the site of reactivity is the metal ion platinum(II) which facilitates a *cis*-geometry between diammine  $[(NH_3)_2]$  and dichloride (Cl<sub>2</sub>) ligands (see Figure 1). The basic coordination chemistry of platinum(II) may predict some biological

21



Figure 1: Chemical structure of cisplatin [cis-{(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>II</sup>Cl<sub>2</sub>}].

reactions of cisplatin. Platinum(II) is a soft (class B) Lewis acid metal and its ligand binding activities are best described by the Hard-Soft-Acid-Base (HSAB) principle. The HSAB principle states that, soft acids (SA) prefer soft bases (SB) and hard acids (HA) prefer hard bases (HB). In equation form the HSAB principle predicts that the following reaction will move to the right.

$$HA[SB] + SA[HB] \rightarrow HA[HB] + [SB]SA$$
(1)

The distinction between hard acids/bases and soft acids/bases is related to parameters such as  $\sigma_p$  (softness parameter), ionic radius, ionic charge and Pauling electronegativity (Newman, McCloskey & Tatara, 1998; Wulfsberg, 2000). The degree of the interaction between metals and
biomolecules (lipids, proteins, enzymes, DNA, RNA) is dependent on the hardness/softness of the metal (Delnomdedieu & Allis, 1993).

The HSAB principle has been used to predict intracellular ligand binding for various metals. Practitioners in the fields of ecotoxicology and environmental safety often assess the level of metal pollution in a particular environment by sampling the soil and/or water for metal levels. They also may study metal uptake and distribution in tissues and cells of invertebrate organisms in the environment (Soto & Marigomez, 1997; Vandenbulcke, Grelle, Fabre & Descamps, 1998; van Straalen, 1993). Decades of such work has revealed that certain metals bind stably and preferentially to certain intracellular ligands. These observations have lead to the development of a biologically relevant metal classification system based on HSAB principles (Duffus, 2002; Hopkin, 1989; Nieboer & Richardson, 1980; Wolterbreek & Verburg, 2001). For instance, metals that preferentially bind oxygen (O) on biomolecules are considered class A metals or hard acids by HSAB principle. Metals that preferentially bind sulfur (S) and nitrogen (N) on biomolecules are considered class B metals or soft acids by HSAB principle. Those that preferentially bind O, S, and N are considered borderline. Platinum(II) belongs to the class B (soft acids) metals that bind preferentially with S and N (Deubel, 2004). This ligand binding activity of platinum(II) carries over to intracellular cisplatin molecules after systemic treatment as revealed by the following reaction in tissue (Guthrie & Balaban, 2004);

$$Pt-ligand + S^{2-} \rightarrow PtS + apo-ligand$$
(2)

where, platinum (Pt) bound to an intracellular ligand (e.g., protein) is titrated by S (a soft base) to form a redox-active (catalytic) platinum-sulfide (PtS) product. The redox-activity of PtS can be

demonstrated intracellularly by autometallographic development in a light insensitive physical developer (see Figure 2 & see discussion below). These results suggest that after systemic treatment intracellular cisplatin is labile, binds preferentially to sulfur bearing biomolecules and redox-active.



**Figure 2**: Platinum-sulfide autometallography (PtS<sup>AMG</sup>). **A**. Schematic of PtS<sup>AMG</sup>, where platinum bound to sulfur (PtS) creates a redox-active complex that enhances electron (e<sup>-</sup>) transfer between a nucleophile ( $\delta^{-}$ ) and an electrophile (Ag<sup>2+</sup>). This redox-activity reduces Ag<sup>2+</sup> to Ag<sup>°</sup> which chelates PtS and is revealed as black silver spheres under the electron or light microscope. **B**. Photomicrograph of kidney tissue from a Sprague-Dawley rat treated with 13 mg/kg, i.p. of cisplatin. Black silver spheres are present at an intermediate depth within the renal cortex of the kidney. Note the prominent black silver spheres deposited in the nuclei of the proximal tubule cells and lack of deposits within the renal corpuscle. This pattern of deposition was restricted to the middle third of the cortex. The nuclear localization is consistent with the known formation of cisplatin-DNA adducts. The localization of binding to proximal tubule cells in the middle third of the cortex suggest a selective affinity of these cells for cisplatin, which is consistent with the selective damage to proximal tubule cells after cisplatin treatment. **C**. The same region of the kidney developed by autometallography from a control Sprague-Dawley rat.

# 2. Intracellular Cisplatin is Labile

Reaction (2) only can occur for low-affinity (loosely) bound metals in tissue (Zdolsek, Roberg & Brunk, 1993), which suggests that cisplatin bound to some biomolecules is still labile. Biochemical experiments have shown that cisplatin exhibits low-affinity binding with thioether sulphur (e.g., methionine) which can be disturbed by competing S bearing molecules (Esposito & Najjar, 2002; Lempers & Reedijk, 1990). These findings are particularly important because labile Lewis acid metals promote the generation of ROS (Zdolsek, Roberg & Brunk, 1993). Cisplatin treatment is known to generate the superoxide anion radical  $(O_2^{-})$  in the ear and kidney (Davis, Nick & Agarwal, 2001; Dehne, Lautermann, Petrat, Rauen & de Groot, 2001). In order for dioxygen ( $O_2$ ) to be metabolized to  $O_2^{-}$ , it would need to acquire an electron (e<sup>-</sup>). This acquisition known as an electron reduction may be achieved by input energy (e.g., sunlight) or a chemical reducer (Welch, Davis, van Eden & Aust, 2002). It is often thought that in cells, biomolecules may serve as chemical reducers for O2. However, ground state O2 is a triplet molecule and its reaction with biomolecules (most of which have a singlet ground state) is physiologically insignificant (Miller, Buetter & Aust, 1990). For instance, although the reaction between O<sub>2</sub> and a biomolecule may be thermodynamically favored, there is a kinetic restriction of  $O_2$  that inhibits its metabolism to  $O_2^{-}$  in the absence of a catalyst (Miller, Buetter & Aust, 1990). Class B Lewis Acid metals are effective catalysts for the metabolism of O<sub>2</sub> to O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>. Soft Lewis acid metals such as platinum(II) may exist in several spin states and will lift the spin restriction on O2 which then promotes radical formation. For instance, both O2 and a biomolecule may coordinate to the *d*-orbital of a soft Lewis acid metal (Valentine, 1973). Here, the metal  $(M^{n+})$  acts as a redox-active bridge between  $O_2$  and the biomolecule (L) which

facilitates the transfer of an  $e^-$  to generate the O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> but may gain an  $e^-$  to generate O<sub>2</sub> (Buetter, 1988; Khan & Martell, 1967).

$$O_2 + L - M^{n+} \stackrel{e}{\longleftarrow} L - M^{n+1} + O_2^{-}$$
(3)

The generation of  $O_2$ .<sup>•</sup> facilitates the well known metal mediated Haber-Weiss reaction (see reactions 4-6) which produces the potent hydroxyl radical (HO<sup>•</sup>) that damages biomolecules, such as proteins and DNA via autoxidation (see reaction 7). Cisplatin treatment is known to generate the HO<sup>•</sup> in ear and kidney tissues (Baliga, Zhang, Baliga, Ueda & Shah, 1998; Clerici, Hensley, DiMartino & Butterfield, 1996).

$$L-M^{n+1} + O_2^{-} \longrightarrow O_2 + L-M^{n+}$$
(4)

$$L-M^{n+} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow L-M^{n+1} + HO^- + HO^-$$
(5)

combined

$$O_2^{-} + H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{L-M^{n+1}/L-M^{n+1}} O_2 + HO^{-} + HO^{-}$$
 (6)

in vivo consequence

$$HO' + protein/DNA \longrightarrow damaged-protein/DNA$$
(7)

In summary, after systemic treatment intracellular cisplatin is labile. The core of the cisplatin molecule and the site of reactivity is the metal ion platinum(II). Platinum(II) is a class B Lewis acid metal. Such metals are highly destructive to organic polymers and easily generates ROS in biological mileu. Systemic cisplatin treatment results in the generation of lethal ROS

such as  $O_2^{-}$  and HO in the kidney and ear. These ROS are particularly toxic to DNA and other organic polymers.

## 3. Cisplatin Preferentially Binds to Sulfur Bearing Biomolecules Initially

Similar to all class B (soft) Lewis acid metals, cisplatin binds preferentially and covalently to available S bearing biomolecules. This is particularly important because many proteins use S and disulfide bonds (-S-S-) to maintain their conformation/function (Ivanov et al., 1998). Cisplatin's first encounter with biomolecules in general and S-bearing biomolecules in particular occurs in the blood stream.

Cisplatin is usually administered intravenously at doses of 20 mg/m<sup>2</sup> per day for 5 days or 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> once every four weeks. In the blood, cisplatin may exist as protein bound (~90%) or unbound (~10%) (Schweitzer, 1993a). Rapid protein binding occurs soon after administration and the high chloride concentration in serum maintains the remaining cisplatin in the unbound state (Nitiss, 2002; Siddik, Newell, Boxall & Harrap, 1987). After intravenous administration in humans, the elimination kinetics are biphasic with half-lives ( $t_{1/2}\alpha$ ) of 23-50 minutes and 24-73 hours ( $t_{1/2}\beta$ ) for cisplatin bound to plasma proteins (Gullo et al., 1980). Unbound cisplatin has a significantly shorter half-life of 21.7-23.6 minutes. Different studies may reveal different times which reflect differences in methods and experimental design. The significance of protein bound vs. unbound cisplatin in terms of antineoplasm and/or toxicity is unresolved. It was previously thought that only unbound cisplatin had antineoplastic activities (Patton et al., 1978). Later research demonstrated that administration of even preformed protein-bound cisplatin was

therapeutically active and cytotoxic (Holding et al., 1992; Hoshino et al., 1995; Vreeburg, Stell, Holding & Lindup, 1992). Protein bound cisplatin results in significantly less urinary secretion and more tissue absorption which may facilitate better therapeutic outcomes as well as increased side effects (Gullo et al., 1980).

When cisplatin enters the blood it reacts readily with S and N rich domains on plasma proteins as predicted from its Lewis acid metal classification (see section C.1.). Albumin is considered the major substrate for cisplatin binding in the blood and is the most studied plasma protein. Human serum albumin (66 kDa) exhibits 17 disulfide bridges (-S-S-) and one free thiol (S) at Cys34 which has high affinity for class B (soft) Lewis acid metals (Esposito & Najjar, 2002; Ivanov et al., 1998). Cisplatin's interaction with albumin is complex and may yield various products such as bifunctional binding to S and N, monofunctional binding to one S and a monofunctional binding with S that expels one amine (NH<sub>3</sub>) from cisplatin (Ivanov et al., 1998). Additionally, a *trans* configuration may be achieved where cisplatin cross-links two albumin molecules (Ivanov et al., 1998).

Unbound-unspeciated cisplatin is rapidly speciated in the cytoplasm (see Figure 3). Outside the cell the relatively high chloride concentration (~100 mM) is believed to maintain cisplatin in its native form [*cis*-{(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>II</sup>Cl<sub>2</sub>}] (Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). Substitution reactions also may occur outside the cell, where the chloride on cisplatin is replaced by endogenous chloride ions, but the structure remains unchanged. Inside the cell, the relatively low chloride concentration (~4 mM) is believed to facilitate the replacement of one chloride then a second chloride for endogenous anions, which results in [*cis*-{(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>II</sup>Cl(R)}<sup>+</sup>] and [*cis*-{(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>II</sup>(R)<sub>2</sub>}<sup>2+</sup>] species, where R may be various types of small ions or molecules (Lippard, 1982). These charged platinum species are potent electrophiles that are ready to react with

proteins, nucleic acids, lipids, enzymes and various organelles in the cell. The toxicity of cisplatin is based predominantly on these charged species, particularly [*cis*-

 ${(H_3N)_2Pt^{II}Cl(H_2O)}^+$ ], where a chloride ion is replaced by a water molecule. This species is called a monohydrate complex. Administration of the monohydrate complex, results in more hearing loss and systemic toxicity than the unspeciated form of cisplatin (Ekborn et al., 2003).



**Figure 3:** Speciation of cisplatin [cis-{(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>II</sup>Cl<sub>2</sub>}] in the cytoplasm.

Speciation is dynamic, where Rs are weakly coordinated to platinum and may replace each other leading to deprotonation and a lowered pH (acidic) in the cytoplasm. Many cisplatin sensitive cancer cells have a low intracellular pH than resistant cells and high cochlear pH levels protect against cisplatin ototoxicity (Murakami et al., 2001; Tanaka, Whitworth & Rybak, 2004). The charged platinum species are short lived because they readily react with various substrates, particularly proteins in the cytoplasm. They are specifically attracted to S and N donor proteins and peptides such as those with accessible disulfide bridges, methionines, cysteines and histidines (Williams, 1974). Figure 4 illustrates speciation of the cisplatin molecule in preparation for protein binding. The aquated platinum species react more rapidly with thioether sulphur (e.g., methionine) than with thiols (e.g., cysteine) because ligand exchange is slower than direct coordination, but the latter is irreversible (Esposito & Najjar, 2002; Wang, Lu & Li, 1996). Platinum(II) bound to the thioether sulphur on methionine easily can be reversed with S bearing nucleophiles (Lempers & Reedijk, 1990). Interestingly, an ammonia ligand trans to the coordinated S may be activated and expelled (Wang, Lu & Li, 1996). This trans effect also has been shown when cisplatin coordinates with the methionine of HSA (Ivanov et al., 1998). Speciation does not need to occur for cisplatin to bind to S sites on proteins (Dedon & Borch, 1987). Many proteins and enzymes use disulfide bridges in protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. Protein folding or conformation determines protein function. The charged or uncharged platinum species may disrupt protein and enzyme conformation by targeting S and N sites which then result in altered function. For instance, cisplatin will remove S from biomolecules at high concentration and/or prolong incubation time (Ivanov et al., 1998).



Figure 4: Example of cisplatin's binding to proteins in the cytoplasm.

In summary, cisplatin binds preferentially to sulfur bearing biomolecules initially. Sulfur bearing biomolecules are ubiquitous throughout the cell, therefore a large variety of biomolecules will be tartgeted. The affinity of platinum(II) (the core of the cisplatin molecule) for sulfur is predictable based on HSAB chemistry. Although the cisplatin molecule exhibits high affinity for sulfur, its binding to sulfur bearing biomolecules is temporary/labile (see reaction 2 and discussion above). This is further supported by the fact that cisplatin binds numerous sulfur bearing biomolecules in the blood and on the plasma membrane but ultimately binds nitrogen rich subunits of DNA in the nucleus. The class B Lewis acid classification of platinum(II) compliments HSAB chemistry by predicting high affinity binding for both sulfur and nitrogen. Recent experiments applying density functional theory and continuum dielectric calculations have revealed that the cisplatin molecule exhibits a kinetic preference for nitrogen over sulfur in biologically relevant conditions (Deubel, 2004). Intracellular cisplatin may bind initially to sulfur bearing biomolecules but it eventually migrates to nitrogen rich biomolecules such as DNA (van Boom, Chen, Maarten & Reedijk, 1999).

#### 4. Cisplatin Bound to Sulfur is Redox-active

Cisplatin binds rapidly to thioether sulfur but slowly to thiols such as cysteine (Esposito & Najjar, 2002). This is because direct coordination to the thioether sulfur is faster than ligand exchange with the thiol. Ligand exchange with the thiol results in PtS covalent bonds (Esposito & Najjar, 2002). The PtS complex may be redox-active which may easily promote oxidative cross-linking of biomolecules in tissue. Results from autometallography are consistent with the redox-activity of the PtS complex (see Figure 2; Guthrie & Balaban, 2004).

Autometallography is the most powerful cytochemical process for characterizing the topographical distribution of low-affinity bound redox-active metals (Garner, Roberg, Qian, Eaton & Truscott, 2000; Zdolsek, Roberg & Brunk, 1993). It has been used to locate and map

the movement of trace amounts of endogenous and exogenous redox-active metals such as;  $Fe^{2+}$ , Zn<sup>2+</sup>, Cu<sup>2+</sup>, Co<sup>2+</sup>, Ni<sup>2+</sup>, Hg<sup>2+</sup>, Cd<sup>2+</sup>, Pb<sup>2+</sup>, As<sup>2+</sup>, Bi<sup>2+</sup>, Tl<sup>2+</sup>, Au<sup>2+</sup>, and Ag<sup>2+</sup> (Danscher, 1981; Danscher, 1991). The autometallographic process involves intracellular precipitation of insoluble metallic crystallites from the electrovalent bonding of the target metal to a soft Lewis Base such as S (Danscher, Stoltenberg, Kemp & Pamphlett, 2000; Zdolsek, Roberg & Brunk, 1993). The resulting crystallite is redox-active which may be demonstrated by a physical developer. The physical developer contains a nucleophile such as ascorbate and an electrophile such as  $Ag^{2+}$ .  $Ag^{2+}$  is reduced on the surface of the metal-sulfide crystallite by the nucleophile forming a metallic Ag<sup>°</sup> shell around the metal-sulfide crystallite (Csaki, Kaplanek, Moller & Fritzsche, 2003; Jackson & Halas, 2001; James, 1939). Therefore, the physical-development of the metalsulfide only occurs if the metal-sulfide complex is redox-active (James, 1939). Cisplatinautometallography has revealed that platinum bound to S yields a redox-active complex in tissue (see Figure 2; Guthrie & Balaban, 2004). This means that cisplatin bound to S or other ligands may actively promote cross-linking between endogenous/exogenous nucleophilic and electrophilic molecules. This effect is similar to what occurs when Fe(III) or Fe(III)-EDTA complex interact with endogenous nucleophiles (e.g., ascorbate, GSH, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> or reduced NADH) to induce the generation of HO<sup>•</sup> and cross-linking of biomolecules (Dizdaroglu, Olinski, Doroshow & Akman, 1993; Murata, Imada, Inoue & Kawanishi, 1998). Cisplatin induced crosslinking of biomolecules *in vitro* is well known and results in loss of molecular function (Ivanov et al., 1998; Pizzo, Swaim, Roche & Gonias, 1988).

In summary, cisplatin bound to sulfur is redox-active. The *d*-orbital of metals such as platinum(II) allows them to serve as a redox-bride between biomolecules (Valentine, 1973). Reaction (2) coupled with autometallography reveals that cisplatin bound to sulfur is redox-

active. This redox-activity leads to oxidative cross-linking of biomolecules. This is particularly important because cisplatin simultaneously binds DNA and sulfur bearing biomolecules (Kartalou & Essigman, 2001).

#### 5. Summary and Implications for Ototoxic Mechanisms

Cisplatin binds preferentially to sulfur and nitrogen rich biomolecules. Most biomolecules exhibit sulfur and nitrogen which suggest that cisplatin will be highly promiscuous in biomolecular binding. The plasma membrane is composed of many sulfur and nitrogen rich biomolecules and serves as the first site of assaul on the cell. Numerous ion channels on the plasma membrane harboring sulfur and nitrogen moieties are direct targets for cisplatin. Cisplatin's interactions with ion channels may be temporary but it elicits signaling cascades that may threaten the life of the cell. Ultimately, cisplatin crosses the plasma membrane to enter the cytoplasm. The redox-capacity of the platinum(II) metal readily induces ROS in the cytoplasm of the cell. Reaction (2) coupled with autometallography reveals that after systemic treatment, the cisplatin molecule is redox-active and low-affinity bound in the cell. The low-affinity binding of cisplatin may serve as an intermediate to DNA binding. For instance, although cisplatin may initially bind biomolecules in the cytoplasm, it eventually migrates to the nucleus to bind nitrogen rich DNA purines (van Boom, Chen, Teuben & Reedijk, 1999). It is likely that the molecular toxicobiology of cisplatin include, interruption of ionic homeostasis due to disruption of plasma membrane ion channels, promotion of ROS due to redox-activity from cross-linking biomolecules in the cytoplasm and DNA damage due to high-affinity for N-rich purine DNA bases. These mechanisms are probably not independent and each results ultimately in damaged DNA (see Figure 5 for an integrative model of cisplatin ototoxicity).

In hearing research there are two dominant mechanisms of cisplatin induced ototoxicity (Campbell, Kalkanis & Glatz, 2000). The first mechanism is based on the ion homeostasis hypothesis. This hypothesis suggests that cisplatin disturbes plasma membrane ion channels that interferes with cochlear ionic homeostasis leading to apoptosis (Mcalpine & Johnstone, 1990). Figures 6 and 7 reveal molecular mechanisms by which cisplatin may alter ionic homeostasis. The second mechanism of cisplatin induced ototoxicity is based on the ROS hypothesis. This hypothesis suggests that cisplatin induces ROS that oxidizes biomolecules and promote apoptosis (Clerici, DiMartino and Prasad, 1995). Figure 8 reveals the *in vivo* molecular pathway that underlies cisplatin induced ROS and promotion of apoptosis in the cochlea. There are many impirical evidence in the hearing research literature to support these two hypotheses. In the tumor biology literature the primary mechanism by which cisplatin induces cytotoxicity and antineoplasm is based on the formation of cisplatin DNA damage. Recent research has revealed that cisplatin precipitates cisplatin DNA damage among various cell types in the inner ear (van Ruijven, de Groot, Hendriksen & Smoorenburg, 2005). This suggests, that DNA damage may be a third mechanism that underlie cisplatin induced ototoxicity. This is further supported by the fact that irregular ionic homeostasis and ROS production may each induce DNA damage (see the sections below & Figure 5).



**Figure 5:** An integrative view of the molecular mechanisms that underlie cisplatin ototoxicity. Before entering the cell cisplatin may interact directly with the plasma membrane and ion channels (see text for details). Such, interactions disrupts ionic homeostasis. Cisplatin easily crosses the plasma membrane both by passive diffusion and active transport (see text for details). Once inside the cell cisplatin targets a wide variety of biomolecules and intracellular organelles (see text for details). Mitochondria is a consistent intracellular target. Cisplatin disrupts the mitochondria membrane potential, initiates the mitochondria apoptosis pathways and reduce the level of ATP available for ion pumps. ATP-dependent ion pumps such as Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase and Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase are specifically disrupted. Depletion of ATP for the  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase results in excessive influx of calcium (Ca) which intreases intracellular levels to dangerous micromolar levels. High levels of Ca initiates various negative signaling cascades that lead to DNA damage (see text for details). Depletion of ATP for the Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase results in excessive influx of sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>) and chloride (Cl<sup>-</sup>) and efflux of potassium (K<sup>+</sup>) (see text for details). Excess Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> promotes DNA damage in the form of strand breaks. Intracellular cisplatin is redoxactive and easily promotes ROS (see text for details). ROS targets and damage DNA. Cisplatin also targets DNA directly (see text for details). Abbreviations; Pt, cisplatin; AIF, apoptosis inducing factor; endoG, endonuclease G; APAF-1, apoptosis activating factor; DFF, DNA fragmentation factor; tBid, truncated BH3 interacting domain death agonist.



**Figure 6:** Cisplatin may alter ionic homeostasis by interacting with the plasma membrane. **A.** Enzymes and ion channels regulate passage across the lipid bilayer of substrates (s) and ions (i) respectively. **B.** Cisplatin binds to phospholipids via charge-charge interactions and may facilitate the binding of other cisplatin molecules. The accumulation of cisplatin molecules on the lipid bilayer results in altered fluidity, permeability (efflux/influx of small molecules) and disruption of enzyme and ion channel activities. **C.** These alterations may be temporary but could propagate via signal transduction pathways throughout the cell.



**Figure 7:** Cisplatin may alter ionic homeostasis by interacting with plasma membrane protein(s). Cisplatin [*cis*-(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt<sup>II</sup>M] binds to plasma membrane proteins at particular sites (N) and induce conformational changes. This change in conformation results in the loss of biological function for the affected protein(s). For instance, binding to calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) plasma membrane proteins may lead to excess influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup>.



**Figure 8:** Molecular pathway that underlies cisplatin induced ROS and promotion of apoptosis. Cisplatin cross-links biomolecules and generate ROS. ROS attacks mitochondria and alters the mitochondrial membrane potential ( $\Delta \psi$ ) followed by the release of cytochrome-c. Cytochrome-c binds to apoptotic activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) and activates caspases-9 which activates caspase 3 which then fascilitates cell death (apoptosis).

#### 6. Cisplatin Alters Ionic homeostasis in the Cochlea

McAlpine and Johnstone (1990) reported experiments aimed at elucidating the mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicity. Forty seven pigmented guinea pigs (250-400g) were treated with cisplatin. Cisplatin was administered subcutaneously or iontophoresed into scala media. Electrophysiological results showed that reduction in OHC receptor current (mechanoelectrical transduction) was followed by decreasing  $N_1$  (CAP) thresholds within 20 hours after cisplatin (6 mg/kg, s.c.) treatment. These authors theorized that cisplatin blocked the number of channels available for transduction which lead to hearing loss. Cisplatin was iontophoresed into scala media at the 3 kHz region and N<sub>1</sub> threshold decreased basally (towards the higher frequencies) at a rate consistent with endolymphatic flow. These findings further compelled the authors to theorize that there is no intrinsic difference in vulnerability between high and low frequency regions of the cochlea. They explained that the reason cisplatin induces high frequency hearing loss is because the drug is better able to perfuse the blood-labyrinth barrier at the base than at the apex of the cochlea, however this was not measured directly.

Saito, Moataz and Dulon (1991) studied cisplatin-induced ion channel blockage by isolating OHCs from pigmented guinea pig (200-300g) cochleae. Isolated OHCs treated with cisplatin (1 mM) showed no change in viability out to six hours following removal from the cochlea. Additionally, cisplatin was believed to block calcium ion channels as determined by microspectrofluorometry of the dual emission calcium probe indo-1. These authors argued that cisplatin binds to the plasma membrane of the OHCs and blocks calcium channels. This suggests that cisplatin's interaction with the plasma membrane may alter calcium homeostasis.

Interestingly, similar results had been shown for aminoglycosides in previous studies (Dulon, Zajic, Aran & Schacht, 1989), which suggest similar mechanisms between the drugs.

Kimitsuki, Nakagawa, Hisashi, Komune and Komiyama (1993) evaluated the effects of cisplatin on the mechanoelectrical transduction of the cochlear hair cells from hatched chicks (2-7 days old) by using a whole-cell patch-electrode voltage clamp technique. The results showed that cisplatin treatment modulated mechanoelectrical transduction channels in a dose dependent manner with voltage dependent and independent components. These results support a channel blockade role in cisplatin ototoxicity. Saito and Aran (1994) treated pigmented guinea pigs (300-400g) acutely (7.5 mg/kg/2 days) or chronically (1.5 mg/kg/10 days) with cisplatin. CAP (round window electrode placement) was used to assess ototoxicity. Significant CAP threshold shifts were observed after the second dose of acute treatment. During chronic treatment, threshold shifts were observed only at eight or nine days of treatment. The authors argued that the difference in threshold shift between acute and chronic treatment may be attributed to a blockade in OHC ion channels.

Ernst and Zenner (1995) studied the effects of cisplatin on isolated OHCs from guinea pig cochleae. The whole-cell patch-clamp technique was used to measure the effects of cisplatin. The results showed that cisplatin induced hyperpolarization and cellular elongation. From these results the authors concluded that cisplatin alter ion channels of the plasma membrane. Komune et al. (1995) treated fifty-eight albino guinea pigs (360-480) with cisplatin (12.5 mg/kg, i.m.). The results revealed that cisplatin reduced the EP from 80 mV to 32 mV. Additionally, there was an increase in potassium, sodium and chlorine in the endolymph. In the perilymph only sodium increased while potassium and chlorine stayed the same. These authors reasoned that cisplatin interferes with the normal homeostasis of ion transport in the cochlea. Peters,

Mommersteeg and Heijmen (1999) exposed the electroreceptor organ of the freshwater catfish (120-280 g, n = 8) to cisplatin (330  $\mu$ M) for 1 hour. Spike trains from the electroreceptor organ primary afferents were studied for ototoxic effects. Cisplatin treatment caused a drop in spontaneous activity, reduced sensitivity and disfiguration of the frequency spectrum. However, these effects were reversed 22 days after treatment. From these results the authors reasoned that ion channels were altered by cisplatin.

In summary, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies reveal that cisplatin alters ionic homeostasis. Such observations have generated the hypothesis that the mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicity is disturbance of plasma membrane ion channels that result in altered cochlear ionic homeostasis. Ionic homeotasis may not be the only mechanism of ototoxicity since cisplatin generates ROS and directly bind to DNA in the cochlea.

# 7. Ionic Mechanisms Can Induce DNA Damage

Altered homeostasis of ions such as  $[Ca^{2+}]$ ,  $[Na^+]$  and  $[K^+]$  may induce DNA damage and cell death (see Figure 5). High intracellular levels of  $([Ca^{2+}]_i)$  my damage DNA by directly activating  $[Ca^{2+}]$ -dependent nucleases that fragments DNA (Yakovlev et al., 2000). The altered homeostasis of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  may promote nitric oxide synthase (NOS), kinases and enery failure of mitochondria, all of which produce ROS induced DNA damage (Fonnum & Lock, 2004). Recent experiments have shown that T-type calcium channel blockers partially reduce DNA fragmentation in the organ of Corti after cisplatin intoxication (So et al, 2005). Blocking  $[Ca^{2+}]$  channels only provided partial protection from DNA damage in the cochlea which suggests that

cisplatin may alter cochlear ionic homeostasis by more covert mecahnsims. For instance, cisplatin may reduce intracellular levels of ATP that limits the energy supply available for ion pumps that are vital for maintaining ionic homeostasis (Dursun et al., 2006; Pai & Sodhi, 1992). This line of thinking is supported by recent studies that reveal that cisplatin targets mitochondria and alter activity of both Ca<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase in the cochlea (Cheng, Liu, Hsu & Lin-Shiau, 2005; Devarajan et al., 2002). Reducing the availability of ATP would affect the  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase by inhibiting the efflux of  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ , thereby increasing  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  from nM to lethal  $\mu$ M levels. Additionally, energy depletion by reducing ATP would affect the Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase by significantly increasing intracellular level of [Na<sup>+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> followed by concomitant influx of [Cl<sup>-</sup>]. Therefore, excess  $[Na^+]$  and  $[Cl^-]$  would accumulate in the cell. Excess  $[Na^+]$  and  $[Cl^-]$  induces DNA strand breaks which are chemically and structurally different than cisplatin DNA adducts (Kultz & Chakravarty, 2001). DNA strand breaks have been found in the cochlea after cisplatin treatment (Watanabe et al., 2002). Another effect of reduced ATP on Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase is excessive efflux of  $[K^+]_i$ . This is important because  $[K^+]_i$  prevents apoptosis DNA fragmentation by DNA fragmentation fractors (DFF) (Hughes, Bortner, Purdy & Cidlowski, 1997). Cisplatin is known to induce apoptotic DNA fragmentation in the cochlea (Alam et al., 2000).

#### 8. Cisplatin Mediates ROS Production in the Ear

Class B Lewis acid metals such as cadmium and mercury are known to easily generate ROS by crossing the plasma membrane and accumulate in the cytoplasm. The passage of cisplatin across the plasma membrane is currently a controversial issue because different research groups have

provided evidence to support at least three different mechanisms of influx. For instance, cisplatin is believed to cross the plasma membrane by passive diffusion via lipid solubility, passive diffusion via ion channels and receptor/carrier-mediated transport (Gately & Howell, 1993). Class B metals such as cadmium and mercury are known to passively diffuse across the plasma membrane. Cisplatin also may diffuse passively across the plasma membrane and induce cooperative uptake, where the initial binding to phospholipids facilitates the entry of other cisplatin molecules (Wang, Lu & Li, 1996). Few experimental observations have supported the proposal of passive diffusion of cisplatin across the plasma membrane (Gately & Howell, 1993). Conditions that increase plasma membrane permeability such as hyperthermia, radiation and chemical treatment have supported the notion of passive diffusion (Ohtsubo et al., 1997; Yang, Douple & Wang, 1995). Systematic work on the uptake and distribution of cisplatin using sensitive procedures such as inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry have concluded that cisplatin enters the cell via passive diffusion (Ghezzi, Aceto, Cassino, Gabano & Osella, 2004).

A few studies have supported the proposal of receptor/carrier-mediated transport of cisplatin across the plasma membrane by showing that cisplatin's accumulation can be manipulated (stimulated or inhibited) by pharmacological means and by altering signal transduction pathways (Canada, 1993; Gately & Howell, 1993). Pharmacological agents that do not alter plasma membrane permeability may inhibit cisplatin uptake which supports the notion of receptor/carrier transport (Andrews, Velury, Mann & Howell, 1988; Desoize & Madoulet, 2002; Gately & Howell, 1993; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001).

There are multiple routes for the passage of cisplatin across the plasma membrane depending on its modification in the blood and extracellular mileu. Most researchers who disagree on the exact route of influx generally agree that 50% of cisplatin will passively diffuse

across the cell membrane while the remaining 50% is actively transported (Guminski, Harnett & de Fazio, 2002; Kelland, 1993). Regardless of the specific mechanism of influx, cisplatin efficiently crosses the membrane by weak sequential associations and disassociations between biomolecules (Wang, Lu & Li, 1996). Cisplatin's interaction with the plasma membrane is highly complex and there are many routes of entry into the cell (see Figure 9). Iron and copper are transported to various cell types by proteins such as transferin and ceruloplasmin, respectively. Platinum(II) is a more reactive metal than iron and copper therefore molecular mimicry may facilitate passage across the membrane. Once across the membrane, intracellular levels are determined by mechanisms of efflux (see Figure 9).

Cisplatin efflux may be biphasic with an initial rapid phase then a slower phase (Mann, Andrews & Howell, 1990). The efflux of cisplatin may have some relevance to the cochlea. The ability of the stria vascularis to recover from cisplatin intoxication may be due to specialized drug resistance pumps on the plasma membrane. For instance, P-glycoprotein is an energydependent efflux pump, also known as the multidrug resistance pump 1 (MRP1). MRP1 has been localized in the stria vascularis and vestibular epithelium but not the organ of Corti (Saito et al., 2001). Experiments on knockout mice suggest that the MRP1 may influence the accumulation of various drugs in the inner ear and may mediate ototoxicity (Zhang et al., 2000). Another member of the MRP1 family of drug resistance pumps is the so called cisplatin efflux pump or canalicular multispecific organic anion transporter (cMOAT), which is now known as MRP2. MRP2 typically functions to transport glucuronide-conguated bile acids into the bile, however it may export GSH-drug conjugates. Experiment on the MRP2 suggested that a cisplatin-resistant phenotype can be achieved through controlling the level of cisplatin in the

cytoplasm (Taniguchi et al., 1996). Such control is vital because intracellular cisplatin is redoxactive which means that it will easily promote ROS (Guthrie & Balaban, 2004).

Research supporting a ROS mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicity has been ongoing since the 1990's. For instance, Clerici, DiMartino and Prasad (1995) studied the direct anatomical alterations of ROS on isolated cochlear OHCs. OHCs were superfused with artificial perilymph containing the following ROS;  $O_2^{-}$ , OH or the ROS inducer  $H_2O_2$ . The results showed that ROS directly induced OHC bleb formation and diminished cell length. From these results the authors concluded that ROS induced OHC changes are consistent with ototoxic hair cell damage. Clerici and Yang (1996) studied the direct effects of ROS on cochlear physiology. Guinea pigs (250-350 g) were treated with ROS infused through a hole in the cochlea. Analysis of CAP and CM (round window electrode placement) served as functional measurements of the cochlea. ROS treatment lead to significant threshold shifts of the CAP in the high frequencies. There was no statistically significant difference between CM of the ROS treated animals and control animals. Clerici, Hensley, DiMatino and Butterfield (1996) directly demonstrated the generation of ROS as a result of cisplatin ototoxicity. Guinea pig cochlear explants were studied by using electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy. The generation of the hydroxyl radical was particularly abundant after cisplatin exposure. Cisplatin was believed to catalyze hydrogen peroxide to the hydroxyl radical. These direct studies engendered the hypothesis of cisplatin ROS induced ototoxicity. Since these direct experiments, subsequent work has relied on indirect methods to support an ROS mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicty (Kamimura, Whitworth & Rybak, 1999; Korver, Rybak, Whitworth & Campbell, 2002; Teranishi, Nakashima & Wakayashi, 2001; Rybak & Kelly, 2003; Wimmer et al., 2004).



**Figure 9**: Complex interaction of cisplatin with the cell membrane and routes of influx and efflux. 1. membrane protein with disulfide bridge attracts cisplatin. 2. cisplatin bound to phospholipids. 3. cisplatin may enter the cell via passive diffusion. 4. cisplatin may enter the cell via passive diffusion through channel proteins. 5. cisplatin may enter the cell by transferrin & transferring receptor or facilitated diffusion by carrier proteins (energy independent transport). 6. cisplatin may enter the cell via energy dependent transport by carrier proteins. 7. cerulopasmin bound cisplatin, copper transporter 1 (CTR1) & cell surface reductase (CSR) facilitates the transport of cisplatin into the cell. 8. multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1) or glutathione S-conjugated export pump (member ABC superfamily) facilitates the efflux of cisplatin. 9. multidrug resistance protein 2 (MRP2) aka canalicular multispecific organic anion transporter (cMOAT) facilitates the efflux of cisplatin. 10. *trans*-Golgi export system facilitates the efflux of cisplatin. Cisplatin abbreviations = Pt<sup>II</sup>, Pt, *cis*-DDP.

## 9. Cisplatin Induces DNA Damage

The hearing research literature has provided data to suggest that cisplatin targets ion channels that alters ionic homeostasis or cross-link biomolecules to promote ROS. The cancer literature has provided data to suggest that cisplatin directly binds to DNA and this binding underlies cytotoxicity and antineoplasm. The early studies on prokaryote cells that discovered the biological activity of cisplatin also revealed cisplatin-induced filamentous growths (elongation of bacteria without division due to defective replication from DNA damage). Filamentous growths are characteristic of DNA damaging agents (Adler & Hardigree, 1965; Rosenkranz, Garro, Levy & Carr, 1966; Witkin, 1967). The majority of cisplatin is found bound to DNA (Harder, 1974). Cisplatin is highly attracted to the N-rich purines (guanine & adenine) of DNA (Reedijk, 1999). In fact, the basses of the anticancer action of cisplatin, is its ability to precipitate DNA adducts (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999). The adducts formed by cisplatin are monofunctional and bifunctional (Eastman, 1986; Fichtinger-Schepman, van Oosterom, Lohman & Berends, 1987; Kelland, 2000). Monoaquated or monospeciated cisplatin forms the monofunctional adducts (see Figures 3 and 10). Monofunctional adducts typically bind to the N7 of a single DNA base, particularly a guanine residue while coordinated to H2O, HO or a protein. These adducts account for ~2% of the adducts formed. Formation of monofunctional adducts have a  $t_{1/2}$  ~0.1 h and they may convert to a bifunctional adduct at a  $t_{1/2} \sim 2.1$  h (Bancroft, Lepre & Lippard, 1990).

Bifunctional adducts bind to the N7 position of purines to form interstrand and intrastrand cross-links (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001; Kelland, 2000). The interstrand cross-link is cis-[(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt{d(pGpC)/d(pGpC}] and is often denoted as inter-d(pGpC)/d(pGpC) or cis-G/G (see Figure 10). Here cisplatin binds to guanine residues on

opposite DNA strands. The *cis*-G/G accounts for ~2% of bifunctional adducts (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). Among the intrastrand cross-links the most abundant is the *cis*-[(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt{d(pGpG)}] often denoted as 1,2-d(GpG) or *cis*-GG (see Figure 10). Here cisplatin binds to two adjacent guanine (GG) residues. The *cis*-GG are the major adducts and comprise ~60-65% of the adducts formed (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). The second most abundant intrastrand adduct is the *cis*-[(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt{d(pGpA)}] often denoted as 1,2-d(ApG) or *cis*-AG (see Figure 10). Here cisplatin binds to an adenine-guanine (AG) sequence. The *cis*-AG comprise ~20-25% of the adducts formed (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). The third most abundant intrastrand adduct is the *cis*-[(H<sub>3</sub>N)<sub>2</sub>Pt{d(GpXpG)}] often denoted as 1,3-d(GpXpG) or *cis*-GXG, where X may be any nucleotide (see Figure 10). Here cisplatin binds to two guanines separated by X. The *cis*-GXG comprise ~5-10% of the adducts formed (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001).



**Figure 10:** Structure of cisplatin DNA adducts. **A.** *cis*-GG. **B.** *cis*-AG. **C.** *cis*-GXG. **D.** monofunctional adduct, where  $R = H_2O$ , HO', etc. **E.** monofunctional adduct, where P = a protein. **F.** *cis*-G/G. See text for details.

All cisplatin DNA adducts may induce structural alterations to the DNA helix. For instance they may significantly bend, unwind and shorten the DNA helix (Bellon, Coleman & Lippard, 1991; Cohen, Bauer, Barton & Lippard, 1979). They bind predominantly in the major groove and may bend the DNA helix by ~20-80° and unwind the helix by ~13-80° (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). A single adduct may change the angular orientation of the DNA helix significantly towards the major groove. The *cis*-G/G adduct may bend the helix by ~20-47° and unwind it by ~70-87°. The *cis*-GG adduct may bend the helix by ~25-55° and unwind it by ~13°. The *cis*-GXG adduct may bend the helix by 20-35° and unwind it by 19-23°. Each adduct induces a unique alteration to the classic Watson-Crick DNA structure. These

alterations to the DNA structure are recognized by a variety of different proteins. Many of these proteins are involved in vital cellular functions such as transcription.

Cisplatin DNA adducts accumulate in tumor cell as well as cells from a variety of tissues such as pancreas, liver, kidney, muscle, brain, testis, duodenum, spleen and heart (Terneggen et al., 1987). DNA adducts also have been localized among various cell types in the inner ear (Thomas, Lautermann, Liedert, Seiler & Thomale, 2006; van Ruijven, de Groot, Hendriksen,& Smoorenburg, 2005). In addition to platinated DNA adducts, cisplatin may induce single and double strand breaks in DNA. The mechanisms of such strand breaks are less known but the redox-activity of platinum(II) may induce ROS that could easily induce strand breaks.

In summary, DNA is one target for cisplatin. Speciation of cisplatin in the cytoplasm prepares it for covalent binding to the N7 of purine DNA bases. The N7 is a highly nucleophilic site that is known to attract a number of genotoxic xenobiotics. Less attention has been focused on cisplatin's binding to phosphates on the DNA even though such interactions would be weak. Cisplatin is able to access the major groove of the DNA and bend the helix towards the major groove thus increasing the minor groove. The guanine residues are particularly targeted by cisplatin because of their high nucleophilic nature. The structural and chemical alterations of DNA induced by cisplatin are heterogeneous which suggest that the molecular pathological consequences will be complex.

## **10.** Molecular Pathology of Cisplatin Induced DNA Damage

Cisplatin DNA adducts may affect replication, inhibit transcription and induce apoptosis. Replication is the process by which new DNA is synthesized by polymerases during the S-phase of the cell cycle. Early research on the biological activity of cisplatin suggested that cisplatin DNA adducts inhibited replication which by itself could account for the antineoplastic activity. Cisplatin DNA adducts inhibit a variety of DNA polymerases. For instance, *cis*-GG, *cis*-AG and *cis*-GXG adducts inhibit DNA polymerase I and III, Taq polymerase and bacteriophage T4 and T7 DNA polymerases (Comess, Burstyn, Essigmann & Lippard, 1992). Even a single cisplatin DNA adduct may inhibit DNA polymerases. However, the death of cancer cells may not correlate with inhibition of replication (Chu, 1994; Sorenson & Eastman, 1988). For instance, Chinese hamster ovary cell lines that were deficient in DNA repair died at cisplatin concentrations that failed to disrupt replication (Sorenson & Eastman, 1988). Additionally, cell lines that were proficient at DNA repair survived extreme doses of cisplatin that disrupted replication (Chu, 1994). However, the inhibition of replication does not account for cytotoxicity of non-replicating (non-dividing) cells, such as neurons and hair cells.

Transcription is the process of generating messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) leading to protein synthesis. Protein synthesis is essential for cell survival and occurs throughout the cell cycle (Bielas & Heddle, 2004). Tumor cells treated with cisplatin may progress through the S-phase leading to G2 cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis (Allday, Inman, Crawford & Farrell, 1995; Chu, 1994; Kelland 1993). Here transcription products needed to enter M-phase of the cell-cycle are inhibited by cisplatin DNA adducts. For instance, RNA polymerase is stalled by cisplatin DNA adducts during transcription (Corda, Anin, Leng & Job, 1992; Tornaletti, Patrick, Turchi &

Hanawalt, 2003). Additionally, proteins essential for transcription (e.g., hUBF & TBP), are lured to cisplatin DNA adducts which makes them unavailable to participate in transcription (Jordan & Carmo-Fonseca, 2000; Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). Proteins essential for transcription may have as much as a 175 fold increase in binding affinity for a single cisplatin DNA adduct compared to their normal binding sites (Cohen, Jamieson & Lippard, 2000). The ability of cisplatin DNA adducts to sequester important transcription proteins is called transcription hijacking (Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001; Zhai, Beckmann, Jantzen & Essigmann, 1998). Transcription hijacking can trigger apoptosis (Siddik, 2003). Therefore, a combination of both replication inhibition and transcription hijacking are implicated in cisplatin anticancer activity. For non-cancerous cells and non-dividing cells, transcription hijacking may be a primary event that leads to apoptosis.

The chemical and physical alterations to the DNA duplex by platinated adducts are recognized by a variety of proteins involved in vital cellular processes. The titration of these proteins away from their natural binding sites inhibits cell function. For instance, proteins involved in transcription of vital genes may be titrated away from the transcription process by cisplatin DNA adducts (Treiber, Zhai, Jantzen & Essigmann, 1994). As discussed above, this process is called transcription hijacking and may directly induce apoptosis. Proteins unrelated to transcription also may be hijacked by cisplatin DNA adducts and platinum-protein adducts may hijack other proteins. Therefore, a more general term, "molecular hijacking" is appropriate (see Figure 11). One of the most well studied groups of proteins involved in molecular hijacking is the high-mobility-group (HMG) proteins. HMG proteins are a family of small, nonhistone chromatin-associated proteins involved in gene regulation and maintenance of chromatin structure. These proteins may have a three fold greater binding affinity for cisplatin DNA

adducts than their natural binding sites (Treiber, Zhai, Jantzen & Essigmann, 1994). Multiple HMG domains function in an additive way to increase the binding affinity to cisplatin DNA adducts (Zhai, Beckmann, Jantzen & Essigmann, 1998). The binding of HMG proteins to cisplatin DNA adducts may shield the adducts from DNA repair factors (Patrick & Turchi, 1998). Such repair shielding increases the tenure of platinum on DNA and induces apoptotic cell death (see Figure 11). This is particularly important because cisplatin treatment significantly increase protein levels of HMG1 among spiral ganglion neurons in the cochlea (Li, Liu & Frenz, 2006). Other proteins beyond HMG proteins also may participate in protein hijacking and repair shielding (Yaneva, Leuba, van Holde, & Zlatanova, 1997).



**Figure 11:** Molecular hijacking and repair shielding. High mobility group (HMG) protein(s) exhibit higher binding affinity for cisplatin DNA adduct (X) than the promoter binding sites which disrupts transcription. Additionally, the binding of HMG protein to cisplatin DNA adduct may shield the adduct from DNA repair factors.

Cisplatin's interaction with DNA often results in apoptosis. Apoptosis can be determined by morphological and biochemical changes. Morphological changes include, cell shrinking with membrane preservation, chromatin condensation, membrane blebbing and release of apoptotic bodies (Choi, 1996). The biochemical changes are many but DNA strand breaks often are used as a diagnostic estimate of apoptosis. The balance between proapoptic (e.g., Bax, Bak, Bad, Bcl-X) and antiapoptotic (e.g., Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, Mcl-1, Bcl-w and A1) proteins determines the progression of apoptosis. Cisplatin increases the level of Bax and Bak while decreasing the level of Bcl-2 in tumor cells (Henkels & Turchi, 1999; Jones, Turner, Mcllwrath, Brown & Dive, 1998). Nuclear DNA (nDNA) is consistently targeted by cisplatin but mitochondria DNA (mtDNA) may accumulate up to 50-fold more cisplatin DNA adducts than nDNA (Giurgiovich et al., 1997). Cisplatin induces the release of cytochrome-c from mitochondria and subsequent activation of cysteine-aspartate-specific proteases (caspases) among tumor cells which promotes apoptosis (Kojima et al., 1998; Seki et al., 2000). The death receptor (extrinsic) tumor necrosis factor (TNF) apoptotic pathway which also regulates caspases is involved in cisplatin antitumor activity (Fulda, Los, Friesen & Debatin, 1998). These results suggest that multiple apoptotic pathways may be involved in the antitumor and cytotoxicity of cisplatin (see Figure 5).

In summary, cisplatin DNA adducts induces a variety of structural and chemical alterations to DNA that leads to various molecular pathological consequences. The three most profound are inhibition of replication and transcription and induction of apoptosis. Inhibition of replication may facilitate the death of dividing cells but may not explain the death of nondividing cells, such as hair cells and neurons. Transcription inhibition by stalling of RNA polymerase and/or molecular hijacking is enough to initiate cell death regardless of cell cycle status. Molecular hijacking also may facilitate the shielding of cisplatin DNA adducts from DNA repair factors which increases the tenure of platinum on the DNA helix leading to cell death. The major cell death process induced by cisplatin is apoptosis. Various apoptotic pathways are involved but the mitochondria mediated apoptotic pathway may be particularly important because the majority of genomic platinum is bound to mtDNA (see Figure 5). Mitochondriae are unable to remove cisplatin from there genome because they lacks specialized DNA repair pathways that repair cisplatin induced DNA damage (Salazar & Houten, 1997; Olivero, Cheng, Lopez-Larraza, Semino-Mora & Poirier, 1997).

#### 11. Repair of Cisplatin Induced DNA Damage

Early studies that demonstrated that DNA is a target for cisplatin also revealed that sensitivity to cisplatin depends on the tumor's proficiency at DNA repair (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999). Upon reacting with DNA, cisplatin forms adducts and cross links that globally distort the DNA. These adducts and cross-links, represent covalent bonds between cisplatin and the DNA bases, particularly the purines (guanine & adenine) (Redon, Bombard, Elizondo-Riojas & Chottard, 2003). There is a positive correlation between the accumulation of cisplatin DNA adducts and cell death (Fraval & Roberts, 1979). The removal of these adducts from the DNA helix is accomplished by nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathways (see figure 12). For instance, cisplatin is exceptionally effective at killing testicular cancer cells and may induce a 95% cure rate (Kartalou & Essigmann, 2001). Testicular cancer and small cell lung cancers may initially respond to cisplatin treatment but later develop resistance (Ferry, Hamilton & Johnson, 2000; Giaccone, 2000). This resistance is correlated with increased expression of NER protein-enzymes (Dabholkar et al., 1994; Selvakumaran, Pisarcik, Bao, Yeung & Hamilton, 2003).

It is accepted that NER is the primary mechanism by which cisplatin resistant tumor cells survive cisplatin DNA damage (Wu, Fan, Xu & Zhou, 2003). For instance, cells that were once insensitive to cisplatin may become sensitive by suppressing the NER protein, xeroderma pigmentosum A (XPA) (Wu, Fan, Xu & Zhou, 2003). XPA (32 kDa) is a zinc-finger DNA binding protein with high affinity for cisplatin DNA adducts. It also commits a cell to NER and coordinates repair activities (Boonstra et al., 2001; de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999). Beyond NER, XPA has no other known cellular function (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999;

Thoma & Vasquez, 2003). In fact inhibition of XPA renders tumor cells unable to initiate NER (Koberle, Masters, Hartley & Wood, 1999; Rosenberg, Taher, Kuemmerle, Farnsworth & Valerie, 2001).

NER mechanisms can be partitioned into two pathways which differ by the way they identify lesions (Thoma & Vasquez, 2003; de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999). One pathway identifies DNA damage on non-transcribing genes and is called global genomic NER (GG-NER) (Costa, Chigancas, Galhardo, Carvalho & Menck, 2003; de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999). Recognition of lesions in this pathway is accomplished by the NER protein, xeroderma pigmentosum C (XPC) (Boonstra et al., 2001; Chen, Xu, Yang & Wang, 2003). XPC (125 kDa) is a DNA binding protein that is charged with the task of scanning the entire genome for lesions (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999). In fact, absence of XPC results in failure of GG-NER (Costa, Chigancas, Galhardo, Carvalho & Menck, 2003; de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999).

The other pathway responds to DNA damage on transcribed genes and is called transcription coupled NER (TC-NER) (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999). Recognition of lesions in this pathway is accomplished by RNA polymerase during transcription. Here, RNA polymerase is stalled at the site of lesion, which allows for quick identification and titration of NER enzymes (Tornaletti, Patrick, Turchi & Hanawalt, 2003). XPA is essential to both pathways (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999), for instance, suppression of XPA results in defective GG-NER and TC-NER (Boonstra et al., 2001; Rosenberg, Taher, Kuemmerle, Farnsworth & Valerie, 2001). Both GG-NER and TC-NER are needed in order to defend the genome from toxic insults. Consequently, cells that lack even one of these NER pathways would be highly susceptible to cisplatin. The rate-limiting step for NER activity is lesion identification/verification (Thoma & Vasquez, 2003). In TC-NER this step is accomplished by transcription factors as well as XPA while GG-NER relies on XPC and XPA, both of which have no other known cellular function (Costa, Chigancas, Galhardo, Carvalho & Menck, 2003). Resent research has demonstrated that XPC first identifies the DNA damage then recruits XPA for verification and subsequent commitment of NER (Thoma & Vasquez, 2003). XPC is a marker for only GG-NER activity while XPA is a marker for NER activity in general (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakers, 1999). Gene expression for these proteins tends to increase among cisplatin resistant cells resulting in cell survival (Fuertes, Castilla, Alonso & Perez, 2003).

In summary, cisplatin induced DNA damage is primarily repaired by the molecular pathways of NER. In fact, tumor cells that are resistant to cisplatin are proficient at NER while tumor cells that are susceptible to cisplatin are less proficient at NER. Over 30 different proteins are involved in the NER process (see Figure 12). The rate-limiting steps of NER are mediated by XPC and XPA. Unlike other NER proteins, XPC and XPA have no other known celluar function. Gene and protein expression of XPC is often used as a measure of GG-NER activity. Gene and protein expression of XPA is often used as a measure of overall NER (both GG-NER & TC-NER) activity. Both XPC and XPA recognize a large variety of damaged DNA caused by various endogenous and exogenous factors but they exhibit particular affinity for cisplatin DNA adducts. The role of XPC and XPA in cisplatin ototxicity has never been explored but may provide new information about the ear's response to cisplatin intoxication.


Figure 12: Molecular pathway of global-genomic nucleotide excision repair. See text for details.

#### D. RELEVANCE OF NER TO CISPLATIN OTOTOXICITY

NER was first demonstrated among prokaryotic cells and believed to be a DNA protection mechanism against short wave ultra violet (UV) components of sunlight (Pettijohn & Hanawalt, 1964). Subsequent experiments revealed that NER pathways exist also among eukaryotic cells and actively repair DNA damage due to UV exposure (Cleaver, 1968). UV exposure leads to bulky DNA adducts such as cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPD) and (6-4) photoproducts that alters the structure of the DNA helix (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakers, 1999). These structural alterations are similar to cisplatin induced DNA alterations (see section on cisplatin induced DNA damage). The discovery that the NER proteins XPC and XPA exhibit similar affinity for bulky UV DNA adducts and cisplatin DNA adducts suggested that NER substrates extend beyond UV DNA damage (Asahina et al., 1994; Trego & Turchi, 2006). Cisplatin DNA adducts stimulate gene expression of XPC and XPA among tumor cells (Weaver et al., 2005). Although the inner ear is embedded in the temporal bone shielded from UV exposure, cisplatin enters the inner ear and form DNA adducts among various cell types (Schweitzer et al., 1984; van Ruijven, de Groot, Hendriksen & Smoorenburg, 2005). These findings motivated the hypothesis that gene expression for XPC and XPA will increase in the inner ear as a function of cisplatin treatment (see aim 1).

Within the inner ear the cochlear neurosensory epithelium is more vulnerable to cisplatin cytotoxicity than the vestibular epithelium (Black, Gianna-Poulin & Pesznecker, 2001; Myers, Blakley & Schwan, 1993; Nakayama, Riggs & Matz, 1996; Sergi, Ferraresi, Troiani, Paludetti & Fetoni, 2003; Schweitzer, Rarey, Dolan, Abrams & Sheridan, 1986). This is particularly interesting, since the level of cisplatin is greater in the vestibular epithelium than the cochlear neurosensory epithelia (Schweitzer et al., 1986). The invulnerability of the vestibular epithelium to cisplatin intoxication suggests that it may have a greater capacity to defend its genome from cisplatin DNA adducts. Injury to the mammalian vestibular epithelium is known to induce mitosis and complete phenotype convertion among hair cells and supporting cells (Berggren, Liu, Frenz & van de Water, 2003; Shou, Zheng & Gao, 2003). Such changes do not occur among hair cells and supporting cells of the mammalian cochlea. In fact, cells from the adult mammalian vestibular sensory epithelium have shown pluripotency both *in vivo* and *in vitro* and can give rise to a variety of cell types representative of ectodermal, mesodermal and endodermal lineages (Li, Liu & Heller, 2003). These findings suggest that hair cells and supporting cells of the vestibular and cochlear epithelium are biologically different types of cells in terms of NER capacity.

Nonsensory epithelium cells of the cochlea such as the stria vascularis, inner spiral sulcus cells (ISSC) and outer spiral sulcus cells (OSSC) are able to initiate spontaneous mitosis (Conlee, Gerity & Bennett, 1994; Dunaway, Mhaskar, Armour, Whitworth & Rybak, 2003; Lang, Schulte & Schmiedt, 2003; Zine & Ribaupierre, 1998). They may become more mitotic as a result of direct damage to themselves or damage to the hair cells (Lang, Schulte & Schmiedt, 2003; Sluyter, Klis, de Groot & Smoorenburg, 2003; Vago, Humbert & Lenoir, 1998; Zine & Ribaupierre, 1998). For instance, it is known that they will divide and change their phenotype as a result of noise damage or exposure to aminoglycosides and loop diuretics (Lang, Schulte & Schmiedt, 2003; Vago, Humbert & Lenoir, 1998; Zine & Ribaupierre, 1998). The functional consequence may be alterations in cochlear microstructure that might be revealed in OAE fine-structure. Cisplatin ototoxicity research largely has neglected non-sensory epithelium cells possibly because they tend to be invulnerable to cisplatin compared to hair cells and neurons. It

is conceivable that cisplatin intoxication of the cochlea may stimulate these cells to divide but cisplatin DNA adducts may arrest the cell-cycle during which NER enzymes are up regulated for DNA repair that then prevents apoptosis among these cells. This line of thinking is consistent with the accepted notion that cell cycle arrest is needed in order to mobilize NER activity, which increases cell survival among cancer cells (Siddik, 2003).

Ovarian cancer and small cell lung cancer are susceptible initially to cisplatin but later develop resistance which correlates with increased NER activity (Selvakumaran, Pisarcik, Bao, Yeung & Hamilton, 2003). Similarly, the stria vascularis is susceptible to cisplatin (Klis et al., 2002; Sluyter, Klis, de Groot & Smoorenberg, 2003) but later recovers functionally and morphologically (Klis et al., 2002; Sluyter, Klis, de Groot & Smoorenberg, 2003). This recovery phenomenon may represent cell-cycle arrest leading to up regulation of NER protein-enzymes.

Cells of the stria vascularis are believed to progress through the cell cycle via spontaneous mitosis and damage induced mitosis (Conlee, Gerity & Bennett, 1994; Dunaway, Mhaskar, Armour, Whitworth & Rybak, 2003). It is known that cisplatin attacks the stria vascularis before the hair cells (Tsukasaki, Whitworth & Rybak, 2000). Yet, the stria vascularis survives while hair cells and neurons die (van Ruijven, de Groot & Smoorenburg, 2004). Additionally, systemic administration of radioactive platinum showed a two to three fold uptake in the stria vascularis compared to the organ of Corti (Schweitzer et al., 1984; Schweitzer et al., 1986). This suggests that the stria vascularis is a direct target for cisplatin. The effect of cisplatin on the ISSC and OSSC has not been investigated, however there has been some work with aminoglycosides. *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have shown that aminoglycoside induced hair cell damage initiates mitosis among ISSC and OSSC (Vago, Humbert & Lenoir, 1998; Zine & Ribaupierre, 1998). It is possible that cisplatin DNA adducts may inhibit mitosis among these

cells until they are removed (repaired) by NER, which may explain their invulnerability to cisplatin.

Supporting cells of the organ of Corti are unable to divide but they can change their phenotype (Smoorenburgh, de Groot, Hamers & Klis, 1999). For instance, damaged hair cells are often replaced by supporting cells, which change their phenotype and become "hair cell like", although in mammals they never fully become hair cells (Cardinaal, de Groot, Huizing, Veldman & Smoorenberg, 2000; Lenoir & Vago, 1997; Smoorenburgh, de Groot, Hamers & Klis, 1999; Zine & Ribaupierre, 1998). Cisplatin treatment has been shown to induce morphological alterations to supporting cells (e.g., Deiter & Hensen) before hair cells and neurons (Ramirez-Camacho, Garcia-Berocal, Bujan, Martin-Marero & Trinidad, 2004; Schweitzer, 1993a; Schweitzer, 1993b). The supporting cells ultimately recover but hair cells and neurons die (Dehne, Lauterman, Petrat, Rauen & de Groot, 2001; Estrem, Babin, Ryu & Moore, 1981) which suggests that the supporting cells are initially targeted by cisplatin but have a higher capacity for DNA repair. Recovery may be due to up regulation of NER (both GG-NER & TC-NER) which then results in survival.

The most vulnerable cells are hair cells and neurons while the least vulnerable cells are nonsensory epithelium cells. One basic biological difference between the vulnerable and invulnerable cells is that the vulnerable cells (hair cells and neurons) cannot divide or change their phenotype while the invulnerable cells are proficient at both cell division and phenotype conversion. This basic biological difference may perpetuate the difference in vulnerability between different inner ear cell types.

It is known in DNA repair biology that terminal differentiation limits NER capacity (Nouspikel & Hanawalt, 2002; Nouspikel & Hanawalt, 2000). Terminally differentiated cells

63

are cells that lack the ability to divide (post-mitotic) and change their phenotype (Nouspikel & Hanawalt, 2002). Neurons and hair cells are examples of such cells (Devarajan et al., 2002). Since these cells cannot divide, they are free from the chore of replicating their genome. They could dispense with the energy consuming task of searching for and then repairing DNA damage across their entire genome and instead focus on repairing transcribing genes that are essential for their survival. Research on DNA repair has demonstrated that terminally differentiated cells lack the capacity to repair global genomic DNA damage but are able to effectively repair transcribed genes (Houspikel & Hanawalt, 2002; Houspikel & Hanawalt, 2000). More specifically, the GG-NER response is suppressed in terminally differentiated cells while TC-NER activity remains active (Bielas & Heddle, 2004; Nouspikel & Hanawalt, 2002: Nouspikel & Hnawalt, 2000). This means that DNA damage induced by genotoxins such as cisplatin may be allowed to accumulate on non-transcribing genes, since GG-NER is inherently suppressed (Furuta et al, 2002; Tornaletti, Patrick, Turchi & Hanawalt, 2003).

In the cochlea, neurons and hair cells are terminally differentiated. It is known that both cochlear neurosensory and nonsensory epithelium cells precipitate cisplatin DNA adduct, yet the former dies while the later survives. One possible explanation is that cellular vulnerability to cisplatin intoxication based on cell type is due to differential expression of the rate-limiting GG-NER protein, XPC (see aim 2).

Cisplatin treatment leads to the progression of hearing loss from high to low frequencies as a function of increasing dosage (Forastiere, Takasugi, Baker, Wolf & Kudla-Hatch, 1987; Van der Hulst, Dreschler & Urbanus, 1988). Post-mortem temporal bones harvested from patients treated with cisplatin as well as animal experiments have shown a base-to-apex gradient of OHC damage along the cochlear spiral (Hinojosa, Riggs, Strauss & Matz, 1995; Teranishi, Nakashima

& Wakabayashi, 2001). Here, the basal OHCs are severely damaged while the apical OHCs are normal. Cisplatin treatment of isolated OHCs from the base and apex of the cochlea and cochlear explants treated with aminoglycosides reveal similar OHC damage gradient as *in vivo* temporal bone studies (Gabaizadeh et al., 1997; Richardson & Russell, 1991; Saito, Yamada, Manabe, Yamamoto & Saito, 1996; Zine & de Ribaupierre, 1998). The basis of this damage gradient is unknown but it has generated the hypothesis that there is an intrinsic difference between basal and apical OHCs (Schacht, 1993; Zajic & Schacht, 1987).

Glutathione (L-y-glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine) levels may influence the difference in vulnerability between basal and apical OHCs. Glutathione is known for its cytoprotective activities in detoxifying (inactivate and/or efflux) various electrophilic xenobiotics as well as serving as a potent antioxidant. For instance, aminoglycoside ototoxicity may be supressed by glutathione conjugation and subsequent detoxification as well as free radical scavenging (Garetz, Rhee & Schacht, 1994; Lautermann, Crann, McLaren & Schacht, 1997; Lautermann, McLaren & Schacht, 1995). Cisplatin binds spontaneously with glutathione in solution to form cisplatinglutathione-conjugates (Bernareggi et al., 1995; Ishikawa & Ali-Osman, 1993). These conjugates also are formed intracellularly and may be extruded from the cell (Ishikawa & Ali-Osman, 1993; Mistry, Loh, Kelland & Harrap, 1993). Similar to aminoglycosides, glutathione may suppress cisplatin cytotoxicity by detoxification and free radical scavenging. For instance, there is a positive correlation between the level of glutathione and the resistance of tumor cells to cisplatin (Kato et al., 2000). Cytosolic glutathione may inhibit apoptosis caused by cisplatininduced ROS. For instance, during mitochondria mediated apoptosis initiated by ROS, oxidized cytochrome-c may be released into the cytoplasm to promote cell death (see Figures 5 and 8). A

high level of glutathione in the cytoplasm maintains cytochrome-c in a reduced (inactive) state which suppresses mitochondria mediated apoptosis (Jefferies et al., 2003).

In addition to detoxification, free radical scavenging and inactivation of cytochrome-c, glutathione also plays a role in DNA synthesis/repair. Glutathione accounts for the majority of non-protein sulfhydryls (SH groups) in a cell (Lai, Ozols, Young & Hamilton, 1989). Sulfhydryls are required for the normal operation of DNA polymerase in DNA synthesis/repair (Hubscher, Maga, & Spadari, 2002; Lai, Ozols, Young & Hamilton, 1989; Matsukage, Bohn & Wilson, 1975). Previous research has revealed that lowering the level of sulfhydryls suppresses DNA polymerase which disables DNA repair (Costellot, Miller, Lehtomaki & Pardee, 1979; Kane & Linn, 1981; Matsukage, Bohn, Wilson, 1975; Shaper, Grafstrom & Grossman, 1982). Cells with low levels of glutathione may have a more restricted supply of sulfhydryls available for DNA repair compared to cells with higher levels of glutathione (Jamieson & Lippard, 1999; Kelland, 1993).

There is a more direct consequence of glutathione level on DNA repair. For instance, glutathione is used in the synthesis of deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate (dNTP), which is directly involved in DNA repair (Holmgren, 1979; Luthman, Eriksson, Holmgren & Thelander, 1979). Lower levels of glutathione may yield lower amounts of sulfhydryls and dNTP available for DNA repair. This is particularly important because glutathione expression is significantly lower among basal OHCs compared to apical OHCs (Sha, Taylor, Forge & Schacht, 2001). Since, the basal OHCs are selectively vulnerable to cisplatin, it is reasonable to suggest that the lower level of glutathione in the basal OHCs may result in less availability of sulfhydryls and dNTP, which then leads to lower amounts of DNA repair activity. Decreasing the level of glutathione in cisplatin-resistant ovarian cancer cells resulted in the suppression of DNA repair

which then rendered the cells highly vulnerable to cisplatin (Lai, Ozols, Young & Hamilton, 1989). Similar to cancer cells, the basal OHCs may not express XPA and XPC proteins which could suggests that they are unable to initiate NER pathways while the apical OHCs may express XPA after cisplatin treatment which would suggest that they can initiate at least one NER pathway (see aim 3). This would be one possible explanation for the base-to-apex vulnerability among OHCs as a function of cisplatin treatment.

### 1. Specific Aims

Aim 1: To test the hypothesis that cisplatin treatment potentiates expression of the lesion identification (*xpc*) and verification (*xpa*) genes of global genomic-nucleotide excision repair (GG-NER) in the cochlea.

**Aim 2**: To test the hypothesis that terminally differentiated cochlear cells will not express the hallmark GG-NER protein, xeroderma pigmentosum C (XPC), following cisplatin treatment.

**Aim 3**: To test the hypothesis that basal OHCs will not express XPC and xeroderma pigmentosum A (XPA) proteins while apical OHCs will express XPA following cisplatin treatment.

#### **III. CHAPTER II**

#### A. SUBJECTS

Research on NER activity is typically conducted on tumor cell lines, cell-free systems, bacteria and yeast. A recent study on hepatocarcinogenesis successfully evaluated the expression of the *xpc* and *xpa* genes after treatment with tamoxifen (a DNA damaging agent) among female rats (Kasahara et al., 2003). The rat animal model also is used frequently in cisplatin ototoxic research and has the following advantage: wide biochemical characterization, resistance to middle ear infection and the ability to survive chronic and acute ototoxic and anesthetic treatment (Hatzopoulos et al., 2002; Laurell et al., 2002; Martin, et al., 1999). The rat animal model was used in this study. The Fischer344 rat is a widely used albino rat strain, particularly in toxicology and cancer research (Popelar, Groh, Mazelova & Syka, 2003). Previous research revealed that female Fischer344 rats are excellent models for chronic (multiple injections) cisplatin treatment studies (Li et al., 2001; Li et al., 2002; Minami, Sha & Schacht, 2004). A factorial design (2 x 3 x 2) using Fischer344 rats as subjects was implemented in this dissertation (see the next section for a detailed decription of the experimental design). There were two treatment groups (cisplatin & saline vehichle), three survival times and two analysis methods (polymerase-chain reaction and immunohistochemistry) with five animals per group. Five

animals per group typically provide enough tissue in order to detect significant differences in gene expression between experimental and control groups (Balaban, Zhou & Li, 2003; Stankovic & Corfas, 2003). A power analysis (Bausell & Li, 2002) indicated that five rats per group yields a 77% chance (i.e., power = 0.77) of detecting an effect size of 2.0 between the experimental and control groups using an independent samples t-test (two-tailed alpha = 0.05).

All Fischer344 rats (140-160 g) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories, Malvern, PA, USA. The animals were housed in a room  $(23 \pm 2^{\circ} \text{ C})$  on a 12-h light/dark cycle. All experimental protocols were performed according to National Institute of Health (NIH) guidelines and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA. The IACUC approval process certifies that all protocols are in compliance with the United States Department of Agriculture and NIH guidelines for ethical treatment of animals and that all attempts were made to minimize both animal use and suffering.

#### **B.** EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Animal studies on cisplatin ototoxicity typically involve acute (single injection) treatment. For instance, in rat studies, a single dose of 16 mg/kg, i.p. is typically administered, which effectively results in hair cell and neural degeneration. Such treatment overdose does not allow for the study of gene and protein expression among vulnerable cochlear cells (e.g., hair cells & neurons) since they easily degenerate. Recent work on cisplatin ototoxicity in the Fischer344 rat

established a treatment regimen that does not overdose the animals and allows for tissue harvesting after cisplatin treatment (Minami, Sha & Schacht, 2004). This treatment regimen prevents adverse effects such as morbidity, excess weight loss and nephrotoxicity. For instance, Fischer344 rats are treated with two cycles of cisplatin, each cycle consists of four days of treatment (1 mg/kg, i.p., twice daily) separated by 10 days of rest. In order to study gene and protein expression of NER factors in the cochlea, this chronic (see Table 3) cisplatin treatment regimen (Minami, Sha & Schacht, 2004) was implimented. Briefly, Fischer344 rats received cisplatin (2 x 1 mg/kg, i.p.) and saline (10 ml, s.c.) injections on days 1-4 of the study (treatment cycle 1). On day five, 10 of these rats received anesthesia for auditory screening followed by pentobarbital overdose and euthanasia. Five of these rats were perfused transcardially with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) followed by periodate-lysine-paraformaldehyde (PLP) for immunohistochemistry; tissue from the other five rats was harvested and frozen for polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The remaining 20 animals received saline (10 ml, s.c.) treatment daily for hydration on days 5-14. On days 15-18 the rats received cisplatin (2 x 1 mg/kg, i.p. daily) and saline (10 ml, s.c., daily) injections (treatment cycle 2). On day 19, 10 of these rats were anesthetized for auditory screening followed by pentobarbital overdose and euthanasia. Five of these rats were perfused transcardially with PBS followed by PLP for immunohistochemistry; tissue from the other five rats was harvested and frozen for PCR. The remaining 10 animals received saline (10 ml, s.c.) treatment daily for hydration on days 19-22. On day 22 the remaining rats (N =10) were anesthetized for auditory screening followed by pentobarbital overdose and euthanasia. Five of these rats were perfused transcardially with PBS followed by PLP for immunohistochemistry; tissue from the other five rats was harvested and frozen for

PCR. A control group received the same treatment as the experimental group except this group received saline vehicle instead of cisplatin.

The aims of this study were concerned with gene and protein expression of cochlear cells (e.g., hair cells and neurons). Cisplatin easily compromises cochlear integrity by damaging cochlear cells. In order to assess gene and protein expression, the cochlear cells must be functioning. Previous experiments using the same cisplatin treatment regimen used in this dissertation (see table 3) revealed that damage to cochlear cells only occur when the mean difference in auditory brainstem response thresholds between cisplatin and saline treated rats exceeded 40 dB at 16 kHz or higher frequencies (Minami, Sha & Schacht, 2004). In this dissertation two physiological measures were used to monitor cochlear integrity after cisplatin treatment to verify appropriate cell function. The auditory brainstem response (ABR) and otoacoustic emission (OAE) served as physiological screening measures of cochlear integrity among experimental and control animals. The OAE measurements are sensitive to changes in cochlear mechanics. This is particularly important because normal cochlear mechanics are dependent on adequate OHC function and cisplatin damage OHCs. The ABR measurements are sensitive to changes in cochlear mechanics and neural synchrony. This is particularly important because cisplatin preferentially kills OHCs and neurons. The combined use of both OAE and ABR allows for monitoring of cochlear and neural alterations as a function of cisplatin treatment.

The ABR was recorded under general anesthesia (ketamine 75 mg/kg, i.p. & xylazine 8 mg/kg, i.p.) (Minami, Sha & Schacht, 2004). The rats were placed on a heating pad maintained at  $38^{\circ} \pm 5^{\circ}$  C. All recordings were performed in a sound isolation chamber. Six subdermal needle electrodes were used for two channel recordings. Two electrodes (positive) were placed on the vertex, two were placed below the right and left mastoids (negatives) and one electrode

(ground) was placed in the dorsum close to the tail. The stimuli were synthesized digitally and presented through an insert earphone (Etymotic Research ER-3A). The transducer was coupled acoustically to the ear with a pediatric probe tip. The intensity of the acoustic stimuli was expressed in decibel sound pressure level (dB SPL). The animals were presented with a stimulus intensity series that was initially presented at 90 dB SPL and progressively lowered in 10 dB steps. The stimulus frequencies were 4, 8 and 16 kHz tone pips (1 ms rise-fall time, 10 ms plateau). Each ABR recording represented the average of individually amplified and filtered responses. The cubic  $2f_{1}$ - $f_{2}$  distortion product otoacoustic emission (DPOAE) was recorded using two primaries,  $f_{1}$  and  $f_{2}$  (ratio  $f_{2}/f_{1} = 1.22$ ). The primary tone levels (L) for  $f_{1}$  and  $f_{2}$  were  $L_{1}/L_{2} = 60/50$  dB SPL. DP-grams (the function of DPOAE level on increasing stimulus frequency) were recorded with a resolution of four points per octave regarding  $f_{2}$ . Both ABR and DPOAE were recorded using Intelligent Hearing System's Smart EP/DPOAE technology.

#### Table 3: Cisplatin Treatment Regimen

Group n = 60	Days 1-4 (cycle 1) n = 60	Day 5 n = 60 - 20	Days 5-14 n = 40	Day 15-18 (cycle 2) n = 40	Day 19 n = 40 - 20	Day 19-21 n = 20	Day 22 n = 20 - 20
Experimental N = 30	Cisplatin treatment N = 30	ABR & OAE (N =10)	Rest period for the 20 remaining	Cisplatin treatment N = 20	ABR & OAE (N =10)	Rest period for the 10 remaining	ABR & OAE (N =10)
		euthanasia for: 1. IHC, N =5 2. PCR, N =5	rats		euthanasia for: 1. IHC, N =5 2. PCR, N =5	rats	euthanasia for: 1. IHC, N =5 2. PCR, N =5
Control N = 30	Saline treatment N = 30	ABR & OAE (N =10) euthanasia	Rest period for the 20 remaining rats	Saline treatment N = 20	ABR & OAE (N =10) euthanasia	Rest period for the 10 remaining rats	ABR & OAE (N =10) euthanasia
		for: 1. IHC, N =5 2. PCR, N =5			for: 1. IHC, N =5 2. PCR, N =5		for: 1. IHC, N =5 2. PCR, N =5

IHC = immunohistochemistry

PCR = polymerase chain reaction

ABR = auditory brainstem response

OAE = otoacosutic emissions

n = total animals in both groups

N = total animals within a group

#### C. PROTOCOL FOR AIM 1

In aim one, the hypothesis was that cisplatin treatment potentiates expression of the lesion identification (*xpc*) and verification (*xpa*) genes of GG-NER in the cochlea. Real-time reverse-transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (rt-RT-qPCR) was used to quantify changes in expression of the *xpc* and *xpa* genes after cisplatin treatment.

Two month old Fischer344 female rats (140-160 g) were sacrificed by decapitation following pentobarbital anesthesia (100 mg/kg, i.p.). Cochlear tissues were rapidly dissected under a stereomicroscope in ice-cold PBS (pH 7.4), frozen with dry ice and stored in TRIzol<sup>TM</sup>

reagent (Gibco, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) at -80°C for later processing. Tissues were then thawed and homogenized in TRIzol<sup>™</sup> reagent (1 ml per 50-100 mg of tissue). Chloroform was then added and the mixture was centrifuged in order to separate the RNA phase from the DNA phase. The RNA phase was used for RNA precipitation using isopropyl alcohol. The RNA samples were rinsed with 75% ethanol and solubilized with RNase-free water. The RNA was then digested with DNase I (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA) to remove DNA contamination.

The DNA-free RNA was converted to recombinant DNA (cDNA) through RT. The RT reaction included 10  $\mu$ l of 10 x PCR Taq Gold Buffer II (Applied Biosystems Inc., Foster City, CA), 30  $\mu$ l of 25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 4  $\mu$ l of 25 mM of each dNTP, 5  $\mu$ l of 100  $\mu$ M of random primer (GIBCO), 2  $\mu$ l of RNasin (40 units; Applied Biosystems Inc.), 1.25  $\mu$ l of SuperScript II (250 units; GIBCO) and 200 ng of DNA-free total RNA. The reaction mixture was incubated at 25° C for 10 min, 48° C for 30 min, and 95° C for 5 min in a 9600 thermocycler (Applied Biosystems Inc.).

SYBR Green PCR chemistry (Applied Biosystems Inc.) was used for real-time PCR amplification. The PCR reaction included 5  $\mu$ L of 10X SYBR PCR Buffer, 6  $\mu$ L of 25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 4  $\mu$ L of each dNTPs (blended with 2.5 mM dATP, dGTP and dCTP, and 5 mM dUTP), 2.5  $\mu$ L of each gene-specific primer (5  $\mu$ M), 0.5  $\mu$ L of AmpErase UNG (0.5 unit), 0.25  $\mu$ l of AmpliTaq Gold (1.25 units) and 5  $\mu$ L of cDNA in a final volume of 50  $\mu$ L. The conditions for the TaqMan PCR were as follows: 50° C for 2 min, 95° C for 12 min, and 40 cycles at 95° C for 15 sec, and 60° C for 1 min in an ABI PRISM 7700 Sequence Detection system (Applied Biosystems Inc.). Gene-specific primers for the target molecules are shown in Table 4.

#### Table 4: Gene-specific primers for PCR of xpc, xpa and 18S rRNA genes

*xpc* (accession no. XM\_232194) *Forward primer* 5'-CAGCCTTTGCCCACCTCCA-3' *Reverse primer* 5'-TCCACGACAATACCCAAGGAC-3'

*xpa* (accession no. XM\_216403) *Forward primer* 5'-AAGAAGAACCCTCGCCATTCA-3' *Reverse primer* 5'-TTCAAGAGCCCGCTTTACAAC-3'

*Rat 18S rRNA* (accession no. X01117) *Forward primer* 5'-AAGCCATGCATGTCTAAGTACGCA-3' *Reverse primer* 5'-AAGTAGGAGAGGAGCGAGCGACCA-3'

xpc/a: xeroderma pigmentosum c/a

#### 1. Data Analysis for Aim 1

The 7700 Sequence Detection Software (Applied Biosystems Inc.) was used for instrument control, automated data collection, and data analysis. For each assay, logarithmic amplification plots were constructed based on cDNA copy number of a target gene normalized to the ROX internal passive reference (log  $\Delta$ Rn) versus cycle number. The cycle number at which the signal crossed the mid-linear portion of the log  $\Delta$ Rn-cycle function was defined as the cycle threshold (Ct) (Schmittgen et al., 2000). Because the input cDNA copy number and Ct are inversely related, a sample that contains more copies of the template will have a data line that crosses the Ct at an earlier cycle compared to one containing fewer copies of the template. The level of gene expression was calculated using  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$  (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001). The  $\Delta$ Ct represents the Ct

of the target gene normalized to the rat endogenous 18S rRNA ( $\Delta Ct = Ct_{Target} - Ct_{18S rRNA}$ ). The 2  $^{-\Delta Ct}$  calculation satisfies assumptions for the use of parametric statistics such as t-tests and ANOVA (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

#### D. PROTOCOL AND DATA ANALYSIS FOR AIMS 2 AND 3

In aim two, the hypothesis was that terminally differentiated cochlear cells will not express the hallmark GG-NER protein, XPC, following cisplatin treatment. Immunohistochemical staining of para-mid-modiolar cochlear sections was used to demonstrate post-translational protein expression of XPC among various cochlear cells as a function of the cisplatin treatment regiment. In aim three, the hypothesis was that basal OHCs will not express XPC and XPA proteins while apical OHCs will express XPA following cisplatin treatment. Immunohistochemical staining of para-mid-modiolar cochlear sections was used to demonstrate post-translational protein expression of XPC and XPA among basal and apical cells as a function of the cisplatin treatment regiment. Immunohistochemistry reveals the location of a target molecule in cells/tissues. Data analysis is based on microscopic evaluation of cells/tissues embedded on glass slides. Dr. Balaban and the author evaluated the slides and agreed on the presence or absence of positive staining. Spiral ganglion cells with or without positive staining were counted by the author. The proportion of cells with nuclear or cytoplasmic staining were determined from the total number of cells at each cochlear turn.

Animals were sacrificed with pentobarbital anesthesia (100 mg/kg, i.p.) and perfused transcardially with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 0.9% NaCl in 50 mM phosphate buffer, pH 7.3), followed by periodate-lysine-paraformaldehyde (PLP) fixative (McLean and Nakane, 1974). The heads were removed, skinned and then post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for at least 24 hrs at 22° C. Decalcification occurred in 10% formic acid then neutralized overnight in 5% sodium sulfite by standard methods prior to trimming and paraffin embedding. Paraffin embedded sections were cut with a microtome at 8 µm and mounted on subbed slides. The sections were then stored at 22° C prior to immunohistochemistry.

For immunohistochemistry, the sections were de-paraffinized and treated for 10 minutes with 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in dH<sub>2</sub>O and then rinsed thoroughly with dH<sub>2</sub>O. They were then heated for 20 minutes at 90-98° C in a low pH (0.80-3.06) sodium citrate-citric acid buffer and rinsed thoroughly with PBS. Afterwards, the sections were pre-treated with a blocking solution of 10% Triton X-100 and 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA; Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) in PBS for 1 hour. The primary antibodies were diluted in the blocking solution at a 1:200 concentration. The primary antibodies were anti-XPC and anti-XPA (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.). For negative controls the primary antibody was omitted. After 24 hour incubation at 22° C with the primary anti-bodies the sections were rinsed with PBS. A biotinylated secondary antibody (Vector Laboratories, Temecula, CA, USA) was diluted 1:500 in PBS +2% BSA for one hour at 22° C. The sections were then rinsed in PBS, incubated with Vectastain ABC reagent (Vector Laboratories) for one hour, rinsed again with PBS and then treated with a solution of Trizma preset crystals (1.58 g; Sigma). After this the sections were washed in PBS and then stained for 10 minutes with 3.3°-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB staining).

#### **IV. CHAPTER III**

Previous research implementing the exact cisplatin treatment regimen as described in this dissertation revealed that cochlear cell loss only occured when the mean ABR threshold shift (threshold after cisplatin treatment for the experimental group minus threshold after saline treatment for the control group) exceeded 40 dB (Minami, Sha & Schacht, 2004). The mean ABR threshold difference between groups from the current work did not exceed 14 dB (see Table 5). The mean OAE amplitude difference between groups (amplitude after saline treatment for the control group minus amplitude after cisplatin treatment for the experimental group) were at worst only 6 dB (see Table 6). Microscopy of the cochlea supported the ABR and OAE results by showing that hair cells and neurons did not degenerate after cisplatin treatment (see Figures 17 & 18). Therefore, the combined results verified that cochlear hair cells and neurons did not degenerate. This is important because cochlear hair cells and neurons are needed to measure gene and protein expression after cisplatin treatment.

## Table 5: mean ABR difference between groups

Day	4 kHz	8 kHz	16 kHz
5	14(6)	14(5)	13(4)
19	3(5)	8(4)	9(4)
22	9(5)	11(4)	12(5)

Numbers in parenthesis represent standard error

Table 6:	mean OAE difference between groups
----------	------------------------------------

Day	1kHz	2kHz	3kHz	4 kHz	5kHz	6kHz	7kHz	8 kHz
5	5(4)	2(4)	2(3)	0(3)	2(2)	3(2)	2(3)	6(3)
19	3(5)	-3(4)	0(3)	1(2)	5(4)	0(2)	0(3)	-4(3)
22	-5(3)	-5(2)	-4(2)	-4(2)	-7(2)	-5(2)	-4(2)	-7(3)

Numbers in parenthesis represent standard error

#### A. RESULTS FOR AIM 1

In aim one, the hypothesis was that cisplatin treatment potentiates expression of the lesion identification (xpc) and verification (xpa) genes of GG-NER in the cochlea. Real-time reversetranscription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (rt-RT-qPCR) was used to quantify changes in expression of the *xpc* and *xpa* genes after cisplatin and saline (control) treatment. Figure 13, shows cumulative gene expression level for *xpc* after cisplatin and saline treatment. The level of expression of xpc is greater after cisplatin treatment compared to expression after saline An independent samples t-test comparing mean *xpc* gene expression after cisplatin treatment. and saline treatment found a significant difference between the means of the two treatment groups (t(34) = -6.648, p < .001). Figure 14, shows the level of expression of xpc after the first (day 5) and second (day 19) treatment cycles and fours days after the last treatment cycle (day 22). The level of xpc mRNA expression was greater after cisplatin treatment on all days compared to saline treatment. An independent samples t-test comparing mean xpc mRNA expression for day 5 (t(10) = -3.164, p < .05), day 19 (t(10) = -3.817, p < .01) and day 22 (t(10)= -5.622, p < .001) found a significant difference between the means of the cisplatin and saline treated groups on each of the three days. Further analysis using a one-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed that xpc gene expression did not significantly change across days during saline (F(2,10) = 1.763, p > .05) or cisplatin (F(2,10) = .503, p > .05) treatment. Although, the difference in mRNA expression between cisplatin and saline treatment is statistically significant this difference is less that 2-fold and represents a small change in gene expression.

Figure 15 shows cumulative gene expression level for xpa after cisplatin and saline treatment. The level of expression of xpa is greater after cisplatin treatment compared to

expression after saline treatment. An independent samples t-test comparing mean xpa gene expression after cisplatin and saline treatment found a significant difference between the means of the two treatment groups (t(34) = -3.926, p < .001). Figure 16 shows the level of expression of xpa after the first (day 5) and second (day 19) treatment cycles and four days after the last treatment cycle (day 22). The level of xpa gene expression was greater after cisplatin treatment on days 5 and 19 compared to gene expression after saline treatment. An independent samples ttest comparing mean xpa gene expression for day 5 (t(10) = -2.706, p < .05) and day 19 (t(10) =-6.899, p < .001) found a significant difference between the means of the cisplatin and saline treated groups on each day. There was no difference in *xpa* gene expression between cisplatin and saline treated groups four days after the last treatment cycle (day 22). An independent samples t-test was calculated comparing the mean xpa gene expression between cisplatin and saline treated groups. No significant difference was found (t(10) = .186, p > .05) between the means on day 22. Further analysis using a one-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed that *xpa* gene expression significantly changed across days during saline (F(2,10) = 56.390, p < .001) treatment while there was no significant differences during cisplatin (F(2,10) = 2.478, p > .05) treatment. Post-hoc analysis using the protected t-test revealed that during saline treatment xpa gene expression significantly changed between days 5 and 19, and days 19 and 22. There was no significant difference between days 5 and 22. Although, the difference in mRNA expression between cisplatin and saline treatment on days 5 and 19 is statistically significant this difference is less that 2-fold and represents a small change in gene expression.



Figure 13: Cumulative XPC gene expression level for saline and cisplatin treated groups. Each bar represents mean  $\pm$  S.E.



Figure 14: XPC gene expression level for saline and cisplatin treated groups. Each bar represents mean  $\pm$  S.E.



Figure 15: Cumulative XPA gene expression level for saline and cisplatin treated groups. Each bar represents mean  $\pm$  S.E.



Figure 16: XPA gene expression level for saline and cisplatin treated groups. Each bar represents mean  $\pm$  S.E.

#### **B. RESULTS FOR AIM 2**

In aim two, the hypothesis was that terminally differentiated cochlear cells will not express the hallmark GG-NER protein, xeroderma pigmentosum C (XPC), following cisplatin treatment. Immunohistochemistry was used to assess XPC protein expression among terminally differentiated cochlear cells following cisplatin treatment. In the cochlea terminally differentiated cells are neurons and hair cells. Figure 17 shows XPC protein expression in cochlear neurons (spiral ganglion cells) following cisplatin treatment. The XPC protein is shown localized in the nucleus of spiral ganglion cells after cisplatin treatment. After saline treatment the XPC protein was localized in the cytoplasm of spiral ganglion cells. Figure 18 shows XPC protein is consistently localized in the nucleus of hair cells following cisplatin treatment. The XPC protein is consistently localized in the nucleus of hair cells following cisplatin treatment.

#### C. RESULTS FROM AIM 3

In aim three, the hypothesis was that basal OHCs will not express XPC and xeroderma pigmentosum A (XPA) proteins while apical OHCs will express XPA following cisplatin treatment. Immunohistochemistry was used to assess XPC and XPA protein expression among hair cells from both the basal and apical coils of the cochlea. Figure 18, reveals that both XPC and XPA were expressed in the nucleus among OHCs at the basal and apical coils of the cochlea.

Further analysis revealed that there was a difference in XPC and XPA protein expression between basal and apical spiral ganglion cells. Figure 19, plots the proportion of spiral ganglion cells expressing XPC in their nucleus or cytoplasm after either cisplatin or saline treatment. A series of 3 (days; 5, 19 & 22) x 2 (treatment; saline vs. cisplatin) between subjects factorial ANOVAs was calculated comparing the proportion of immunoreactive spiral ganglion cells at the apex, middle and basal turns of the cochlea. Table 7 summarizes the ANOVA analysis. Nuclear immunoreactivity at the apex of the cochlea revealed significant main effects for days and treatment and an interaction effect. Post-hoc analysis revealed significant differences between the proportion of immunoreactive cells on day 5 compared to day 19 (Bonferroni/Dunntest: p < .05) and day 22 (Bonferroni/Dunn-test: p < .05). Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity at the apex of the cochlea revealed a significant interaction effect and no main effects. Nuclear immunoreactivity at the middle of the cochlea revealed significant main effects for days and treatment and an interaction effect. Post-hoc analysis revealed significant differences between the proportion of immunoreactive cells on day 5 compared to day 19 (Bonferroni/Dunn-test: p < p.05) but not day 22 (Bonferroni/Dunn-test: p > .05). Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity at the middle of the cochlea revealed no significant interaction or main effects. Nuclear

immunoreactivity at the base of the cochlea only revealed a significant main effect for treatment. Cisplatin treatment resulted in significantly greater immunoreactive cells in the nucleus than saline treatment. Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity at the base of the cochlea revealed a significant interaction effect and no main effects. These results suggest that a nuclear pattern of immunoreactivity is characteristic of cisplatin intoxication.

Table 7: Results of Six two-way ANOVAs for XPC.

		1 -values						
		Apex		Middle		Base		
Source	df	Nuclear	Cytoplasmic	Nuclear	Cytoplasmic	Nuclear	Cytoplasmic	
Days (D)	2	9.610 <sup>a</sup>	3.047	9.760 <sup>a</sup>	0.986	0.941	2.815	
Treatment (T)	1	10.521 <sup>a</sup>	1.093	13.459 <sup>a</sup>	2.170	5.990 <sup>b</sup>	0.080	
D x T	2	9.675 <sup>a</sup>	3.696 <sup>b</sup>	$5.170^{b}$	1.750	0.717	3.744 <sup>b</sup>	
MS Error	24	0.018	0.046	0.006	0.059	0.025	0.026	

F\_values

b = p < .05

Figure 20 plots the proportion of spiral ganglion cells expressing XPA in their nucleus or cytoplasm after either cisplatin or saline treatment. A series of 3 (days; 5, 19 & 22) x 2 (treatment; saline vs. cisplatin) between subjects factorial ANOVAs was calculated comparing the proportion of immunoreactive spiral ganglion cells at the apex, middle and basal turns of the cochlea. Table 8 summarizes the ANOVA analyses. Nuclear immunoreactivity at the apex of the cochlea revealed only a significant main effect for treatment where cisplatin treatment resulted in greater nuclear immunoreactivity. Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity at the apex of the cochlea revealed only a significant main effect for treatment where saline treatment resulted in greater cytoplasmic immunoreactivity. Nuclear immunoreactivity at the middle of the cochlea revealed only a significant main effect for treatment where cisplatin treatment resulted in greater nuclear immunoreactivity. Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity at the middle of the cochlea revealed only a significant main effect for treatment where saline treatment resulted in greater cytoplasmic immunoreactivity. Nuclear immunoreactivity at the base of the cochlea revealed only a significant main effect for treatment where cisplatin treatment resulted in greater nuclear immunoreactivity. Cytoplasmic immunoreactivity at the base of the cochlea revealed a significant main effect for treatment and an interaction effect. The total number of immunoreactive cells is approximately equal for the saline or cisplatin treated groups. For instance, after saline treatment about 50% of spiral ganglion cells showed cytoplasmic immunoreactivity and about 50% showed nuclear immunoreactivity after cisplatin treatment. This suggests that protein translocation is occurring among a particular population of spiral ganglion cells. Among this population, under normal conditions the proteins are in the cytoplasm where they are synthesized and primed but after cisplatin treatment they translocate to the nucleus where they are needed.

# **Table 8:** Results of Six two-way ANOVAs for XPA.

		<i>F</i> -values					
	Apex		Middle		Base		
df	Nuclear	Cytoplasmic	Nuclear	Cytoplasmic	Nuclear	Cytoplasmic	
2	2.186	1.357	2.648	0.740	2.178	0.645	
1	6.538 <sup>b</sup>	8.069 <sup>a</sup>	$8.740^{a}$	9.459 <sup>a</sup>	6.244 <sup>b</sup>	10.609 <sup>a</sup>	
2	3.256	1.430	3.119	2.632	3.113	3.595 <sup>b</sup>	
24	0.040	0.056	0.036	0.027	0.040	0.018	
	<i>df</i> 2 1 2 24	<i>df Nuclear</i> 2 2.186 1 6.538 <sup>b</sup> 2 3.256 24 0.040	Apex           df         Nuclear         Cytoplasmic           2         2.186         1.357           1         6.538 <sup>b</sup> 8.069 <sup>a</sup> 2         3.256         1.430           24         0.040         0.056	ApexMidfNuclearCytoplasmicNuclear2 $2.186$ $1.357$ $2.648$ 1 $6.538^{b}$ $8.069^{a}$ $8.740^{a}$ 2 $3.256$ $1.430$ $3.119$ 24 $0.040$ $0.056$ $0.036$	Apex         Middle           df         Nuclear         Cytoplasmic         Nuclear         Cytoplasmic           2         2.186         1.357         2.648         0.740           1         6.538 <sup>b</sup> 8.069 <sup>a</sup> 8.740 <sup>a</sup> 9.459 <sup>a</sup> 2         3.256         1.430         3.119         2.632           24         0.040         0.056         0.036         0.027	ApexMiddleBasedfNuclearCytoplasmicNuclearCytoplasmicNuclear22.186 $1.357$ 2.648 $0.740$ $2.178$ 1 $6.538^{b}$ $8.069^{a}$ $8.740^{a}$ $9.459^{a}$ $6.244^{b}$ 2 $3.256$ $1.430$ $3.119$ $2.632$ $3.113$ 24 $0.040$ $0.056$ $0.036$ $0.027$ $0.040$	

b = p < .05



**Figure 17:** Intracellular distribution of the XPC protein in cochlear neurons (spiral ganglion cells). A: Immunoreactivity is absent when anti-XPC antibody is omited (negative control) during immunohistochemistry (Bar = 50  $\mu$ m). B: High magnification (100x oil immersion objective) of a selected region of A (Bar = 10  $\mu$ m). C, Schematic description of cellular appearance with negative immunoreactivity. D: XPC is present in spiral ganglion neurons under normal conditions (control). E: High magnification of a selected region of D reveals XPC-immunoreactivity in the cytoplasm of normal spiral ganglion neurons. F: Schematic description of cellular appearance with cytoplasmic immunoreactivity. G: XPC is present in spiral ganglion neurons after cisplatin treatment (experimental condition). H: High magnification of a selected region of a selected region of Spiral ganglion cells. I: Schematic description of cellular appearance with nuclear immunoreactivity.



**Figure 18:** Representative distribution of XPC and XPA proteins among cells of the organ of Corti after cisplatin treatment cycles (days 5 and 19) and four days after the last treatment cycle (day 22). Both proteins were expressed among supporting cells and hair cells. Outer hair cells (OHC, see arrows) showed prominent immunoreactivity. A: Schematic representation of the organ of Corti showing hair cells. B: Immunoreactivity is absent when anti-XPC or anti-XPA antibody is omited (negative control) during immunohistochemistry. C-E: XPC is present among OHCs at all turns of the cochlea. F-H: XPA is present among OHCs at all turns of the cochlea. Bars =  $10 \mu m$ .



**Figure 19:** Proportion of nuclear or cytoplasmic XPC immunoreactive spiral ganglion cells at apical, middle and basal turns of the cochlea. **A-B**, immunoreactive cells on day 5. **C-D**, immunoreactive cells on day 19. **E-F**, immunoreactive cells on day 22.


**Figure 20**: Proportion of nuclear or cytoplasmic XPA immunoreactive spiral ganglion cells at apical, middle and basal turns of the cochlea. **A-B**, immunoreactive cells on day 5. **C-D**, immunoreactive cells on day 19. **E-F**, immunoreactive cells on day 22.

## V. CHAPTER IV

Aim 1 of this dissertation tested the hypothesis that cisplatin treatment would potentiate expression of the *xpc* and *xpa* genes. The results revealed that cisplatin treatment lead to a statistically significant increase in gene expression. Aim 2 of this dissertation tested the hypothesis that terminally differentiated cells (e.g., neurons and hair cells) would not express XPC. The results showed for the first time that neurons and hair cells are capable of expressing XPC. Aim 3 of this dissertation tested the hypothesis that basal OHCs will not express XPC and XPA while apical OHCs would express XPA following cisplatin treatment. The results revealed that XPC and XPA were expressed among hair cells from all cochlear turns. An integrated view of these and related findings are discussed below.

The GG-NER pathway is the major defense strategy by which cisplatin resistant tumors cells identify and repair cisplatin induced DNA damage. The rate-limiting steps in this pathway are controlled by the XPC and XPA proteins. Therefore, the production of these proteins is important to defend the genome from cisplatin DNA damage. Protein production first begins with transcription. Transcription is the process of producing mRNA molecules. The mRNAs are short polymers that carry the genetic code represented by the gene being transcribed. The mRNA from the *xpc* and *xpa* genes were quantified among cisplatin and saline treated groups. The level of mRNA was statistically significant between groups but may not be biologically important because the difference was less than two fold. This suggests that the activity of the protein may be more informative than the mRNA level. The second step in protein production is

translation. Translation occurs at ribosomes on rough endoplasmic reticulum (and free ribosomes) which are located in the cytoplasm. Translation is the process of converting the genetic code carried by the mRNA molecules into assembled polypeptides.

XPC and XPA are termed nuclear enzymes because they only function in the nucleus by binding damaged DNA. In cellular terms, this activation requires that the enzyme translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. Figures 17, 19 & 20 reveal that under normal conditions XPC and XPA are expressed predominantly in the cytoplasm of approximately 50% of spiral ganglion cells. This suggests that XPC and XPA are being translated but are not yet needed for any substantial amount of DNA repair. Therefore, accumulation of XPC and XPA in the cytoplasm of a proportion of spiral ganglion cells implies that these cells produce more of the enzymes than are needed to meet the immediate need for DNA damage. Here, cytoplasmic expression of these enzymes in ganglion cells may represent a functional reserve for response to fluxes in DNA damage. Under normal conditions OHCs express XPC and XPA in their nucleus which suggests that all of the translated enzyme is needed to bind to basal levels of damaged DNA. Hence, it is suggested that hair cells lack a functional reserve capacity for GG-NER. This framework is further supported by the observation that cisplatin treatment results in translocation of XPA and XPC from the cytoplasm to the nucleus among spiral ganglion cells. This implies that GG-NER capacity may be calibrated to basal demand in hair cells, but capable of dealing with surges in demand in ganglion cells.

Figures 19 and 20 revealed that XPC and XPA respond (translocate) to cisplatin treatment. The response of XPC and XPA to DNA damage is expected given their roles in GG-NER (Thoma & Vasquez, 2003). XPC binds to sites of cisplatin damage across the genome (Riedl, Hanaoka & Egly, 2003). Once XPC localizes DNA damage it is replaced by XPA at the sight of damage (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999). XPA verifies the damage and remains at the site until the damage is repaired (de Laat, Jaspers & Hoeijmakes, 1999; Riedl, Hanaoka & Egly, 2003). Figures 19 and 20 reveal that initial treatment with cisplatin (day 5) resulted in a significant increase in the proportion of spiral ganglion cells with XPC translocation to the nucleus (relative to control). This pattern is consistent with mobilization of a GG-NER response to cisplatin DNA damage in the nucleus. XPA also showed significant nuclear translocation on day 5 which further supports a GG-NER response to cisplatin DNA damage in the nucleus. On day 19 XPC revealed significant cytoplasmic reactivity which suggests an increase in translation but no nuclear translocation while XPA remained significantly expressed in the nucleus. This suggests that XPC was no longer needed for lesion localization but remained primed in the cytoplasm. XPA would be expected to remain significantly expressed in the nucleus because it determines whether a particular DNA damage is worth repairing and it oversees the repair process. This is further supported by the fact that no XPA nuclear translocation was observed after the animals recovered from cisplatin treatment (day 22). Additionally, on day 22 XPC remained in the cytoplasm (e.g., no nuclear translocation), which suggest that repair was completed before day 22.

Figures 19 and 20 further revealed that all turns of the cochlea responded similarly to cisplatin treatment; however the degree and latency of response differed between turns. For instance, on day 5 all turns showed XPC and XPA nuclear translocation; however the base revealed the lowest degree of nuclear translocation compared to the other turns and unlike the other turns, was not significantly different from the control. The XPC protein exhibited greater variability in nuclear translocation at the base than the XPA protein. This may be because XPC DNA binding is labile while XPA DNA binding is stable. For instance, XPC binds each site of

DNA damage but it is replaced by XPA which remains at the site of damage until repair is complete. This suggests that the base may initially exhibit greater levels of DNA damage than other cochlear turns and is manifested as labile XPC DNA binding coupled with stable XPA DNA binding. On day 19 all turns showed nuclear translocation of XPA which was significantly different from the control; however the base revealed the highest degree of nuclear translocation compared to the other turns, which suggest a latent response by the base. No significant nuclear translocation was observed for XPC regardless of cochlear turn, which would be expected because XPC is no longer needed on day 19. On day 22 (after recovery) there was no difference in response between cochlear turns for either protein. This uniformed response by all cochlear turns supports the hypothesis that repair was completed before day 22.

In summary, the current work has demonstrated that spiral ganglion cells exhibit a reserved capacity of translated XPC and XPA in their cytoplasm primed for nuclear translocation from cisplatin intoxication. This nuclear translocation is more efficient among apical spiral ganglion cells than basal spiral ganglion cells. Basal spiral ganglion cells translocate XPC and XPA slower and with less magnitude than apical cells. This novel finding is important because basal spiral ganglion cells degenerate before apical cells and typically exhibit greater damage than apical cells. Therefore, the difference in nuclear translocation between basal and apical ganglion cells may underlie their difference in susceptibility to cisplatin ototoxicity.

## APPENDIX

## GLOSSARY

Acid	a substance that has the ability to react with bases
	and certain metals to form salts
Adenine	a purine
Adduct	a combination of two or more independently stable
	compounds by means of van der Waals' forces, coordinate
	bond or covalent bonds. An example of an adduct would
	be platinum or cisplatin bound to DNA
Affinity	preference
Amino acid	protein constituent
Antineoplastic	destroying, inhibiting or preventing the growth of tumors
Apoptosis	cell death
ATP	adenosine triphosphate, energy source in a cell
Autometallography	a chemical proceduce used to reveal the distribution of
	metals in cells/tissues
Base	a substance that reacts with an acid to form a salt
Conformation	structure
Coordination	the binding of a non-metal to a metal
Cysteine	amino acid
Cys	cysteine
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
Efflux	refers to the exit of substances from the cell
Electrophilic	electron accepting
Eukaryote	single celled or multicellular organism whose cells
	contain a distinct membrane bound nucleus
Filament	a threadlike structure, fiber
Free radical or radical	ion or molecule with an unpaired (extra) electron
Genotoxic	toxic to DNA
Glutathione	A polypeptide of glycine, cystine (a sulfur containing
	amino acid) and glutamic acid that occurs widely in plant
	and animal tissues and is important in biological oxidation-
	reduction reactions.
Ground state	the electron configuration of a an atom, ion or
	molecule
Guanine	purine
hHR23B	human homologue of RAD 23B, a protein that
	binds XPC
Homeostasis	the tendency of physiological systems to maintain internal
	stability

Influx	refers to the entry of substances in the cell
In vivo	occurring within a living organism
In vitro	in an artificial environment outside the living organism
Labile	constantly undergoing or likely to undergo change
Lewis acid classification	a classification system that considers acids as an electron
	pair acceptor
Ligand	a molecule that is attached to another molecule
Ligase	an enzyme (protein) that connects broken ends of DNA
Methionine	one of two amino acids that contain sulfur
Mitosis	cell division
Mitochondria	an organelle in the cytoplasm of nearly all eukaryotic cells
	that is important for cellular metabolism
Monohydrate	a hydrate that contains one molecule of water
Necrosis	the sum of the morphological changes indicative of cell
	death and caused by the progressive degenerative action of
	enzymes. It may affect groups of cells or part of a structure
	or an organ
Nenhrotoxicity	the state of being toxic to the kidney
NFR	nucleotide excision renair
Nucleonhilic	electron emitting
Ototoxicity	the state of being toxic to the inner ear
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen a protein involved
	in cell replication
nН	the symbol for the logarithm of the reciprocal of hydrogen
pri	ion concentration in gram atoms per liter used to express
	the acididty or alkalinity of a solution on a scale of 0 to 14
	where less than 7 represents acidity. 7 represents neutrality
	and more than 7 is alkalinity
Pharmacokination	the branch of pharmacology that studies the fate of
Filamacokinetics	nharmacological substances in the body as their
	absorption distribution matchelism and elimination
Dhanatuna	
Polymoroso	a molecule that synthesizes DNA or DNA
Prokorvoto	a molecule that synthesizes DINA of KINA
Durino	DNA bases (adening and guaning)
Put limiting	the rate controlling step (bettlengelt) in a reaction
Rate-Infitting	une rate-controlling step (bottleneck) in a reaction
КГС	replication factor C, a protein involved in
DDA	replication
KPA	replication protein A, a protein that binds to single-
DOG	stranded DNA
ROS	reactive oxygen species (an oxygen based
	tree radical)
Redox-active	refers to the ability of an atom, ion or molecule to catalize
	oxidation or reduction reactions
Replication	DNA synthesis
KNA	ribonucleic acid

Speciation	the exact chemical form or compound in which an element occurs in a sample
Spin state	the direction in which an electron circles an atom or ion
Sulfhydryl	a sulfur atom (S) bonded to a hydrogen (H) atom is a sulfhydryl (SH).
Terminally differentiated cells Termini	cells that do not divide or change their appearance the final point; the end
TFIIH	transcription factor two H, a protein complex
Thermodynamic	using or producing heat
Titration	method or process of determining the concentration of a dissolved substance in terms of the smallest amount of a reagent of known concentration required to bring about a given effect
Translocation	to move from one site to the other as in movement from the cytoplasm to the nucleus
Trans	having a pair of identical atoms on opposite sides of two atoms linked by a double bond
Transcription	gene expression
Transition metal	a metallic ion that is able to change electron configuration
Up-regulate	increase
Uptake	entry into the cell by either an active or passive process
Xenobiotic	a substance foreign to living systems
ХР	xeroderma pigmentosum, seven proteins labeled from A-G (e.g., XPA to XPG). Mutations in the genes that represent these proteins results in NER failure and increased cancer incidence.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adimoolam, S. & Ford, J. M. (2002). P53 and DNA damage-inducible expression of the xeroderma pigmentosum group C gene. <u>PNAS</u>, 99, 12985-12990.

Adler, H. I. & Hardigree, A. A. (1965). Postirradiation growth, division, and recovery in bacteria. <u>Radiat Res., 25, 92-102</u>.

Aggarwal, S. R. & Niroomand, R. I. (1983). Effect of cisplatin on the plasma membrane phosphatase affinities in sciatic sarcoma 180 cells. J. Histochem Cytochem, 31, 307-317.

Aguilar-Markulis, N. V., Beckley, S., Priore, R., & Mettlin, C., (1981). Auditory toxicity effects of long-term cis-dichlorodiammineplatinum II therapy in genitourinary cancer patients. <u>Journal of Surgical Oncology 16</u>, 111-123.

Akaboshi, M., Kawai, K., Maki, H., Akuta, K., Ujeno, Y. & Miyahara, T. (1992). The number of platinum atoms binding to DNA, RNA and protein molecules of HeLa cells treated with cisplatin at its mean lethal concentration. Jpn. J. Cancer Res., 83, 522-526.

Alam, S. A., Ikeda, K., Oshima, T., Suzuki, M., Kawase, T., Kikuchi, T. & Takasaka, T. (2000). Cisplatin-induced apoptotic cell death in Mongolian gerbil cochlea. <u>Hearing Research, 141</u>, 28-38.

Allday, M. J., Inman, G. J., Crawford, D. H. & Farrell, P. J. (1995). DNA damage in human B cells can induce apoptosis, preceeding from G1/S when p53 is transactivation competent and G2/M when it is transactivation defective. <u>EMBO J., 14</u>, 4994-5005.

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (1994). Guidelines for the audiologic management of individuals receiving cochleotoxic drug therapy. <u>ASHA 36 (Suppl.12)</u>, 11-19.

Amundson, S. A., Do, K. T., Shahab, S., Bittner, M., Meltzer, P., Trent, J. & Fornace, A. J. (2000). Identification of potential mRNA biomarkers in peripheral blood lymphocytes for human exposure to ionizing radiation. <u>Radiation Research</u>, 154, 342-346.

Andrews, P. A. & Howell, S. B. (1990). Cellular pharmacology of cisplatin: Perspectives on mechanisms of acquired resistance. <u>Cancer Cells, 2</u>, 35-43.

Andrews, P. A., Velury, S. Mann, S. C. & Howell, S. B. (1988). Cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II) accumulation in sensitive and resistant human ovarian carcinoma cells. <u>Cancer Research</u>, 48, 68-73.

Arnould, S., Hennebelle, I., Canal, P., Bugat, R. & Guichard, S. (2003). Cellular determinants of oxaliplatin sensitivity in colon cancer cell lines. <u>Eur J Cancer, 39</u>, 112-119.

Arslan, E., Orzan, E., & Santarelli, R., (1999). Global problem of drug-induced hearing loss. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 884, 1-14.

Asahina, H., Kuraoka, I., Shirakawa, M., Morita, E. H., Miura, N., Miyamoto, I., Ohtsuka, E., Okada, Y. Tanaka, K. (1994). The XPA protein is a zinc metalloprotein with an ability to recognize various kinds of DNA damage. <u>Mutation Research</u>, 315, 229-237.

Azuma, H., Takeuchi, S., Higashiyama, K., Ando M., Kakigi, A., Nakahira, M., Yamakawa, K. & Takeda, T. (2002). Bumetanide-induced enlargement of the intercellular space in the stria vascularis requires an active Na+-K+-ATPase. <u>Acta Otolaryngol., 122</u>, 816-821

Balaban, C. D., Zhou, J. & Li, H-S. (2003). Type 1 vanilloid receptor expression by mammalian inner ear ganglion cells. <u>Hearing Research, 175</u>. 165-170.

Baliga, R., Zhang, Z., Baliga, M., Ueda, N. & Shah, S. V. (1998). In vitro and in vivo evidence suggesting a role for iron in cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. <u>Kidney International</u>, 53, 394-401.

Bancroft, D. P., Lepre, C. A. & Lippard, S. J. (1990). <sup>195</sup>Pt NMR kinetic and mechanistic studies of *cis-* and *trans-*diamminedichloroplatinum(II) binding to DNA. <u>J. Am. Chem. Soc., 112</u>, 6860-6871.

Banfi, B., Malgrange, B., Knisz, J., Steger, K., Dubois-Dauphin, M. & Krause, K-H. (2004). NOX3, a superoxide-generating NADPH oxidase of the inner ear. <u>Journal of Biological</u> <u>Chemistry, 279</u>, 46065-46072.

Basiak, J., Kowalik, J., Maecka-Panas, E. & Drzewoski, J. (2000). DNA damage and repair in human lymphocytes exposed to three anticancer platinum drugs. <u>Teratogenesis, Carcinogenesis, and Mutagenesis, 20</u>, 119-131.

Bausell, R., B., & Li, Y-F. (2002). Power Analysis for Experimental Research: A practical guide for the Biological, Medical and Social Sciences. Cambridge, UK; Cambridge University Press.

Bellon, S. F., Coleman, J. H. & Lippard, S. J. (1991). DNA unwinding produced by site-specific intrastrand cross-links of the antitumor drug cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II). <u>Biochemistry</u>, <u>30</u>, 8026-8035.

Berggren, D. Liu, W., Frenz, D. & van de Water, T. (2003). Spontaneous hair-cell renewal following gentamicin exposure in postnatal rat utricular explants. <u>Hearing Research, 180</u>, 114-125.

Bernareggi, A., Torti, L., Facino, R. M., Carni, M., Depta, G., Casetta, B., Farrell, N., Spadacini, S., Ceserani, R. & Tognella, S. (1995). Characterization of cisplatin-glutathione adducts by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr., 669, 247-266.

Beveridge, H. A., & Carlyon, R. P. (1996). Effects of aspirin on human psychophysical tuning curves in forward and simultaneous masking. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 99, 110-118.

Bielas, J. H. & Heddle, J. A. (2004). Quiescent murine cells lack global genomic repair but are proficient in transcription-coupled repair. <u>DNA Repair, 300</u>, 1-7.

Black, F. O., Gianna-Poulin, C. & Pesznecker, S. C. (2001). Recovery from vestibular ototoxicity. <u>Otology & Neurotology, 22</u>, 662-671. Boettcher, F. A., Henderson, D., Gratton, M. A., Danielson, R. W., & Byme, C. D., (1987).

Synergistic interactions of noise and other ototraumatic agents. <u>Ear and Hearing 8</u>, 192-211.

Boonstra, A., van Oudenaren, A., Baert, M., van Steeg, H., Leenen, P. J. M., van der Horst, G. T. J., Hoeijmakers, J. H. J., Savelkoul, H. F. J. & Garssen, J. (2001). Differential ultraviolet-Binduced immunomodulation in XPA, XPC, and CSD DNA repair-deficient mice. <u>J. Invest.</u> <u>Dermatol., 117</u>, 141-146.

Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program (1973). Drug induced deafness: A cooperative study. JAMA 224, 515-516.

Brock, P. R., Bellman, S. C., Yeomans, E. C., Pinkerton, C. R. & Pritchard, J. (1991). Cisplatin ototoxicity in children: A practical grading system. <u>Medical and Pediatric Oncology</u>, 19, 295-300.

Buetter, G. R. (1988). In the absence of catalytic metals ascorbate does not autoxidize at pH 7: Ascorbate as a test for catalytic metals. Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods, 16, 27-40.

Burris et al (1998). Intratumoral cisplatin/epinephrine-injectable gel as a palliative treatment for accessible solid tumors: A multicenter pilot study. <u>Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg., 118</u>, 496-503.

Campbell, K. C. M., Kalkanis, J., & Glatz, F. R., (2000). Ototoxicity: Mechanisms, protective agents, and monitoring. <u>Current Opinion in Otolaryngology & Head and Neck Surgery 8</u>, 436-440.

Campbell, K. C. M., Larsen, D. L., Meech, D. L., Rybak, L. P. & Hughes, L. F. (2003). Glutathione Ester but not glutathione protects against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in a rat model. Journal of the American Academy of Audiology, 14, 124-133.

Canada, R. G. (1993). Calcium receptor binding of cisplatin and terbium in human breast tumor cells after hyperthermia. <u>Radiation Research, 133</u>, 170-175.

Canada, R. G. (1988). Terbium luminescence studies of binding of adriamycin and cisplatin to tumorigenic cells. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta, 205</u>, 77-87.

Cardinaal, R. M., de Groot, C. M. C., Huizing, E. H., Veldman, J. E. & Smoorenburg, G. F., (2000b). Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: Morphological evidence of spontaneous outer hair cell recovery in albino guinea pigs? <u>Hearing Research 144</u>, 147-156.

Cardinaal, R. M., de Groot, C. M. C., Huizing, E. H., Veldman, J. E. & Smoorenburg, G. F., (2000a). Dose-dependent effect of 8-day cisplatin administration upon the morphology of the albino guinea pig cochlea. <u>Hearing Research 144</u>, 135-146.

Cazals, Y., (2000). Auditory sensori-neural alterations induced by salicylate. <u>Progress in</u> <u>Neurobiology 62</u>, 583-631.

Cevette, M. J., Drew, D., Webb, M. T., & Marion, M. S., (2000). Cisplatin ototoxicity, increased DPOAE amplitudes, and magnesium deficiency. <u>Journal of the American Academy of Audiology 11</u>, 323-329.

Cheng, P.-W., Kaga, K., Koyama, S., & Kondo, K., (2001). Temporal bone histopathology after treatment by a large amount of cisplatin: A case study. <u>Otolaryngol Head and Nech Surg 125</u>, 411-413.

Cheng, P-O., Liu, S-H., Hsu, C-J., Lin-Shiau, S-Y. (2005). Correlation of increased activity of Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase with the reversal of cisplatin ototoxicity induced by D-methionine in guinea pigs. <u>Hearing Research 205</u>, 102-109.

Chen, Z., Xu, X. S., Yang, J. & Wang, G. (2003). Defining the function of XPC protein in psoralen and cisplatin-mediated DNA repair and mutagenesis. <u>Carcinogenesis</u>, 24, 1111-1121.

Chen, Z-S., Mutoh, M., Sumizawa, T., Furukawa, T., Haraguchi, M., Tani, A., Saijo, N., Kondo, T. & Akiyama, S-I. (1998). An active efflux system for heavy metals in cisplatin-resistant human KB carcinoma cells. <u>Experimental Cell Research, 240</u>, 312-320.

Cheng, S. & Higuchi, R. (1994). Complete mitochondrial genome amplification. <u>Nature</u> <u>Genetics</u>, 7, 350-351.

Choi, D. W. (1996). Ischemia-induced neuronal apoptosis. <u>Current Opinion in Neurobiology</u>, *6*, 667-672.

Chu, G. (1994). Cellular response to cisplatin: The roles of DNA-binding proteins and DNA reapir. J. Biol. Chem., 269, 787-790.

Church, M. W., Kaltenbach, J. A., Blakley, B. W., & Burgio, D. L., (1995). The comparative effects of sodium thiosulfate, diethyldithiocarbamate, fosfomycin and WR-2721 on ameliorating cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. <u>Hearing Research 86</u>, 195-203.

Clerici, W. J., DiMartino, D. L., & Prasad, M. R., (1995). Direct effects of reactive oxygen species on cochlear outer hair cell shape in vitro. <u>Hearing Research 84</u>, 30-40.

Clerici, W. J., Hensley, K., DiMartino, D. L., & Butterfield, D. A., (1996). Direct detection of ototoxicant-induced reactive oxygen species generation in cochlear explants. <u>Hearing Research</u> <u>98</u>, 116-124.

Clerici, W. J., & Yang, L., (1996). Direct effects of intraperilymphatic reactive oxygen species generation on cochlear function. <u>Hearing Research 101</u>, 14-22.

Cleaver, J. E. (1968). Defective repair replication of DNA in Xeroderma Pigmentosum. <u>Nature</u> 218, 652-656.

Cohen, G. L., Bauer, W. R., Barton, J. K. & Lippard, S. J. (1979). Binding of cis-and transdichloraplatinum(II) to DNA: Evidence for unwinding and shortening of the double helix. <u>Science, 203</u>, 1014-1016.

Cohen, S. M., Jamieson, E. R. & Lippard, S. J. (2000). Enhanced binding of the TATA-binding protein to TATA boxes containing flanking cisplatin 1,2-cross-links. <u>Biochemistry</u>, 39, 8259-8265.

Comess, K. M., Burstyn, J. N., Essigmann, J. M. & Lippard, S. J. (1992). Replication inhibition and translesion synthesis on templates containing site-specifically placed cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) DNA adducts. <u>Biochemistry, 31</u>, 3975-3990.

Conlon, B. J., & Smith, D. W. (1998). Supplemental iron exacerbates aminoglycoside ototoxicity in vitro. <u>Hearing Research, 115,</u> 1-5.

Conlee, J. W., Gerity, L. C. Bennett, M. L. (1994). Ongoing proliferation of melanocytes in the stria vascularis of adult guinea pigs. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 79, 115-122.

Corbacella, E., Lanzoni, I., Ding, D., Previati, M. & Salvi, R. (2004). Minocycline attenuates gentamicin induced hair cell loss in neonatal cochlear cultures. <u>Hearing Research, 197</u>, 11-18.

Corda, Y., Anin, M-F., Leng, M. & Job, D. (1992). RNA polymerases react differently at d(ApG) and d(GpG) adducts in a DNA modified by cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II). Biochemistry, 31, 1904-1908.

Costa, R. M. A., Chigancas, V., Galhardo, R. D. S., Carvalho, H. & Menck, C. F. M. (2003). The eukaryotic nucleotide excision repair pathway. <u>Biochimie, 85</u>, 1083-1099.

Costellot, J. J., Miller, M. R., Lehtomaki, D. M. & Pardee, A. B. (1979). Comparison of DNA replication and repair enzymology using permeabilized Baby Hamster kidney cells. <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry, 254</u>, 6904-6908.

Crouch, J. L., Sakaguchi, N., Lytle, C., & Schulte, B. A. (1997). Immunohistochemical localization of the Na-K-Cl co-transporter (NKCC1) in the gerbil inner ear. <u>Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry</u>, 45, 773-778.

Csaki, A., Kaplanek, P., Moller, R. & Fritzche, W. (2003). The optical detection of individual DNA-conjugated gold nanoparticle labels after metal enhancement. <u>Nanotechnology</u>, 14, 1262-1268.

Dabholkar, M., Vionnet, J., Bostick-Bruton, F., Yu, J. J. & Reed, E. (1994). Messenger RNA levels of XPAC and ERCC1 in ovarian cancer tissue correlate with response to platinum-based chemotherapy. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 94, 703-708.

Danscher, G. (1991). Application of autometallography to heavy metal toxicology. <u>Pharmacology & Toxicology, 69</u>, 414-423.

Danscher, G. (1981). Histochemical demonstration of heavy metals: A revised version of the sulphide silver method suitable for both light and electron microscopy. <u>Histochemistry 71</u>, 1-16.

Danscher, G., Stoltenberg, M., Kemp, K. & Pamphlett, R. (2000). Bismuth autometallography: Protocol, specificity, and differentiation. J. Histochem Cytochem., 48, 1503-1510.

Davis, C. A., Nick, H. S. & Agarwal, A. (2001). Manganese superoxide dismutase attenuates cisplatin-induced renal injury: Importance of superoxide. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., 12, 2683-2690.

Dedon, P. C. & Borch, R. F. (1987). Characterization of the reactions of platinum antitumor agents with biologic and nonbiologic sulfur-containing nucleophiles. <u>Biochemical</u> <u>Pharmacology</u>, 36, 1955-1964.

Dehne, N., Lautermann, J., Petrat, F., Rauen, U. & de Groot, H. (2001). Cisplatin ototoxicity: Involvement of iron and enhanced formation of superoxide anion radicals. <u>Toxicol Appl</u> <u>Pharmacol., 174</u>, 27-34.

de Laat, W.L., Jaspers, N. G. J. & Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. (1999). Molecular mechanism of nucleotide excision repair. <u>Genes & Development, 13</u>, 768-785.

Delnomdedieu, M. & Allis, J. W. (1993). Interaction of organic mercury salts with model and red cell membranes: Importance of lipid binding sites. <u>Chemico-Biological Interaction, 88</u>, 71-87.

Desoize, B. & Madoulet, C. (2002). Particular aspects of platinum compounds used at present in cancer treatment. <u>Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology</u>, 42, 317-325.

Deubel, D. V. (2004). Factors governing the kinetic competition of nitrogen and sulfur ligands in cisplatin binding to biological targets. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 126, 5999-6004.

Devarajan, P., Savoca, M., Castaneda, M. P., Park, M. S., Esteban-Cruciani, N, Kalinec, G. & Kalinec, F. (2002). Cisplatin-induced apoptosis in auditory cells: Role of death receptor and mitochondrial pathways. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 174, 45-54.

Dewoskin, R. S., Page, R. L. & Riviere, J. E. (1993). Kidney trace metal response to combined cisplatin (CDDP) and hyperthermia. Int J Hyperthermia, 4, 529-537.

Ding, D., McFadden, S. L., Browne, R. W., & Salvi, R. (2003). Late dosing with ethacrynic acid can reduce gentamicin concentration in perilymph and protect cochlear hair cells. <u>Hearing</u> <u>Research, 185, 90-96</u>.

Dizdaroglu, M., Olinski, R., Doroshow, J. H. & Akman, S. A. (1993). Modification of DNA bases in chromatin of intact target human-cells by activated human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. <u>Cancer Res., 53</u>, 1269-1272.

Dulon, D., Zajic, G., Aran, J. M. & Schacht, J. (1989). Aminoglycoside antibiotics impair calcium entry but not viability and motility in isolated cochlear outer hair cells. J. Neurosci Res., 24, 338-346.

Dunaway, G., Mhaskar, Y., Armour, G., Whitworth, C. & Rybak, L. (2003). Migration of cochlear lateral wall cells. <u>Hearing Research, 177</u>, 1-11.

Durr, E., et al. (2004). Direct proteomic mapping of the lung microvascular endothelial cell surface in vivo and in cell culture. <u>Nat. Biotechnol., 22</u>., 985-992.

Dursun, B., He, Z., Somerset, H., Oh, D. J., Faubel, S. & Edelstein, C. L. (2006). Caspase and calpain are independent mediators of cisplatin-induced endothelial cell necrosis. <u>Am J Physiol</u> <u>Renal Physiol., 18</u>, 1-45

Duffus, J. H. (2002). "Heavy metals"-A meaningless term? Pure Appl. Chem., 74, 793-807.

Eastman, A. (1986). Reevaluation of interaction of cis-dichloro(ethylenediamine)platinum(II) with DNA. <u>Biochemistry, 25</u>, 3912-3915.

Ekborn, A., Lindberg, A., Laurell, G., Wallin, I., Eksborg, S., & Ehrsson, H. (2003). Ototoxicity, nephrotoxicity and pharmacokinetics of cisplatin and its monohydrated complex in the guinea pig. <u>Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.</u>, 51, 36-42.

Ekborn, A., Laurell, G., Andersson, A., Wallin, I., Eksborg, S., Ehrsson, H. (2000). Cisplatininduced hearing loss: Influence of mode of drug administration in the guinea pig. <u>Hearing</u> <u>Research, 140</u>, 38-44.

Ellerby, A., Ansfield, F. J., & Davies, H. L., (1974). Preliminary report on phase 1 clinical experience with combined cis-diamminedichloride DDP platinum (II) (PDD) and 5-FU. <u>Platinum Coordination Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Ernst, A., & Zenner, H. P., (1995). Acute hyperpolarization and elongation of cochlear outer hair cells on superfusion with cis-platin. <u>Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 252</u>, 163-166.

Esposito, B. P. & Najjar, R. (2002). Interaction of antitumoral platinum-group metallodrugs with albumin. <u>Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 232</u>, 137-149.

Estrem, S. A., Babin, R. W., Ryu, J. H. & Moore, K. C. (1981). Cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II) ototoxicity in the guinea pig. <u>Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.</u>, 89, 638-645.

Fausti, S. A., Schechter, M. A., Rappaport, B. Z., Frey, R. H., & Mass, R. E., (1984). Early detection of cisplatin ototoxicity: Selected case reports. <u>Cancer 53</u>, 224-231.

Fausti, S. A., Henry, J. A., Helt, W. J., Phillips, D. S., Frey, R.H., Noffsinger, D., Larson, V. D. & Fowler, C. G. (1999). An individualized, sensitive frequency range for early detection of ototoxicity. <u>Ear and Hearing 20</u>, 497-505.

Ferry, K. V., Hamilton, T. C. & Johnson, S.W. (2000). Increased nucleotide excision repair in cisplatin resistant ovarian cancer cells. <u>Biochemical Pharmacology</u>, 60, 1305-1313.

Fichtinger-Schepman, A. M., van Oosterom, A. T., Lohman, P. H. & Berends, F. (1987). Cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II)-induced DNA adducts in peripheral leukocytes from seven cancer patients: Quantitative immunochemical detection of the adduct induction and removal after a single dose of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II). <u>Cancer Res., 47</u>, 3000-3004.

Fonnum, F. & Lock, E. A. (2004). The contributions of excitotoxicity, glutathione depletion and DNA repair in chemically induced injury to neurons: Exemplified with toxic effects on cerebellar granule cells. Journal of Neurochemistry, 88, 513-531.

Forastiere, A. A., Takasugi, B. J., Baker, S. R., Wolf, G. T., & Kudla-Hatch, V., (1987). Highdose cisplatin in advanced head and neck cancer. <u>Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology,19</u>, 155-158.

Ford, M. S., Nie, Z., Whitworth, C., Rybak, L. P., & Ramkumar, V. (1997). Up-regulation of adenosine receptors in the cochlea by cisplatin. <u>Hearing Research 111</u>, 143-152.

Fraval, H. N. & Roberts, J. J. (1979). Excision repair of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II)induced damage to DNA of Chinese hamster cells. <u>Cancer Research</u>, 39, 1793-1797.

Freeman, S., Priner, R., Elidan, J., & Sohmer, H. (2001). Objective method for differentiating between drug-induced vestibulotoxicity and cocleotoxicity. <u>Otology and Neurotology</u>, 22, 70-75.

Fuertes, M. A., Castilla, J., Alonso, C. & Perez, J. M., (2003). Cisplatin biochemical mechanism of action: From cytotoxicity to induction of cell death through interconnections between Apoptotic and necrotic pathways. <u>Current Medicinal Chemistry</u>, 10, 257-266.

Fulda, S., Los, M., Friesen, C. & Debatin, K. M. (1998). Chemosensitivity of solid tumor cells in vitro is related to activation of the CD95 system. <u>Int J Cancer, 76</u>, 105-114.

Fumarulo, R. & Aresta, M. (1987). Cisplatin toxicity: Effects on phagocyte function. Inorganica Chimica Acta, 137, 99-103.

Furuta, T., Ueda, T., Aune, G., Sarasin, A., Kraemer, K. H. & Pommier, Y. (2002). Transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair as a determinant of cisplatin sensitivity of human cells. <u>Cancer Research, 62</u>, 4899-4902.

Gabaizadeh, R., Staecker, H., Liu, W., Kopke, R., Malgrange, B., Lefebvre, P. P., & Van de Water, T. R. (1997). Protection of both auditory hair cells and auditory neurons from cisplatin induced damage. <u>Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh)</u> 117, 232-238.

Garcia, V. P., Martinez, F. A., Agusti, E. B., Mencia, L. A., Asenjo, V. P. (2001). Drug-induced ototoxicity: Current status. <u>Acta Otolaryngol 121</u>, 569-572.

Garetz, S. L., Rhee, D. J. & Schacht, J. (1994). Sulfhydryl compounds and antoxidants inhibit cytotoxicity of outer hair cells of a gentamicin metabolite in vitro. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 77, 75-80.

Garner, B., Roberg, K., Qian, M., Eaton. J. W. & Truscott, R. J. (2000). Distribution of ferritin and redox-active transition metals in normal and cataractous human lenses. <u>Exp Eye Res., 71</u>, 599-607.

Gately, D. P. & Howell, S. B. (1993). Cellular accumulation of the anticancer agent cisplatin: A review. <u>Br J Cancer, 67</u>, 1171-1176.

Ghezzi, A. Aceto, M., Cassino, C., Gabano, E. & Osella, D. (2004). Uptake of antitumor platinum(II)-complexes by cancer cells, assayed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry, 98, 73-78.

Giaccone, G. (2000). Clinical perspectives on platinum resistance. Drugs, 59, Suppl. 4, 9-17.

Giurgiovich, A. J., Diwan, B. A., Olivero, O. A., Anderson, L. M., Rice, J. M. & Poirier, M. C. (1997). Elevated mitochondrial cisplatin-DNA adduct levels in rat tissues after transplacental cisplatin exposure. <u>Carcinogenesis</u>, 18, 93-96.

Goldberg, Z., Evans, J., Birrell, G. & Brown, J. M. (2001). An investigation of the molecular basis for the synergistic interaction of tirapazamine and cisplatin. <u>Int. J. Radiation Oncology</u> <u>Biol. Phys., 49</u>, 175-182.

Gordon, M., & Hollander, S. (1993). Review of platinum anticancer compounds. Journal of Medicine, 24, 209-265.

Gratton, M. A. (1990). The interaction of cisplatin and noise on the peripheral auditory system. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 50, 211-224.

Gullo, J. J., Litterst, C. L., Maguire, P. J., Sikic, B. I., Hoth, D. F. & Woolley, P. V. (1980). Pharmacokinetics and protein binding of cis-dichlorodiammine platinum (II) administered as a one hour or as a twenty hour infusion. <u>Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.</u>, *5*, 21-26.

Guminski, A. D., Harnett, P. R. & de Fazio, A. (2002). Scientist and clinicians test their metalback to the future with platinum compounds. <u>Lancet Oncology</u>, *3*, 312-318.

Guthrie, O. W. & Balaban, C. "Autometallographical Amplification of Intracellular Anti-cancer Platinum Molecules," 27<sup>th</sup> MidWinter Meeting of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, Daytona Beach, FL (February, 2004).

Halliwell, B. & Gutterridge, J. M. C. (1999). Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine (3 eds). New York: NY, Oxford University Press.

Hanawalt, P. C. (2002). Subpathways of nucleotide excision repair and their regulation. Oncogene, 21, 8949-8956.

Hanawalt, P. C., Bohr, V. A., Leadon, S. A., Mansbridge, J. N. & Reush, M. K. H. (1987). Processes in Cutaneous Epidermal Differentiation. Berstein I and Hirone T (eds). New York: Praeger Scientific, pp. 217-231.

Hamers, F. P., Wijbenga, J., Wolters, F. L., Klis, S. F., Sluyter, S., Smoorenburg, G. F. (2003). Cisplatin ototoxicity involves organ of Corti, stria vascularis and spiral ganglion: Modulation by αMSH and ORG 2766. <u>Audiol Neurootol.</u>, *8*, 305-315.

Harder, H. C. (1974). Effects of platinum compounds on bacteria, viruses and cells in culture. <u>Platinum</u> <u>Coordination Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Hayes, D. M., Cvitkovic, E., Golbey, R. B., Scheiner, E., Helson, L., & Krakoff, I. H., (1977). High dose cis-platinum diammine dichloride: Ammelioration of renal toxicity by mannitol diuresis. <u>Cancer 39</u>, 1372-1381.

Hatzopoulos, S., Petruccelli, J., Laurell, G., Avan, P., Finesso, M., & Martini, Alessandro, M., (2002). Ototoxic effects of cisplatin in a Sprague-Dawley rat animal model as revealed by ABR and transient evoked otoacoustic emission measurements. <u>Hearing Research 170</u>, 70-82.

Hatzopoulos, S., Petruccelli, J., Laurell, G., Finesso, M. & Martini, A. (2002). Evaluation of anesthesia effects in a rat animal model using otoacoustic emission protocols. <u>Hearing Research</u>, <u>170</u>, 12-21.

Hatzopoulos, S., Stefano, M. D., Albertin, A. & Martini, A. (1999). Evaluation of cisplatin ototoxicity in a rat animal model. <u>Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences</u>, 884, 211-225.

Henkels, K. M & Turchi, J. J. (1999). Cisplatin-induced apoptosis procedes by caspase-3dependent and –independent pathways in cisplatin –resistant and –sensitive human ovarian cancer cell lines. <u>Cancer Res., 59</u>, 3077-3083. Hidaka, H., Oshima, T., Ikeda, K., Furukawa, M., & Takasaka, T. (1996). The NA-K-CL cotransporters in the rat cochlea: RT-PCR and partial sequence analysis. <u>Biochemical and</u> <u>Biophysical Research Communications</u>, 220, 425-430.

Higashiyama, K., Takeuchi, S., Azuma, H., Sawada, S., Yamakawa, K., Kakigi, A., Takeda, T. (2003). Bumetanide-induced enlargement of the intercellular space in the stria vascularis critically depends on Na+ transport. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 186, 1-9.

Hinojosa, R., Riggs, L. C., Strauss, M., & Matz, G. J. (1995). Temporal bone histopathology of cisplatin ototoxicity. <u>American Journal of Otology 16</u>, 731-740.

Hoeve., L. (1988). Correlation between cisplatin dosage and toxicity in a guinea pig model. <u>Arch Otorhinolaryngol., 245</u>, 98-102.

Hoffman, D. W., Whitworth, C. A., Jones, K. L. & Rybak, L. P. (1987). Nutritional status, glutathione level, and ototoxicity of loop diuretics and aminoglycoside antibiotics. <u>Hearing</u> <u>Research</u>, 31, 217-222.

Hogarth, L., English, M., Price, L., Wyllie, R., Pearson, A. D. J. & Hall, A. G. (1996). The effect of treatment with high dose melphalan, cisplatin or carboplatin on levels of glutathione in plasma, erythrocytes, mononuclear cells and urine. <u>Cancer Chemother Pharmacol</u>, 37, 479-485.

Hoistad, D. L., Ondrey, F. G., Mutlu, C., Schachern, P. A., Paparella, M. M., & Adams, G. L., (1998). Histopathology of human temporal bone after cis-platinum, radiation, or both. <u>Otolaryngol Head and Neck Surg 118</u>, 825-832.

Hoshino, T., Misaki, M., Yamamoto, M., Shimizu, H., Ogawa, Y & Toguchi, H. (1995). In vitro cytotoxicities and in vivo distribution of transferring-platinum(II) complex. <u>J Pharm Sci., 84</u>, 216-221.

Hoshino, T. Mitzuta, K., Gao J., Araki, S., Araki, K., Takeshita, T., Wu, R. & Morita, H. (2000). Cochlear findings in the white spotting (Ws) rat. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 140, 145-156.

Holding, J. D., Lindup, W. E., van Lear, C., Vreeburg, G. C., Schilling, V. Wilson, J. A. & Stell, P. M. (1992). Phase I trial of a cisplatin-albumin complex for the treatment of cancer of the head and neck. <u>Br J Clin Pharmacol. 33</u>, 75-81.

Holford, J., Beale, P. J., Boxall, F. E., Sharp, S. Y. & Kelland, L. R. (2000). Mechanisms of drug resistance to theplatinum complex ZD0473 in ovarian cancer cell lines. <u>European Journal of Cancer, 36</u>, 1984-1990.

Holmgren, A. (1979). Glutathione-dependent synthesis of deoxyribonucleotides: Purification and characterization of glutaredoxin from Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem., 254, 3664-3671.

Hopkin, S. P. (1989). Ecophysiology of Metals in Terrestrial Invertebrates. Elsevier Applied Science, New York.

Hubscher, U., Maga, G. & Spadari, S. (2002). Eukaryotic DNA polymerases. <u>Ann. Rev.</u> <u>Biochem., 71</u>, 133-163.

Hughes, F. M. J., Bortner, C. D., Purdy, G. D. & Cidlowski, J. A. (1997). Intracellular K+ suppresses the activation of apoptosis in lymphocytes. J Biol Chem., 272, 30567-30576.

Humes, D. H., (1999). Insights into ototoxicity: Analogies to nephrotoxicity. <u>Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 884</u>, 15-18.

Ikeda, K., Miura, K., Himeno, S., Imura, N., Naganuma, A. (2001). Glutathione content is correlated with the sensitivity of lines of PC12 cells to cisplatin without a corresponding change in the accumulation of platinum. <u>Mol. Cell. Biochem., 219</u>, 51-56.

Ikeda, K., Oshima, T., Hidaka, H., & Takasaka, T. (1997). Molecular and clinical implications of loop diuretic ototoxicity. <u>Hearing Research, 107</u>, 1-8.

Ishikawa, T. & Ali-Osman, F. (1993). Glutathione-associated cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) metabolism and ATP-dependent efflux from leukemia cells: Molecular characterization of glutathione-platinum complex and its biological significance. J. Biol Chem., 268, 20116-20125.

Ivanov, A. I., Christodoulou, J., Parkinson, J. A., Barnham, K. J., Tucker, A., Woodrow, J. & Sadler, P. J. (1998). Cisplatin binding sites on human albumin. <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u>, <u>273</u>, 14721-14730.

Jackson, J. B. & Halas, N. J. (2001). Silver nanoshells: Variations in morphologies and optical properties. Journal of Physical Chemistry B., 105, 2743-2746.

James, T. H. (1939). The reduction of silver ions by hydroquinone. <u>J. Am. Chem. Soc., 61</u>, 648-652.

Jamieson, E. R., & Lippard, S. J. (1999). Structure, recognition, and processing of cisplatin-DNA adducts. <u>Chem. Rev., 99</u>, 2467-2498.

Janning, M. H., Whitworth, C. A., & Rybak, L. P., (1998). Experimental model of cisplatin ototoxicity in chinchillas. <u>Otolaryngol Head and Neck Surgery 119</u>, 574-580.

Jefferies, H., Coster, J., Khalil, A., Bot, J., McCauley, R. D. & Hall, J. C. (2003). Glutathione. ANZ J. Surg., 73, 517-522.

Jenkins, G. J. S., Burlinson, B. & Parry, J. M. (2000). The Polymerase inhibition assay: A methodology for the identification of DNA-damaging agents. <u>Molecular Carcinogenesis</u>, 27, 289-297.

Jennerwein, M. M. & Eastman, A. (1991). A polymerase chain reaction-based method to detect cisplatin adducts in specific genes. <u>Nucleic Acids Research, 19</u>, 6209-6214.

Johnson, S. W., Shen, D. W., Pastan, I., Gottesman, M. M. & Hamilton, T. C. (1996). Crossresistance, cisplatin accumulation, and platinum-DNA adduct formation and removal in cisplatin-sensitive and resistant human hepatoma cell lines. <u>Experimantal Cell Research</u>, 226, 133-139.

Jones, N. A., Turner, J., Mcllwrath, A. J., Brown, R. & Dive, C. (1998). Cisplatin- and paclitaxel-induced apoptosis of ovarian carcinoma cells and the relationship between Bax and Bak up-regulation and the functional status of p53. <u>Mol Pharmacol., 53</u>, 819-826.

Jordan, P. & Carmo-Fonseca, M. (2000). Molecular mechanisms involved in cisplatin cytotoxicity. <u>Cell Mol. Life Sci., 57</u>, 1229-1235.

Judson, I. & Kelland, L. R. (2000). New development and approaches in the platinum arena. <u>Drugs</u>, 59, Suppl. 4, 29-36.

Kociba, R. J., Sleight, S. D. & Rosenberg, B. (1970). Inhibition of Dunning asc itic leukemia and walker 256 carcinosarcoma with cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (NSC-119875). <u>Cancer</u> <u>Chemother Rep., 54</u>, 325-328.

Kaciba, R. J. & Sleight, S. D. (1971). Acute toxicologic and pathologic effects of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum (NSC-119875) in the male rat. <u>Cancer Chemother. Rep. 55</u>, 1-8.

Kalinec, G. M., Webster, P., Lim, D. J., & Kalinec, F. (2003). A cochlear cell line as an in vitro system for drug ototoxicity screening. <u>Audiol Neurootol.</u>, *8*, 177-189.

Kamimura, T., Whitworth, C. A. & Rybak, L. P., (1999). Effect of 4-methylthiobenzoic acid on cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in the rat. <u>Hearing Research 131</u>, 117-127.

Kane, C. M. & Linn, S. (1981). Purification and characterization of an apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease from Hela cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 256, 3405-3414.

Kartalou, M., & Essigmann, J. M., (2001). Recognition of cisplatin adducts by cellular proteins. <u>Mutation Research 478</u>, 1-21.

Kasahara, T., Kuwayama, C., Hashiba, M., Harada, T., Kakinuma, C., Miyauchi, M. & Degawa, M. (2003). The gene expression of hepatic proteins responsible for DNA repair and cell proliferation in tamoxifen-induced hepatocarcinogenesis. <u>Cancer Science</u>, 94, 582-588.

Kato, T., Duffey, D. C., Ondrey, F. G., Dong, G., Chen, Z., Cook, J. A., Mitchell, J. B. & Waes, C. V. (2000). Cisplatin and radiation sensitivity in human head and neck squamous carcinomas are independently modulated by glutathione and transcription factor NF-κB. <u>Head Neck, 22</u>, 748-759.

Kelland, L. R. (1993). New platinum antitumor complexes. <u>Critical Reviews in</u> <u>Oncology/Hematology, 15</u>, 191-219. Kelland, L. R. (2000). Preclinical perspectives on platinum resistance. Drugs, 59, Suppl. 4, 1-8.

Khan, M. M. T. & Martell, A. E. (1967). Metal ion and metal chelate catalyzed oxidation of ascorbic acid by molecular oxygen I: Cupric and ferric ion catalyzed oxidation. J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 89, 4176-4185.

Khvoles, R., Freeman, S. & Sohmer, H. (1996). Transient evoked otoacoustic emissions can be recorded in the rat. <u>Hearing Research, 97</u>, 120-126.

Khvoles, R., Freeman, S. & Sohmer, H. (1999). Transient evoked otoacoustic emissions in laboratory animals. <u>Audiology, 38</u>, 121-126.

Kimitsuki, T., Nakagawa, T., Hisashi, K., Komune, S., & Komiyama, S., (1993). Cisplatin blocks mechano-electric transducer current in chick cochlear hair cells. <u>Hearing Research, 71</u>, 64-68.

Klemens, J. J., Meech, R. P., Hughes, L. F., Somani, S. & Campbell, K. C. M. (2003). Antioxidant enzyme levels inversely covary with hearing loss after amikacin treatment. <u>Journal of the American Academy of Audiology</u>, 14, 134-143.

Klis, S. F. L., O'Leary, S. J., Wijbenga, J., de Groot, J. C. M. J., Hamers, F. P. T., & Smoorenburg, G. F., (2002). Partial recovery of cisplatin-induced hearing loss in the albino guinea pig in relation to cisplatin dose. <u>Hearing Research 164</u>, 138-146.

Koberle, B., Masters, J. R. W., Hartkey, J. A. & Wood, R. D. (1999). Defective repair of cisplatin-induced DNA damage caused by reduced XPA protein in testicular germ cell tumours. <u>Curr. Biol.</u>, *9*, 273-276.

Kociba, R. J., Sleight, S. D. & Rosenberg, B. (1970). Inhibition of Dunning ascetic leukemia and Walker 256 carcinosarcoma with cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (NSC-119875). <u>Cancer</u> <u>Chemother. Rep., 54</u>, 325-328.

Kohn, S., Fradis, M., Pratt, H., Zidan, J., Podoshin, L., Robinson, E. & Nir, I. (1988). Cisplatin ototoxicity in guinea pigs with special reference to toxic effects in the stria vascularis. Laryngoscope, 98 (8 Pt 1), 865-871.

Kojima, H., Endo, K., Moriyama, H., Tanaka, Y., Alnemri, Es., Slapak, C. A., Teicher, B., Kufe, D. & Datta, R. (1998). Abrogation of mitochondrial cytochrome C release and caspase-3 activation in acquired multidrug resistance. J. Biol. Chem., 273, 16647-16650.

Komune, S., Matsuda, K., Nakagawa, T., Kimitsuki, T., Hisashi, K., Inokuchi, A., Komiyama, S. & Kobayashi, T. (1995). Disturbance of regulation of sodium by cis-diamminedichloroplatinum in perilymph of the guinea pig cochlea. <u>Ann Oto Rhinol Laryn, 104</u>, 149-154.

Kopke, et al. (2000). Reduction of noise-induced hearing loss using L-NAC and salicylate in the chinchilla. <u>Hearing Research 149</u>, 138-146.

Kopelman, J., Budnick, M.S., Sessions, R. B., Kramer, M. B., & Wong, G. Y., (1988). Ototoxicity of high-dose cisplatin by bolus administration in patients with advanced cancers and normal hearing. Laryngoscope 98, 858-864.

Kopf-Maier, P. & Muhlhausen, S. K. (1992). Changes in the cytoskeleton pattern of tumor cells by cisplatin in vitro. <u>Chem Biol Interact, 82</u>, 295-316.

Kopke, R. D., Liu, W., Gabaizadeh, R., Jacono, A., Feghali, J., Spray, D., Garcia, P., Steinman, H., Malgrange, B., Ruben, R. J., Rybak, L. & van der Water, T. (1997). Use of organotypic cultures of Corti's organ to study the protective effects of antioxidant molecules on cisplatin-induced damage of auditory hair cells. <u>American Journal of Otology</u>, 18, 559-571.

Korver, K. D., Rybak, L. P., Whitworth, C., & Campbell, K. M. (2002). Round window application of D-methionine provides complete cisplatin otoprotection. <u>Otolaryngol. Head Neck</u> <u>Surg., 126</u>, 683-689.

Krakoff, I. H., & Lippmann, A. J., (1974). Clinical trials of cis-platinum (II) Diamminedichloride in patients with advanced cancer. <u>Platinum Coordination Complexes in</u> <u>Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Kultz, D. & Chakravarty, D. (2001). Hyperosmolarity in the form of elevated NaCl but not urea causes DNA damage in murine kidney cells. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 98</u>, 1999-2004.

Kuraoka, I., Morita, E. H., Saijo, M., Matsuda, T., Morikawa, K., Shirakawa, M. & Tanaka, K. (1996). Identification of a damaged-DNA binding domain of the XPA protein. <u>Mutation</u> <u>Research</u>, 362, 87-95.

Lai, G-M., Ozols, R. F., Young, R. C. & Hamilton, T. C. (1989). Effect of glutathione on DNA repair in cisplatin-resistant human ovarian cancer cell lines. <u>Journal of the National Cancer</u> Institute, 81, 535-539.

Lang, H. & Liu, C. (1997). Apopotosis and hair cell degeneration in the vestibular sensory epithelia of the guinea pig following a gentamicin insult. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 111, 177-184.

Lang, H., Schulte, B. A. & Schmiedt, R. A. (2003). Effects of chronic furosemide treatment and age on cell division in the adult gerbil inner ear. J. Assoc Res Otolaryngol., 4, 164-175.

Laurell G. & Engstrom, B. (1989). The ototoxic effect of cisplatin on guinea pigs in relation to dose. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 38, 27-34.

Laurell, G., Teixeira, M., Sterkers, O. & Ferrary, E. (1995a). Comparative entry of carboplatin and sucrose in endolymph in the rat cochlea. <u>Hearing Research, 88</u>, 222-226.

Laurell, G., Teixeira, M., Sterkers, O. & Ferrary, E. (1995b). Effect of cisplatin administration on the electrochemical composition of endolymph in the rat cochlea. <u>Hearing Research, 87</u>, 16-20.

Laurell, G., Teixeira, M., Sterkers, O. & Ferrary, E. (1997). Paracellular transport properties of inner ear barriers do not account for cisplatin toxicity in the rat. <u>Hearing Research, 110</u>, 135-140.

Laurell, G., Teixeira, M., Sterkers, O., Bagger-Sjoback, D., Eksborg, S., Lidman, O. & Ferrary, E. (2002). Local administration of antioxidants to the inner ear. <u>Hearing Research, 173</u>, 198-209.

Lauretis, A. D., Capua, B. D., Barbieri, M. T., Bellussi, L., & Passali, D., (1999). ABR evaluation of ototoxicity in cancer patients receiving cisplatin or carboplatin. <u>Scandinavian</u> <u>Audiology 28</u>, 139-143.

Lautermann, J., Crann, S. A., McLaren, J. & Schacht, J. (1997). Glutathione-dependent antioxidant systems in the mammalian inner ear: Effects of aging, ototoxic drugs and noise. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 114, 75-82.

Lautermann, J., McLaren, J., & Schacht, J. (1995). Glutathione protection against gentamicin ototoxicity depends on nutritional status. <u>Hearing Research, 86Hearing Research, 86</u>, 15-24.

Laws, G. M., Skopek, T. R., Reddy, M. V., Storer, R. D. & Glaad, W. E. (2001). Detection of DNA adducts using a quantitative long PCR technique and the fluorogenic 5' nuclease assay (TaqMan®). <u>Mutation Research</u>, 484, 3-18.

Lempers, E. L. M. & Reedijk, J. (1990). Reversibility of binding of cisplatin-methionine in proteins by diethyldithiocarbamate or thiourea: A study with model adducts. <u>Inorg. Chem., 29</u>, 217-222.

Lenoir, M. & Vago, P. (1997). Does the organ of Corti attempt to differentiate new hair cells after antibiotic intoxication in rat pups? Int J Dev Neurosci., 15, 487-495.

Li, G., Frenz, D. A., Brahmblatt, S., Feghali, J. G., Ruben, R. J., Berggren, D., Arezzo, J. & Water, T. R. V. D. (2001). Round window membrane delivery of L-methionine provides protection from cisplation ototoxicity without compromising chemotherapeutic efficacy. <u>NeuroToxicology</u>, 22, 163-176.

Li, G., Sha, S-H., Zotova, E., Arezzo, J., Water, T. & Schacht, T. (2002). Salicylate protects hearing and kidney function from cisplatin toxicity without compromising its oncolytic action. Laboratory Investigation, 82, 585-596.

Li, H., Liu, H. & Heller, S. (2003). Pluripotent stem cells from the adult mouse inner ear. Nature Medicine, 9, 1293-1299.

Li, H-S., Zhang, J-Y., Thompson, B. S., Deng, X-Y., Ford, M. E., Wood, P. G., Stolz, D. B., Eagon, P. K. & Whitcomb, D. C. (2001). Rat mitochondrial ATP synthase ATP5G3: Cloning and upregulation in pancreas after chronic ethanol feeding. <u>Physiol Genomics</u>, *6*, 91-98.

Li, G., Liu, W. & Frenz, D. (2006). Cisplatin ototoxicity to the rat inner ear: A role for HMG1 and iNOS. <u>Neurotoxicology, 27</u>, 22-30.

Li, L., Peterson, C. & Legerski, R. (1996). Sequence of the mouse XPC cDNA and genomic structure of human XPC gene. <u>Nucleic Acids Research</u>, 24, 1026-1028.

Lindsay, M. A. (2005). Finding new drug targets in the 21<sup>st</sup> centry. <u>Drug Development Today</u>, <u>10</u>, 1683-1687.

Lippard, S. J. (1982). New chemistry of an old molecule: cis-[(Pt(NH3)2Cl2]. <u>Science, 218</u>, 1075-1082.

Litterst, C. L. & Schweitzer, V. G. (1988). Covalent binding of platinum to renal protein from sensitive and resistant guinea pigs treated with cisplatin: Possible role in nephrotoxicity. <u>Res</u> <u>Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol., 61</u>, 35-48.

Litterst, C. L. & Schweitzer, V. G. (1984). Increase tissue deposition and decreased excretion of platinum following administration of cisplatin to cisplatin-pretreated animals. <u>Cancer</u> <u>Chemother. Pharmacol., 12,</u> 46-49.

Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real time quantitative PCR and the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$  method. <u>Methods, 25</u>, 402-408.

Los, G., Mutsaers, P. H. A., van der Vijgh, W. J. F., Baldew, G. S., de Graaf, P. W. & McVie, J. G. (1989). Direct diffusion of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II) in intraperitoneal rat tumors after intraperitonal chemotherapy: A comparison with systemic chemotherapy. <u>Cancer Research</u>, <u>49</u>, 3380-3384.

Luthman M., Eriksson, S., Holmgren, A. & Thelander, L. (1979). Glutathione-dependent hydrogen donor system for calf thymus ribonucleotide-diphosphate reductase. <u>Proc. Natl. Acad.</u> <u>Sci. USA, 76, 2158-2162</u>.

Malinge, J. M., Giraud-Oanis, M. J. & Leng, M. (1999). Interstrand cross-links of cisplatin induce striking distortions in DNA. J. Inorg. Biochem., 77, 23-29.

Mann, S. C., Andrews, P. S. & Howell, S. B. (1990). Short-term cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) accumulation in sensitive and resistant human ovarian carcinoma cells. <u>Cancer Chemotherapy and pharmacology</u>, 25, 236-240.

Marcus, D. C., Wu, T., Wangemann, P. & Kofuji, P. (2002). KCNJ10 (Kir4.1) potassium channel knockout abolished endocochlear potential. <u>Am J. Physiol. Cell Physiol., 282</u>, 403-407.

Martini, A., Hatzopoulos, S., Rubini, R., Di Stefano, M., Albertin, A. & Govoni, E. (1999). An animal model based on the Sprague Dawley rat for the evaluation of ototoxicity. <u>Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences</u>, 884, 85-98

Matsukage, A., Bohn, E. W. & Wilson, S. H. (1975). Differential sensitivity of low molecular weight DNA polymerase to sulfhydryl-blocking reagents. <u>Biochem. Biophys. Acta, 383</u>, 338-343.

Matz, G. J., (1993). Aminoglycoside cochlear ototoxicity. <u>Otolaryngology Clinics of North</u> <u>America 26</u>, 705-712.

McAlpine, D. & Johnstone, B. M. (1990). The ototoxic mechanism of cisplatin. <u>Hearing</u> <u>Research, 47</u>, 191-204.

McFadden, S. L., Ding, D., Salvemini, D. & Salvi, R. J. (2003). M40403, a superoxide dismutase mimetic, protects cochlear hair cells from gentamicin, but not cisplatin toxicity. <u>Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology</u>, 186, 46-54.

McFadden, S. L., Ding, D., Jiang, H., Woo, J. M., & Salvi, R. J., (2002). Chinchilla models of selective cochlear hair cell loss. <u>Hearing Research 174</u>, 230-238.

McFadden, D., Plattsmier, H. S. & Pasanen, E. G., (1984). Aspirin-induced hearing loss as a model of sensorineural hearing loss. <u>Hearing Research, 16</u>, 251-260.

McHaney, V. A., Thibadoux, G., Hayes, F. A., & Green, A. A., (1983). Hearing loss in children receiving cisplatin chemotherapy. <u>Journal of Pediatrics 102</u>, 314-317.

McLean, I. W. & Nakane, P. K. (1974). Periodate-lysine-paraformaldehyde fixative for immunoelectron microscopy. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 22, 1077-1083.

Meech, R. P., Campbell, K. C. M., Hughes, L. P., & Rybak, L. P., (1998). A semiquantitative analysis of the effects of cisplatin on the rat stria vascularis. <u>Hearing Research 124</u>, 44-59.

Mees, K. (1983). Ultrastructural localization of K+-dependent, ouabain-sensitive NPPase (Na+, K+-ATPase) in the guinea pig inner ear. <u>Acta Otolaryngol. Stockh. 95</u>, 277-289.

Miller, D. M., Buetter, G. R. & Aust, S. D. (1990). Transition metals as catalyst of "autoxidation" reactions. <u>Free Radical Biology and Medicine</u>, *8*, 95-108.

Minami, S. B., Sha, S-H. & Schacht, J. (2004). Antioxidant protection in a new animal model of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 198, 137-143.

Minor, L. B., (1998). Gentamicin-induced bilateral vestibular hypofunction. JAMA 279, 541-544.

Mishima, M., Samimi, G., Kondo, A., Lin, X. & Howell, S. B. (2002). The cellular pharmacology of oxaliplatin resistance. <u>European Journal of Cancer, 38</u>, 1405-1412.

Mistry, P., Kelland, L. R., Abel, G., Sidhar, S. & Harrap, K. R. (1991). The relationships between glutathione, glutathione-S-transferase and cytotoxicity of platinum drus and melphalan in eight human ovarian carcinoma cell lines. <u>Br. J. Cancer, 64</u>, 215-220.

Mistry, P., Loh, S. Y., Kelland, L. R. & Harrap, K. R. (1993). Effect of buthionine sulfoximine on PtII and PtV drug accumulation and the formation of glutathione conjugates in human ovarian-carcinoma cell lines. Int J Cancer, 55, 848-856.

Miyamoto, I., Miura, N., Niwa, H. Miyazaki, J. & Tanaka, K. (1992). Mutational analysis of the structure and function of the xeroderma pigmentosum group A complementing protein. <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u>, 267, 12182-12187.

Mizuta, K., Adachi, M., & Iwasa, K. H. (1997). Ultrastructural localization of Na-K-Cl cotransporter in the lateral wall of the rabbit cochlear duct. <u>Hearing Research, 106</u>, 154-162.

Mullaart, E., Lohman, P. H. M. & Vijg, J. (1988). Differences in pyrimidine dimer removal between rat skin cells in vitro and in vivo. J. Invest. Dermatol., 90, 346-349.

Murakami, T., Shibuya, I., Ise, T., Chen, Z. S., Akiyama, S., Nakagawa, M., Izumi, H., Nakamura, T., Matsuo, K., Yamada, Y. & Kohno, K. (2001). Elevated expression of vacuolar proton pump henes and cellular pH in cisplatin resistance. Int. J. Cancer, 93, 869-874.

Murata, M., Imada, M., Inoue, S. & Kawanishi, S. (1998). Metal-mediated DNA damage induced by diabetogenic alloxan in the presence of NADH. Free Rad Biol Med., 25, 586-595.

Myers, S. F., Blakely, B. W. & Schwan, S. (1993). Is cis-platin vestibulotoxic? <u>Otolaryngol</u> <u>Head Neck Surg, 108</u>, 322-328.

Myers, S. F., Blakely, B. W., Schwan, S., Rintelmann, W. F., & Mathog, R. H. (1991). The "plateau effect" of cis-platinum-induced hearing loss. <u>Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 104</u>, 122-127.

Nagy, J. L., Adelstein, D. J., Newman, C. W., Rybicki, L. A., Rice, T. W., & Pierre, L. (1999). Cisplatin ototoxicity: The importance of baseline audiometry. <u>American Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Oncology 22</u>, 305-308.

Nakai, Y., Konishi, K., Chang, K. C., Ohashi, K., Morisaki, N., Minowa, Y., & Morimoto, A. (1982b). Ototoxicity of the anticancer drug cisplatin: An experimental study. <u>Acta Otolaryngol</u> <u>93</u>, 227-232.

Nakai, Y., Yamane, H, Minowa, Y, Go. K., Fukumaru, M., Chang, K. C., Ohasl, K., Konishi, K., Aiba, Y., & Morimoto, A. (1982a). Application of loop diuretics for treatment of sensorineural hearing impairment: Experimental and clinical study. <u>Acta Otolaryngol., 94</u>, 37-43.

Nakayama, M., Riggs, L. C. & Matz, G. J. (1996). Quantitative study of vestibulotoxicity induced by gentamicin or cisplatin in the guinea pig. <u>Laryngoscope</u>, 106, 162-167.

Nakashima, T., Teranishi, M., Hibi, T., Kobayashi, M., & Umemura, M., (2000). Vestibular and cochlear toxicity of aminoglycosides. <u>Acta Otolaryngol 120</u>, 904-911.

Nitiss, J. L. (2002). A copper connection to the uptake of platinum anticancer drugs. <u>PNAS</u>, 99, 13963-13965.

Newman, M. C., McCloskey, J. T. & Tatara, C. P. (1998). Using metal-ligand binding characteristics to predict metal toxicity: quantitative ion character-activity relationships (QICARs). Environ Health Perspect., 106, Suppl 6, 1419-1425.

Newkirk, K., Heffern, J., Sloman-Moll, E., Sessions, R. B., Rasmussen, A. A., Andrews, P. A. & Cullen, K. J. (1997). Glutathione content but not gamma glutamyl cysteine synthetase mRNA expression predicts cisplatin resistance in head and neck cancer cell lines. <u>Cancer Chemother.</u> <u>Pharmacol., 40</u>, 75-80.

Nieboer, E. & Richardson, D. H. S. (1980). The replacement of the non-descript term 'heavy metal' by a biologically and chemically significant classification of metal ions. <u>Environ. Pollut.</u> <u>Ser. B 1</u>, 3-26.

Nitiss, J. L. (2002). A copper connection to the uptake of platinum anticancer drugs. <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci USA, 99</u>, 13963-13965.

Nouspikel, T. & Hanawalt, P. C. (2002). DNA repair in terminally differentiated cells. <u>DNA</u> <u>Repair, 1</u>, 59-75.

Nouspikel, T. & Hanawalt, P. C. (2000). Terminally differented human neurons repair transcribed genes but display attenuated global DNA repair and modulation of repair gene expression. <u>Melecular and Cellular Biology</u>, 20, 1562-1570.

Ohtsubo, T., Saito H., Tanaka, N., Tsuzuki, H. Saito, T. & Kano, E. (1997). In vitro effect of hyperthermia on chemoenhancement and uptake of cisplatin in human pharyngeal carcinoma KB cells. <u>Chemotherapy</u>, 43, 43-50.

O'Leary, S. J., Klis, S. F. L., de Groot, J. C. M. J., Hamers, F. P. T., & Smoorenburg, G. F., (2001). Perilymphatic application of cisplatin over several days in albino guinea pigs: Dose-dependency of electrophysiological and morphological effects. <u>Hearing Research 154</u>, 135-145.

Olivero, O. A., Chang, P. K. Lopez-Larraza, D. M., Semino-Mora, M. C. & Poirier, M. C. (1997). Preferential formation and decreased removal of cisplatin-DNA adducts in Chinese hamster ovary cell mitochondrial DNA as compared to nuclear DNA. <u>Mutation Research</u>, 391, 79-86.

Oliver, D., He, D. Z. Z., Klocker, N., Ludwig, J., Schulte, U., Waldegger, S., Ruppersberg, J.P., Dallos, P., & Fakler, B. (2001). Intracellular anions as the voltage sensor of prestin, the outer hair cell motor protein. <u>Science</u>, 292, 2340-2343.

O'Neill, C. F., Hunakova, L. & Kelland, L. R. (1999). Cellular pharmacology of cis and trans pairs of cisplatin complexes in cisplatin-sensitive and resistant human ovarian carcinoma cells. <u>Chemico-Biological Interactions</u>, 123, 11-29.

Otrin, V. R., McLenigan, M., Takao, M., Levine, A. S. & Protic, M. (1997). Translocation of a UV-damaged DNA binding protein into a tight association with chromatin after treatment of mammalian cells with UV light. Journal of Cell Science, 110, 1159-1168.

Pai, K. & Sodhi, A. (1992). Studies on the intracellular Ca2+, protein kinase acivity, and ATP contents of cisplatin and rlFN-Y-treated non-adherent mononuclear cells. <u>Biochem. Int., 26</u>, 1017-1024.

Park, K. R., (1996). The utility of acoustic reflex thresholds and other conventional audiologic tests for monitoring cisplatin ototoxicity in the pediatric population. <u>Ear and Hearing 17</u>, 107-115.

Pascoe, J. M. & Roberts, J. J. (1974). Interactions between mammalian cell DNA and inorganic platinum compounds(I). <u>Biochem. Pharmacol., 23</u>, 1345-1357.

Patrick, S. M. & Turchi, J. J. (1998). Human replication protin A preferentially binds cisplatindamaged duplex DNA in vitro. <u>Biochemistry</u>, <u>37</u>, 8808-8815.

Patton, T. F., Himmelstein, K. J., Belt, R., Bannister, S. J., Sternson, L. A. & Repta, A. J. (1978). Plasma levels and urinary excretion of filtered platinum species following bolus injection and IV infusion of cis-dichlorodiamminoplatinum (II) in man. <u>Cancer Treat Rep, 62</u>, 1359-1366.

Perez, R., Freeman, S., Sohmer, H. (2004). Effect of an initial noise induced hearing loss on subsequent noise induced hearing loss. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 192, 101-106.

Peters, R. C., Mommersteeg, P. M. C., & Heijmen, P. S., (1999). The electroreceptor organ of the catfish, ictalurus melas, as a model for cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. <u>Neuroscience 91</u>, 745-751.

Pettijohn, D. & Hanawalt, P. C. (1964). Evidence for repair-replication of ultraviolet damaged DNA in bacteria. J. Mol. Biol., 9, 395-410.

Pirvola, U., Xing-Qun, L., Virkkala, J., Saarma, M., Murakata, C., Camoratto, A. M., Walton, K. M. & Ylikoski, J. (2000). Rescue of hearing, auditory hair cells, and neurons by CEP-1347/KT7515, an inhibitor of c-jun-N-terminal kinase activation. Journal of Neuroscience, 20, 1529-2401.

Pizzo, S. V., Swaim, M. W., Roche, P. A. & Gonias, S. L. (1988). Selectivity and stereospecificity of the reaction of sichloroplatinum(II) with three purified plasma proteins. Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry, 33, 67-76.

Pollera, C. F., Marolla, P., Nardi, M., Ameglio, F., Cozzo, L., & Bevere, F., (1988). Very highdose cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: A preliminary report on early and long-term effects. <u>Cancer</u> <u>Chemother Pharmacol 21</u>, 61-64.

Popelar, J., Groh, D., Mazelova, J. & Syka, J. (2003). Cochlear function in young and adult Fischer344 rats. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 186, 75-84.

Priuska, E., & Schacht, J. (1995). Formation of free radicals by gentamicin and iron and evidence for an iron/gentamicin complex. <u>Biochemical Pharmacology</u>, 50, 1749-1752.

Rachel, J. D., Kaltenbach, J. A., & Janisse, J., (2002). Increases in spontaneuos neural activity in the hamster dorsal cochlear nucleus following cisplatin treatment: A possible basis for cisplatin-induced tinnitus. <u>Hearing Research 164</u>, 206-214.

Ramirez-Camacho, R, Garcia-Berocal, J. R., Bujan, J., Martin-Marero, A. & Trinidad, A. (2004). Supporting cells as a target of cisplatin-induced inner ear damage: Therapeutic implications. Laryngoscope, 114, 533-537.

Ravi, R. Somani, S. M. & Rybak, L. P. (1995). Mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicity: Antioxidant system. <u>Pharmacol Toxicol., 76</u>, 386-396.

Redon, S., Bombard, S., Elizondo-Riojas, M-A., & Chottard, J-C., (2003). Platinum crosslinking of adenines and guanines on the quadruplex structures of the AG3(T2AG3)3 and (T2AG3)4 human telomere sequences in Na+ and K+ solutions. <u>Nucleic Acids Research 31</u>, 1605-1613.

Reed, E., Ozols, R. F., Tarone, R., Yuspa, S. H. & Poirier, M. C. (1987). Platinum-DNA adducts in leukocyte DNA correlate with disease response in ovarian cancer patients receiving platinum-based chemotherapy. <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u>, 84, 5024-5028.

Reed, E., Yuspa, S. H. Zwelling, L. A., Ozols, R. F. & Poirier, M. C. (1986). Quantitation of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum II (cisplatin)-DNA-intrastrand adducts in testicular and ovarian cancer patients receiving cisplatin chemotherapy. J Clin Invest., 77, 545-550.

Reedijk, J. (1999). Why does cisplatin reach guanine-N7 with competing S-donor ligands available in the cell? <u>Chem. Rev., 99</u>, 2499-2510.

Riedl, T., Hanaoka, F. & Egly, J-M. (2003). The coming and goings of nucleotide excision repair factors on damaged DNA. <u>EMBO Journal, 22</u>, 5293-5303.

Richard, G. P & Russell, I. J. (1991). Cochlear cultures as a model system for studying aminoglycoside-induced ototoxicity. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 53, 293-311.

Roberts, J. J. (1974). Bacterial, viral and tissue culture studies on neutral platinum complexes. <u>Platinum Coordination Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Romanenko, A., Morimura, K., Wei, M., Zaparin, W., Vozianov, A. & Fukushima, S. (2002). DNA damage repair in bladder urothelium after the Chernobyl accident in Ukraine. Journal of Urology, 168, 973-977.

Rosenberg, E., Taher, M. M., Kuemmerle, N. B., Farnsworth, J. & Valerie, K. (2001). A truncated human xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group A protein expressed from an adenovirus sensitizes human tumor cells to ultraviolet light and cisplatin. <u>Cancer Research</u>, 61, 764-770.

Rosenberg, B., van Camp, L., Trosko, J. E. & Mansour, V. H. (1969). Platinum compounds: A new class of potent antitumor agents. <u>Nature 222</u>, 385-386.

Rosenberg, B., van Camp, L., & Krigas, T., (1965). Inhibition of cell division in Escherichia coli by electrolysis products from a platinum electrode. <u>Nature 205</u>, 698-699.

Rosenkranz, H. S. Garro, A. J., Levy, J. A. & Carr, H. S. (1966). Studies with hydroxyurea. I. The reversible inhibition of bacterial DNA synthesis and the effects of hydroxyurea on the bactericidal action of streptomycin. <u>Biochim Biophys Acta, 114</u>, 501-515.

Rybak, L. P., (1981). Cis-platin associated hearing loss. Journal of Laryngology and Otology <u>95</u>, 745-747.

Rybak, L. P. (1993). Ototoxicity of loop diuretics. <u>Otolaryngol. Clin North Am. 26</u>, 829-844.

Rybak, L. P., (1988). Ototoxicity of ethacrynic acid (a persistent clinical problem). Journal of Laryngology and Otology 102, 518-520.

Rybak, L. P., Green, T. P., Juhn, S. K., Morizono, T., & Mirkin, B. L. (1979). Elimination kinetics of furosemide in perilymph and serum of the chinchilla: Neuropharmacologic correlates. <u>Acta Otolaryngol., 88,</u> 382-387.

Rybak, L. P., & Kelly, T., (2003). Ototoxicity: bioprotective mechanisms. <u>Curr. Opin.</u> <u>Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg. 11</u>, 328-333.

Rybak, L. P., Whitworth, C., Scott, V., & Weberg, A. (1991). Ototoxicity of furosemide during development. <u>Laryngoscope, 101,</u> 1167-1174.

Saito, T. & Aran, J. M. (1994a). Comprative ototoxicity of cisplatin during acute and chronic treatment. <u>ORL J Oto-Rhino-Lary, 56</u>, 315-320.

Saito, T. & Aran, J-M. (1994b). X-ray microanalysis and ion microscopy of guinea pig cochlea and kifney after cisplatin treatment. <u>ORL, 56</u>, 310-314.

Saito T., Moataz, R. & Dulon, D.(1994). Cisplatin blocks depolarization-induced calcium entry in isolated cochlear outer hair cells. <u>Hearing Research, 56</u>, 143-147.

Saito, T., Moataz, R., & Dulon, D., (1991). Cisplatin blocks depolarization-induced calcium entry in isolated cochlear outer hair cells. <u>Hearing Research 56</u>, 143-147.

Saito, T., Yamada, T., Manabe, Y., Yamamoto, T. & Saito, H. (1996). Cisplatin metabolites and their toxicity on isolated cochlear outer hair cells in vitro. <u>Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh), 116</u>, 561-565.

Saito, T., Yamamoto, T., Zhang, Z. J., Yamada, T., Manade, Y. & Saito, H. (1995). Transplatin blocks voltage-dependent calcium current in isoloated cochlear outer hair cells but not ototoxic in vivo. <u>Brain Res., 697</u>, 276-279.

Saito, T., Zhang, Z. J., Yamada, T., Yamamoto, T., Shibamori, Y. & Saito, H. (1997). Similar pharmacokinetics and differential ototoxicity after administration with cisplatin and transplatin in guinea pigs. <u>Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh), 117</u>, 61-65.

Saito, T., Zhang, Z-J., Tokuriki, M., Ohtsubo., T., Noda, I., Shibamori, Y., Yamamoto, T. & Saito, H. (2001). Expression of multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1) in the rat cochlea with special reference to the blood-inner ear barrier. <u>Brain Research, 895</u>, 253-257.

Salazar, J. J. & Houten, B. V. (1997). Preferential mitochondrial DNA injury caused by glucose oxidase as a steady generator of hydrogen peroxide in human fibroblasts. <u>Mutation Research:</u> <u>DNA Repair, 385</u>, 139-149.

Santucci, R. A., & Krieger, J. N., (2000). Gentamicin for the practicing urologist: Review of efficacy, single daily dosing and "switch" therapy. Journal of Urology 163, 1076-1084.

Schacht, J., (1993). Biochemical basis of aminoglycoside ototoxicity. <u>Otolaryngology Clinics</u> of North Americ 26, 845-856.

Schell, M. J., McHaney, V. A., Green, A. A., Kun, L. E., Hayes, F. A., Horowitz, M., Meyer, W. H., (1989). Hearing loss in children and young adults receiving cisplatin with or without prior cranial irradiation. Journal of Clinical Oncology 7, 754-760.

Schmittgen, T. D., Zakrajsek, B. A., Mills, A. G., Gorn, V., Singer, M. J. & Reed, M. W. (2000). Quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction to study mRNA decay: Comparison of endpoint and real-time methods. <u>Analytical Biochemistry</u>, 285, 194-204.

Schweitzer, V. G. (1993a). Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: Effect of pigmentation and inhibitory agents. Laryngoscope, (suppl. 59) 103, 1-52.

Schweitzer, V. G. (1993b). Ototoxicity of chemotherapeutic agents. <u>Otolaryngologic Clinics of</u> North America, 26, 759-789.

Schweitzer, V. G., Hawkins, J. E., Lilly, D. J., Litterst, C. J., Abrams, G., Davis, J. A. & Christy, M. (1984). Ototoxic and nephrotoxic effects of combined treatment with cisdiamminedichloroplatinum and kanamycin in the guinea pig. <u>Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.</u>, 92, 38-49.

Schweitzer, V. G., Rarey, K. E., Dolan, D. F., Abrams, E. G. & Sheridan, C. (1986). Vestibular morphological analysis of the effects of cisplatin vs. Platinum analogs, CBDCA(JM-8) and CHIP(JM-9). Laryngoscope, 96, 959-974.

Schweitzer, V. G., Rarey, K. E., Dolan, D. F., Abrams, G., Litterst, C. J. & Sheridan, C. (1986). Ototoxicity of cisplatin vs. platinum analogs CBDCA (JM-8) and CHIP (JM-9). <u>Otolaryngol</u> <u>Head Neck Surg, 94</u>, 458-470.

Seki, K., Yoshikawa, H., Shiiki, K., Hamada, Y., Akamatsu, N. and Tasaka, K. (2000). Cisplatin (CDDP) specifically induces apoptosis via sequencial activation of caspase-8, -3 and -6 in osteosarcoma. <u>Cancer Chemother Pharmacol., 45</u>, 199-206.

Sergi, B., Ferraresi, A., Troiani, D., Paludetti, G., & Fetoni, A. R. (2003). Cisplatin ototoxicity in the guinea pig: Vestibular and cochlear damage. <u>Hearing Research, 182</u>, 56-64.

Selvakumaran, M., Pisarcik, D. A., Bao, R., Yeung, A. T. & Hamilton, T. C. (2003). Enhanced cisplatin cytotoxicity by disturbing the nucleotide excision repair pathway in ovarian cancer cell lines. <u>Cancer Research</u>, 63, 1311-1316.

Sergi, B., Ferraresi, A., Troiani, D., Paludetti, G. & Fetoni, A. R. (2003). Cisplatin ototoxicity in the guinea pig: Vestibular and cochlear damage. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 182, 56-64.

Shankar, S. S., & Brater, D. C. (2003). Loop diuretics: From the Na-K-2Cl transporter to clinical use. <u>Am. J. Physiol Renal Physiol., 284,</u> 11-21.

Sha, S.-H., & Schacht, J. (1999a). Salicylate attenuates gentamicin-induced ototoxicity. Laboratory Investigation, 79, 807-813.

Sha, S.-H., & Schacht, J. (1999b). Stimulation of free radical formation by aminoglycoside antibiotics. <u>Hearing Research, 128</u>, 112-118.

Sha, S-H., Taylor, R., Forge, A., & Schacht, J., (2001). Differential vulnerability of basal and apical cells is based on intrinsic susceptibility to free radicals. <u>Hearing Research 155</u>, 1-8.

Shaper, N. L., Grafstrom, R. H. & Grossman, L. (1982). Human placental apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease: Its isolation and characterization. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 257, 13455-13458.

Shera, C. A. (2004). Mechanisms of mammalian otoacoustic emission and their implications for the clinical utility of otoacoustic emissions. <u>Ear and Hearing, 25</u>, 86-97.

Shibata K., et al. (2000). RIKEN integrated sequence analysis (RISA) system-384-format sequencing pipeline with 384 multicapillary sequencer. <u>Genome Research</u>, 10, 1757-1771.

Shirazi, F. H. & Molepo, J. M., Stewart, D. J., Ng, C. E. Raaphorst, G. P. & Goel, R. (1996). Cytotoxicity, accumulation, and efflux of cisplatin and its metabolites in human ovarian carcinoma cells. <u>Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology</u>, 140, 211-218.

Shou, J., Zheng, L. J. & Gao, W-Q. (2003). Robust generation of new hair cells in the mature mammalian inner ear by adenoviral expression of *Math1*. <u>Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience</u>, 23, 169-179.

Siddik, Z. H. (2003). Cisplatin: mode of cytotoxic action and molecular basis of resistance. - <u>Oncogene, 22</u>, 7265-7279.

Siddik, Z. H., Newell, D. R., Boxall, F. E. & Harrap, K. R. (1987). The comparative pharmacokinetics of carboplatin and cisplatin in mice and rats. <u>Biochemical Pharmacology</u>, 36, 1925-1932.

Simkiss, K. (1983). Lipid solubility of heavy metals in saline solutions. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U.K., 63, 1-7.

Sie, K. C. Y., deSerres, L. M., & Norton, S. J., (1999). Age-related sensitivity to cisplatin ototoxicity in gerbils. <u>Hearing Research 134</u>, 39-47.

Sluyter, S., Klis, S. F., L., de Groot, J. C. N. J., & Smoorengurg, G. F. (2003). Alterations in the stria vascularis in relation to cisplatin ototoxicity and recovery. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 185, 49-56.

Smoorenburgh, G. F., de Groot, J. C., Hamers, F. P. & Klis, S. F. (1999). Protection and spontaneous recovery from cisplatin-induced hearing loss. <u>Ann N.Y. Acad Sci., 884</u>, 192-210.

Sockalingam, R, Freeman, S., Cherny, L. & Sohmer, H. (2000). Effect of high-dose cisplatin on auditory brainstem responses and otoacoustic emissions in laboratory animals. <u>American Journal of Otology, 21</u>, 521-527.

So, H-S., Park, C., Kim, H-J., Lee, J-H., Park, S-Y., Lee, J-H., Lee, Z-W., Kim, H-M., Kalinec, F., Lim, D. J. & Park, R. (2005). Protective effect of T-type calcium channel blocker flunarizine on cisplatin-induced death of auditory cells. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 204, 127-139.

Song, B.-B., Sha, S.-H., Schacht, J. (1998). Iron chelators protect from aminoglycoside-induced cochleo- and vestibulo –toxicity. <u>Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 25</u>, 189-195.

Song, B.-B., & Schacht, J. (1996). Variable efficacy of radical scavengers and iron chelators to attenuate gentamicin ototoxicity in guinea pig in vivo. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 94, 87-93.

Sorenson, C. M. & Eastman, A. (1988). Influence of cis-diamminedichloride(II) on DNA synthesis and cell cycle progression in excision repair proficient and deficient Chinese hamster ovary cells. <u>Cancer Research 48</u>, 6703-6707.

Soto, M. & Marigomex, I. (1997). BSD extent, an index for metal pollution screening based on the metal content within digestive cell lysosomes of Mussels as determined by autometallography. <u>Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 37</u>, 141-151.

Stankovic, K., M. & Corfas, G. (2003). Real-time quantitative RT-PCR for low-abundance transcripts in the inner ear: Analysis of neurotrophic factor expression. <u>Hearing Research, 185</u>, 97-108.

Strauss, M., Towfighi, J., Lord, S., Lipton, A., Harvey, H. A., & Brown, B., (1983). Cis-platin ototoxicity: Clinical experience and temporal bone histopathology. <u>Laryngoscope 93</u>, 1554-1559.

Stavroulaki, P., Apostolopoulos, N., Segas, J., Tsakanikos, M., & Adamopoulos, G., (2001). Evoked otoacoustic emissions-an approach for monitoring cisplatin induced ototoxicity in children. International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology 59, 47-57.

Sterkers, O., Ferrary, E. & Amiel, C. (1988). Production of inner ear fluids. <u>Physiological</u> <u>Reviews, 68</u>, 1083-1128.

Stengs, C. H. M., Klis, S. F. L., Huizing, E. H., & Smoorenburg, G. F., (1998a). Cisplatin ototoxicity: An electrophysiological dose-effect study in albino guinea pigs. <u>Hearing Research</u> 124, 99-107.

Stengs, C. H. M., Klis, S. F. L., Huizing, E. H., & Smoorenburg, G. F., (1997). Cisplatininduced ototoxicity; electrophysiological evidence of spontaneous recovery in the albino guinea pig. <u>Hearing Research 111</u>, 103-113.

Strumberg, et al (2002). Evaluation of long-term toxicity in patients after cisplatin-based chemotherapy for non-seminomatous testicular cancer. <u>Annals of Oncology 13</u>, 229-236.

Talley, R. W., O'Bryan, R.M., Gutterman, J., Brownlee, R. W., & McCredie, K. B., (1974). Clinical evaluations of toxic effects of cis-platinum(II) diamminedichloride: A phase I clinical trial. <u>Platinum Coordination Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Tanaka, F., Whitworth, C. A. & Rybak, L. P. (2004). Round window pH manipulation alters the ototoxicity of systemic cisplatin. <u>Hearing Research, 187</u>, 44-50.

Tange, R. A. (1987). An Abnormality in the human cochlear vasculature in a case of cisplatinum ototoxicity. <u>Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh) suppl., 436,</u> 133-137. Taniguchi, K., Wada, M., Kohno, K., Nakamura, T., Kawabe, T., Kawakami, M., Kagotani, K., Okumura, K., Akiyama, S. & Kuwano, M. (1996). A human canalicular multispecific organic anion transporter (cMOAT) gene is overexpressed in cisplatin-resistant human cancer cell lines with decreased drug accumulation. <u>Cancer Research, 56</u>, 4124-4129.

Tampakopoulou, D. A., & Sie, K. C. Y., (1999). Cisplatin ototoxicity in developing gerbils. <u>Hearing Research 132</u>, 51-59.

Teranishi, M, Nakashima, T., Wakabayashi, T., (2001). Effects of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol on cisplatininduced ototoxicity in guinea pigs. <u>Hearing Research 151</u>, 61-70.

Terneggen, P. A. M. B., Floot, B. G. J., Scheren, E., Begg, A. C., Fichtinger-Schepman, M. J. & Engelse, L. D. (1987). Immunocytochemical detection of interaction products of cisdiamminedichloroplatiunum(II) and cis-diammine-(1,1-cyclobutanedicarboxylato)platinum(II) with DNA in rodent tissue sections. <u>Cancer Research, 47</u>, 6719-6725.

Thoma, B. S. & Vasquez, K. M. (2003). Critical DNA damage recognition functions of XPChHR23B and XPA-RPA in nucleotide excision repair. <u>Molecular Carcinogenesis</u>, <u>38</u>, 1-13.

Thomas, J. P., Lautermann, J., Liedert, B., Seiler, F. & Thomale, J. (2006). High accumulation of platinum-DNA adducts in strial marginal cells of the cochlea is an early event in cisplatin but not carboplatin ototoxicity. <u>Molecular Pharmacology</u>, 106, 1-31

Tornaletti, S., Patrick, S. M., Turchi, J. J. & Hanawalt. P. C. (2003). Behavior of T7 RNA polymerase and mammalian RNA polymerase II at site-specific cisplatin adducts in the template DNA. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278, 35791-35797.

Touliatos, J. S., Neitzel, L., Whitworth, C., Rybak, L. P. & Malafa, M. (2000). Effect of cisplatin on the expression of glutathione-S-transferase in the cochlea of the rat. <u>Eur Arch</u> <u>Otorhinolaryngol., 257</u>, 6-9.

Trego, K. S. & Turchi, J. J. (2006). Pre-steady-state Binding of damaged DNA by XPChHR23B reveals a kinetic mechanism for Damage Discrimination. <u>Biochemistry, 45</u>, 1961-1969.

Treiber, D. K., Zhai, X., Jantzen, H-M. & Essigmann, J. M. (1994). Cisplatin-DNA adducts are molecular decoys for the ribosomal RNA transcription factor hUBF (human upstream binding factor). <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 91</u>, 5672-5676.

Tsuji, K., Velazquez-Villasenor, L., Rauch, S. D., Glynn, R. J., Wall, C., & Merchant, S. N. (2000). Temporal bone studies of the human peripheral vestibular system, 3. Aminoglycoside ototoxicity. <u>Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol.</u>, 109, 20-25.

Tsukasaki, N., Whitworth, C., A., & Rybak, L. P., (2000). Acute changes in cochlear potentials due to cisplatin. <u>Hearing Research 149</u>, 189-198.
Usami, S., Hjelle, O. P. & Ottersen, O. P. (1996). Differential cellular distribution of glutathione-an endogenous antioxidant-in the guinea pig inner ear. <u>Brain Research, 743</u>, 337-340.

Vago, P. Humbert, G. & Lenoir, M. (1998). Amikacin intoxication induces apoptosis and cell proliferation in rat organ of Corti. <u>Neuroreport, 9</u>, 431-436.

Valentine, J. S. (1973). The dioxygen ligand in mononuclear group VIII transition metal complexes. <u>Chem. Rev., 73</u>, 235-245.

van Boom, S. S. G. E., Chen, B. W., Teuben, J. M. & Reedijk, J. (1999). Platinum-thioether can be reverted by guanine-N7 bonds in Pt(dien)2+ model adducts. <u>Inorg. Chem., 38</u>, 1450-1455.

Vandenbulcke, F., Grelle, C., Fabre, M-C. & Descamps, M. (1998). Implication of the midgut of the Centipede Lithobius forticatus in the heavy metal detoxification process. <u>Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 41</u>, 258-268.

van der Hulst, R. J. A. M., Dreschler, W. A., & Urbanus, N. A. M., (1988). High frequency audiometry in prospective clinical research of ototoxicity due to cisplatin derivatives. <u>Ann Otol</u> <u>Rhinol Laryngol 97</u>, 133-137.

van der Spek, P. J., Eker, A., Rademakers, S., Visser, C., Sugasawa, K., Masutani, C., Hanaoka, F., Bootsma, D. & Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. (1996). XPC and human homologs of RAD23: Intracellular localization and relationship to other nucleotide excision repair complexes. <u>Nucleic Acids Research</u>, 24, 2551-2559.

van Ruijven, M. W. M., de Groot, J. C. M. J., Hendriksen, F. & Smoorenburg, G. F. (2004). Immunohistochemical detection of platinated DNA in the cochlea of cisplatin-treated guinea pigs. Abstract of the 27th Midwinter Research Meeting of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, Daytona Beach, Florida.

van Ruijven, M. W. M., de Groot, J. C. M. J., Hendriksen, F. & Smoorenburg, G. F. (2005). Immunohistochemical detection of platinated DNA in the cochlea of cisplatin-treated guinea pigs. <u>Hearing Research 203</u>, 112-121.

van Ruijven, M. W. M., de Groot, J. C. M. J. & Smoorenburg, G. F. (2004). Time sequence of degeneration pattern in guinea pig cochlea during cisplatin administration: A quantitative histological study. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 197, 44-54.

van Straalen, N. M. (1993). Soil and sediment quality criteria derived from invertebrate toxicity data. In Ecotoxicology of Metals in Invertebrates, R. Dallinger & P. S. Rainbow (Eds), pp. 427-441. Boca Raton, FL; Lewis Publishers.

Vermorken, J. (1983). Ototoxicity of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum(II): Influence of dose schedule and mode of administration. <u>Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol., 19</u>, 53-58.

Vogel, U., Dybdahl, M., Frentz, G. & Nexo, B. A. (2000). DNA repair capacity: Inconsistency between effect of over-expression of five NER genes and the correlation to mRNA levels in primary lymphocytes. <u>Mutat Res 461</u>, 197-210.

Vreeburg, G. C. M., Stell, P.M., Holding, J. D. & Lindup, J. (1992). Cisplatin-albumin complex for treatment of cancer of head and neck. <u>Laryngol. Otol., 106</u>, 832-833.

Wallace, H. J., & Higby, D. J., (1974). Phase I evaluation of cis-platinum (II) diamminedichloride PDD and a combination of PDD plus adriamycin. <u>Platinum Coordination</u> <u>Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Wangemann, P. (2002). K+ cycling and the endocochlear potential. <u>Hearing Research</u>, 165, 1-9.

Wang, K. Lu, J. & Li, R. (1996). The events that occur when cisplatin encounters cells. <u>Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 151</u>, 53-88.

Wang, J., Faulconbridge, R. V. L., Fetoni, A., Guitton, M. J., Pujol, R., & Puel, J. L., (2003). Local application of sodium thiosulfate prevents cisplatin-induced hearing loss in the guinea pig. <u>Neuropharmacology 45</u>, 380-393.

Wang, J., Ladrech, S., Pujol, R., Brabet, P., van de Water, T. & Puel, J-L. (2004). Caspase inhibitors, but not c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase inhibitor treatment prevents cisplatin-induced hearing loss. <u>Cancer Research</u>, 64, 9217-9224.

Wang, J., van de Water, T. R., Bonny, C., de Ribaupierre, F., Puel, J. L. & Zine, A. (2003). A peptide inhibitor of c-Jun N-terminal kinase protects against both aminoglycoside and acoustic trauma-induced auditory hair cell death and hearing loss. <u>Journal of Neuroscience, 23</u>, 8596-8607.

Watanabe, K-I., Inai, S., Jinnouchi, K., Bada, S., Hess, A., Michel, O. & Yagi, T. (2002). Nuclear-factor kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B)-inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS/NOS II) pathway damages the stria vascularis in cisplatin-treated mice. <u>Anticancer Research, 22</u>, 4081-4086.

Waters, G. S., Ahmad, M., Katsarkas, A., Stanimir, G., & Mckay, J., (1991). Ototoxicity due to cis-diamminedichloroplatinum in the treatment of ovarian cancer: Influence of dosage and schedule of administration. <u>Ear and Hearing 12</u>, 91-102.

Weatherly, R. A., Owens, J. J., Catlin, F. I., & Mahoney, D. H., (1991). Cis-platinum ototoxicity in children. Laryngoscope 101, 917-924.

Weaver, D. A., Crawford, E. L., Warner, K. A., Elkhairi, F., Khuder, S. A. & Willey, J. C. (2005). ABCC5, ERCC2, XPA and XRCCI transcript abundance levels correlate with cisplatin chemoresistance in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. <u>Molecular Cancer, 4</u>, 18-26.

Weber, P. C., Cunningham, C. D., & Schulte, B. A. (2001). Potassium recycling pathways in the human cochlea. <u>Laryngoscope</u>, 111, 1156-1165.

Weiss, R. B., & Christian, M. C. (1993). New cisplatin analogues in development. <u>Drugs, 46</u>, 360-377.

Welsch, C. W. (1971). Growth inhinition of rat mammary carcinoma induced by cisplatinumdiamminodichloride(II). J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 47, 1071-1078.

Welch, K. D., Davis, T. Z., van Eden, M. E. & Aust, S. D. (2002). Deleterious iron-mediated oxidation of biomolecules. Free Radical Biology & Medecine, 32, 577-583.

Williams, R. J. P. (1974). Metal-binding to bio-polymers: Some thoughts on anti-tumour activity. <u>Platinum Coordination Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Wiltshaw, E., & Carr, B., (1974). Cis-platinum(II) Diamminedichloride. <u>Platinum Coordination</u> <u>Complexes in Cancer Chemotherapy</u> (T.A. Connors and J.J. Roberts Eds). Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.

Wimmer, C., Mees, K., Stumpf, P., Welsch, U., Oliver, R., & Suckfull, M. (2004). Round window application of d-methionine, sodium thiosulfate, brain-derived neurotrophic factors and fibroblast growth factor-2 in cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. <u>Otol. Neurotol. 25</u>, 33-40.

Witkin, E. M. (1967). The radiation sensitivity of Escherichia coli B: A hypothesis relating formation and prophage induction. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA</u>, 57, 1275-1279.

Wolterbeek, H. T. & Verburg, T. G. (2001). Predicting metal toxicity revisited: General properties vs specific effects. <u>The Science of the Total Environment, 279</u>, 87-115.

Wulfsberg, G. (2000). Inorganic Chemistry. Sausalito, California; University Science Books

Wu, X., Fan, W., Xu, S. & Zhou, Y. (2003). Sensitization to the cytotoxicity of cisplatin by transfection with nucleotide excision repair gene xeroderma pigmentosum group A antisense RNA in human lung adenocarcinoma cells. <u>Clinical Cancer Research</u>, *9*, 5874-5879.

Wu, W-J., Sha, S-H., & Schacht, J., (2002). Recent advances in understanding aminoglycoside ototoxicity and its prevention. <u>Audiology and Neuro-otology 7</u>, 171-174.

Yakovlev, A. G., Wang, G., Stoica, B. A., Boulares, H. A., Spoonde, A. Y., Yoshihara, K. & Smulson, M. E. (2000). A role of the Ca2+/Mg2+-dependent endonuclease in apoptosis and its inihibition by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. J. Biol. Chem., 28, 21302-21308.

Yamamoto, T., Kakehata, S., Saito, T., Saito, H. & Akaike, H. (1994). Cisplatin blocks voltagedependent calcium currents in dissociated outer hair cells of guinea-pig cochlea. <u>Brain Res.</u>, 648, 296-298. Yaneva, S. H., Leuba, K., van Holde, J. & Zlatanova, J. (1997). The major chromatin protein histone H1 binds preferentially to cis-platinum-damaged DNA. <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 94</u>, 13448-13451.

Yang, L-X., Douple, E. B. & Wang, H-J. (1995). Irradiation enhances cellular uptake of carboplatin. International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology and Physics, 33, 641-646.

Yang, Z., Faustino, P. J., Andrews, P. A., Monastra, R., Rasmussen, A. A., Ellison, C. D. & Cullen, K. J. (2000). Decreased cisplatin/DNA adduct formation is associated with cisplatin resistance in human head and neck cancer cell lines. <u>Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 46</u>, 255-262.

Yardley, M. P. J., Davies, C. M., & Stevens, J. C., (1998). Use of transient evoked otoacoustic emissions to detect and monitor cochlear damage caused by platinum-containing drugs. <u>British</u> Journal of Audiology 32, 305-316.

Ylikoski, J., Xing-Qun, L., Virkkala, J. & Pirvola, U. (2002). Blockade of c-jun N-terminal kinase pathway attenuates gentamicin-induced cochlear and vestibular hair cell death. <u>Hearing</u> <u>Research, 166</u>, 33-43.

Yoshihara, T. & Igarashi, M. (1987). Cytochemical localization of  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase activity in the lateral cochlear wall of the guinea pig. <u>Arch. Otorhinolaryngol. 243</u>, 395-400.

Zajic, G., & Schacht, J. (1987). Comparison of isolated outer hair cells from five mammalian species. <u>Hearing Research 26</u>, 249-256.

Zdolsek, J. M. & Roberg, K. & Brunk, U. T. (1993). Visulization of iron in cultured macrophages: A cytochemical light and electron microscopic study using autometallography. Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 15, 1-11.

Zhai, X., Beckmann, H., Jantzen, H. M. & Essigmann, J. M. (1998). Cisplatin-DNA adducts inhibit ribosomal RNA synthesis by hijacking the transcription factor human upstream binding factor. <u>Biochemistry</u>, 37, 16307-16315.

Zhang, J-G. & Lindup, W. E. (1994). Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: Decreases in mitochondrial protein sulphydryl concentration and calcium uptake by mitochondria from rat renal cortical slices. <u>Biochemical Pharmacology</u>, 47, 1127-1135.

Zhang, Z-J., Saito, T., Kimura, Y., Sugimoto, C., Ohtsubo, T. & Saito, H. (2000). Disruption of mdr1a p-glycoprotein gene results in dysfunction of blood-inner ear barrier in mice. <u>Brain</u> <u>Research, 852</u>, 116-126.

Zheng, J., Shen, W., He, D. Z. Z., Long, K. B., Madison, L.D., & Dallos, P. (2000). Prestin is the motor protein of cochlear outer hair cells. <u>Nature, 405</u>, 149-155.

Zine, A. & de Ribaupierre, F. (1998). Replacement of mammalian auditory hair cells. <u>NeuroReport, 9</u>, 263-268.